
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Resources 

Town Hall, Upper Street, London, N1 2UD 

 
 

AGENDA FOR THE PENSIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
Members  of the Pensions Sub-Committee are summoned to a meeting which will be held in 
Committee Room 4, Islington Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on 5 December 2022 at 7.00 pm. 

 
 

Enquiries to : Mary Green 

Tel : (0207 527 3005 

E-mail : democracy@islington.gov.uk 

Despatched : 24 November 2022 

 

 
Membership  Substitute Members 
 
Councillor Paul Convery (Chair) 
Councillor Diarmaid Ward (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Satnam Gill OBE 
Councillor Michael O'Sullivan 
 

Councillor Jenny Kay 
Councillor Mick Gilgunn 
 

 
Quorum is 2 members of the Sub-Committee 

 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 
 

 

A.  

 

Formal Matters 

 

 

1.  Apologies for absence 
 

 
 

2.  Declaration of substitutes 
 

 
 

3.  Declaration of interests 
 

 

 If you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business: 
 if it is not yet on the council’s register, you must declare both the existence 

and details of it at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent; 
 you may choose to declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest that is already in 

the register in the interests of openness and transparency.   
In both the above cases, you must leave the room without participating in 
discussion of the item. 
 
If you have a personal interest in an item of business and you intend to speak 
or vote on the item you must declare both the existence and details of it at the 
start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent but you may participate in 
the discussion and vote on the item. 
 
*(a) Employment, etc - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 

carried on for profit or gain. 
(b)    Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of your 

expenses in carrying out duties as a member, or of your election; 
including from a trade union. 

(c)   Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between you 
or your partner (or a body in which one of you has a beneficial interest) 
and the council. 

(d) Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or  
longer. 
(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which 

you or your partner have a beneficial interest. 
(g) Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place 

of business or land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the 
securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that body or of any one class of its issued share capital.   

 
This applies to all members present at the meeting. 
    

 

4.  Minutes of the previous meeting 
 

1 - 4 
 

B.  

 
Non-exempt items 

 

 

1.  Pension Fund performance 
 

5 - 42 
 

2.  Draft Funding Strategy Statement for consultation 
 

43 - 98 
 

3.  Investment Strategy Review - initial considerations 
 

99 - 102 
 



 
 
 

4.  Pension Discretion Policies Review 
 

103 - 
136 
 

5.  London CIV update 
 

137 - 
142 
 

6.  Pension Fund - forward work programme 
 

143 - 
146 
 

7.  Objectives set for providers of investment consultancy - annual review 
 

147 - 
152 
 

C.  

 
Urgent non-exempt items 

 

 

 Any non-exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered 

urgently by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will 
be agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes. 
  

 

D.  

 

Exclusion of press and public 

 

 

 To consider whether, in view of the nature of the remaining items on the 
agenda, any of them are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt or 
confidential information within the terms of  Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 and, if so, whether to exclude the press and public 
during discussion thereof. 
  

 

E.  

 

Confidential/exempt items 

 

 

1.  Pension Fund performance - exempt appendix 
 

153 - 
154 
 

2.  London CIV update - exempt appendix 
 

155 - 
186 
 

3.  Investment Strategy Review - initial considerations - exempt appendix 
 

187 - 
212 
 

4.  Objectives set for providers of investment consultancy - annual review - exempt 
appendix 
 

213 - 
216 
 

F.  

 

Urgent exempt items 

 

 

 Any exempt items which the Chair agrees should be considered urgently 
by reason of special circumstances. The reasons for urgency will be 
agreed by the Chair and recorded in the minutes. 

  

 

 
 

The next meeting of the Pensions Sub-Committee is scheduled for 6 March 2023 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

London Borough of Islington 
 

Pensions Sub-Committee -  28 September 2022 
 

Non-confidential minutes of the meeting of the Pensions Sub-Committee held in 

Committee Room 1, Islington Town Hall, Upper Street, N1 2UD on  28 September 2022  
at 7.00 pm. 

 

 
Present: Councillors: Paul Convery (Chair), Diarmaid Ward (Vice-Chair), 

Satnam Gill and Michael O'Sullivan 
 

 Pension Board 
observers: 

Councillor Dave Poyser and Alan Begg 

 

 
Councillor Paul Convery in the Chair 

 

 
253 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Item A1) 

None. 
 

254 DECLARATION OF SUBSTITUTES (Item A2) 

None. 
 

255 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (Item A3) 

Councillor Convery declared an interest in items on the agenda as a member of the 
Scheme. 
 

256 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Item A4) 
 

RESOLVED: 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 28 June 2022 be confirmed as an accurate 
record of proceedings and the Chair be authorised to sign them. 

 
Matter arising: 
 

With reference to minute 244, “Progress on Third Generation Indices 
Implementation”, the Chair reported that a US debt manager had now been 
appointed and follow up work was taking place. 

 
257 WHOLE FUND VALUATION - INITIAL RESULTS AND TRAINING (Item B1) 

Michelle Doman from Mercers gave a presentation on the 2022 Actuarial Valuation. 

The following points were noted: 
 

 The initial funding level of the whole fund as at 31st March 2022 was 96%, 

although updating of member data could mean it could vary by 1% either 
way 

Page 1

Agenda Item A4



Pensions Sub-Committee -  28 September 2022 

 

2 
 

 At the 2019 valuation, there was a deficit of £249m in the Fund. Figures to 
account for McCloud had been estimated in 2019 and it was anticipated that 

those figures would not be very different from the estimates made at that 
time. 

 The Council’s recovery period had been agreed as 19 years 

 There had been no red or amber flags reported following the Government 
Actuary Department’s review of the Fund 

 The Fund’s investment performance had fluctuated since 2019, due to Covid, 

Ukraine/Russia conflict etc but the impact had been cushioned due to the 
implementation of the equity protection strategy 

 CPI inflation was expected to increase to approximately 11% by April 2023, 

as opposed to 6 -7% in 2022. An allowance of £50m for known changes in 
inflation to 31 March 2022 had been included in the funding strategy for the 
2022 valuation 

 A funding figure of 96% in the Fund would mean a shortfall of £70m 
 The effect of ill-health retirements on small employers was noted, with 

significant funding strains or a request for an additional lump sum. The 
Actuary had recommended that allowance for ill-health retirements be 
included in contribution outcomes for all employers from 1 April 2022.  

 Likely high mortality rates for this winter and next had been taken into 

account 
 The Investment Strategy would need to be reviewed at the November Sub-

Committee to ensure returns in a difficult environment 
 

 

RESOLVED: 
(a) That the initial funding level of the whole fund as at 31st March 2022 at 96% 
and detailed in the report of the Corporate Director of Resources, be noted 
(b) That it be noted that these results are yet to account for the updated employee 

data as at 31st March 2022.  
(c) That the Fund Actuary be thanked for the presentation updates, as part of the 
training section for members. 

 
258 PENSION FUND PERFORMANCE -  1 APRIL TO 30 JUNE 2022 (Item B2) 

The following points were noted during discussion:  

 
The In-House Fund had transitioned to the Paris-Aligned index with Legal 
and General on 13 August 2022 so would not appear in any future 

monitoring reports. The transfer meant a halving of the Fund’s exposure to 
UK equities 
 

Need to be aware of “green washing” by organisations 
 
LCIV Sustainable Equity Fund (RBC) to be asked for a definition of their “anti-
value” stance 

 
Although the Fund’s investment in BMO/LGM Emerging Market Equities 
(comprising approximately 4% of the Fund) had been transferred to a US 

Page 2



Pensions Sub-Committee -  28 September 2022 

 

3 
 

manager, an alternative manager should be considered. Officers to explore 
this possibility and carry out due diligence, with a view to transferring this 

Fund to an alternative manager, with options to be presented to the Sub-
Committee 
 

Consistent poor performance by Hearthstone noted. Hearthstone to be 
notified that Islington intends to exit this Fund in stages. 
 

Default data percentage information to be sought from Permira - Credit 
Solutions Senior Fund – for the next performance monitoring report 
 
For the future, Pantheon and Quinbrook performance to be included in 

the table comprising fund managers’ latest quarter net performance figures 
compared to the benchmark and Mercer ESG ratings (currently at paragraph 
3.1 of the report) 

 
RESOLVED: 
(a) That the performance of the Fund from 1 April to 30 June 2022, as per the BNY 

Mellon interactive performance report and detailed in the report of the Corporate 
Director of Resources, be noted. 
(b) That the presentation by MJ Hudson on fund managers’ quarterly performance, 

attached as Appendix 1 to the report, be noted. 
(c) That the Annual Fund Performance attached as Appendix 2 to the report be 
noted. 

(d) That the briefing from BMO, providing further details on the purchase by a US 
investment manager and subject to regulatory approval, attached as Exempt 
Appendix E2, be also noted. 
(e) That officers explore the possibility of moving the former BMO investment, 

which had been purchased by a US investment manager, to an alternative manager 
and report back to the Sub-Committee on options. 
(f) That officers inform Hearthstone of the Sub-Committee’s decision to exit their 

Fund in stages. 
(g) That, for the future, Pantheon and Quinbrook performance be included in 
the table comprising fund managers’ latest quarter net performance figures 

compared to the benchmark and Mercer ESG ratings (currently at paragraph 3.1 of 
the report). 
 

 
259 ANNUAL REVIEW AND PROGRESS ON THE 2020-2024 PENSION 

BUSINESS PLAN (Item B3) 

 
RESOLVED: 
(a) That Appendix A attached to the report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
and comprising the key objectives of the five year business plan for the Fund be 

noted. 
(b) That, subject to the addition of a new objective as follows: 
 

“To actively move to achieve net zero carbon for the Fund” 

Page 3



Pensions Sub-Committee -  28 September 2022 

 

4 
 

 
the business plan objectives for the next 4 years, as detailed in the Appendix, be 

approved. 
 

260 PENSIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 2022/23 FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 

(Item B4) 
Members noted that a report on the Investment Strategy overview was due for 
consideration at the Sub-Committee in November 2022 and would provide an 

opportunity to review and make changes to investments.  The aim would be for 
lower carbon exposure. 
 
RESOLVED: 

(a) That Appendix A attached to the report of the Corporate Director of Resources, 
comprising the forward plan of business for the Sub-Committee, be noted. 
(b) That the consultation for LGPS to assess, manage and report on climate-related 

risks, in line with the recommendations of the Taskforce on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosures, be noted. 
 

261 LONDON CIV UPDATE (Item B5) 
 
RESOLVED: 

That the report of the Corporate Director of Resources informing the Sub-
Committee of the progress made at the London CIV in launching funds, running of 
portfolios, reviewing governance and investment structure, over the period May to 

August 2022, be noted. 
 

262 PENSION FUND PERFORMANCE -  1 APRIL TO 30 JUNE 2022 - EXEMPT 
APPENDIX (Item E1) 

Noted. 
 

263 LONDON CIV UPDATE - EXEMPT APPENDIX (Item E2) 

Noted. 
 
 

 
         The meeting ended at 9.00 pm 

 

 
 
CHAIR 

 

Page 4



  
  

 

  

 
 
  

 
Resources 

                         7 Newington Barrow Way 

                                                                                                                                  London N7 
7EP 

Report of: Corporate Director of Resources 

Meeting of: Pensions Sub-Committee 

Date:  5 December 2022  

Ward(s): n/a 

Appendix 3, attached is exempt and not for publication as it contains the following category of 

exempt information as specified in Paragraph 3, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, 
namely: Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information). 

 

 

Subject: Pension Fund Performance 1 July to 30 September 2022 

 

1. Synopsis 
 

1.1 

 
 
 

This is a quarterly report to the Pensions Sub-Committee to allow the Council as 

administering authority for the Fund to review the performance of the Fund 
investments at regular intervals and review the investments made by Fund Managers 
quarterly.  

1.1  

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 To note the performance of the Fund from 1 July to 30 September 2022 as per BNY 
Mellon interactive performance report 
 

2.2 To receive the presentation by MJ Hudsons, our independent investment advisers, on 
our fund managers’ quarterly performance attached as Appendix 1. 

 
2.3 To note the update briefing on Hearthstone in Appendix1 and consider the three exit 

options discussed. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item B1



2.4 To note the briefing from BMO giving further details on the purchase by a US 

investment manager subject to regulatory approval attached as Exempt Appendix 3 
 

 
2.5 
 

To note the transition summary of the In-House UK Low Carbon Index to Legal and 
General ESG  Paris Aligned Index on 1st September 2022. 

3. Fund Managers Performance for 1 July to 30 September 2022 
 

3.1 The fund managers’ latest quarter net performance figures compared to the benchmark 
and Mercer ESG ratings is shown in the table below. 
 

NB: Mercer’s ESG ratings provide an assessment of the integration of ESG issues into 
the investment process and provides an overall rating – ESG 1 is the highest possible 
rating and ESG 4 is the lowest possible rating. As such, Mercer has provided the latest 
ESG ratings for the Fund’s 9 strategies across equities, fixed income, DGFs, property 
and private equity.  
 
 

 

Page 6



 
 

3.1 Fund Managers Asset 
Allocation 

 

Mandate *Mercer 
ESG  

Rating 

Latest Quarter 
Performance 
(July-Sept’22) 
Gross of fees 

 

12 Months to Sept’ 
2022-Performance 

Gross of fees 

    Portfolio 
 

Benchmark  Portfolio Benchmark 

LCIV Sustainable EQ- RBC 10.1% Global equities 1 1.5% 2.1% -9.6% -2.9% 

LCIV -Newton 18.1% Global equities 2 1.3% 1.5% -5.6% -3.7% 
Legal & General  13.3% Global equities 1 1.7% 1.8% -3.4% -3.4% 
Legal & General-Paris Aligned 9.1% Global equities N -5.5% -5.5% n/a n/a 

BMO Investments-LGM 3.9% Emerging equities 2 -3.9% -3.6% -15.1% -12.8% 
Quinbrook 5.5% Renewable 

Infrastructure 
 12.9% 2.9% 45.9% 12.0% 

Pantheon 4.6% Infrastructure  18.7% 2.4% 36.9% 10.0% 

Aviva (1) 8.9% UK property 2 -2.6% 
 

-16.1% 
-4.1% 

5.3% -28.3% 
13.5% 

ColumbiaThreadneedle 
Investments (TPEN) 

6.3% UK commercial 
property 
 

3 -4.9% -3.9% 13.3% 13.3% 

Hearthstone 1.8% UK residential 
property  

N 0.7% -4.1% 5.4% 13.5% 

Standard Life 3.8% Corporate bonds 2 -10.7% -11.0% -22.6% -21.9% 

M&G Alpha Opportunities 4.4% Multi Asset Credit 3 0.5% 1.2% -4.2% 4.2% 
Schroders  6.3% Diversified 

Growth Fund 
2 -3.8% 3.4% -10.0% 17.6% 

Market value of total fund £1,649m       
-16.1% & -28.3% = original Gilts benchmark; -4.1% and 13.5% are the IPD All property index; for information 

P
age 7



 

3.2 BNY Mellon our performance monitoring service provider now provides our quarterly 

interactive performance report.  Performance attributions can be generated via their portal 
if required. 
 

3.3 The combined fund performance and benchmark for the last quarter ending September 
2022 is shown in the table below.    

 

 Latest Quarter Performance 
Gross of fees 

 

12 Months to Sept’2022 
Performance Gross of fees 

 

Combined Fund 

Performance  

Portfolio 

% 

Benchmark  

% 

Portfolio 

% 

Benchmark 

% 

 

-0.8 -3.9 -3.7 -6.5  

 
 

3.4 Copies of the latest quarter fund manager’s reports are available to members for 
information if required. 

 
3.5 Total Fund Position 

The Islington combined fund absolute performance with the hedge over the 1,3- and 5-
year periods to Sept’ 2022 is shown in the table below.  
 

Period 1 year per 

annum 

3 years per 

annum 

5 years per 

annum 

Combined LBI fund performance 
hedged 

-3.7% 5.6% 5.9% 

Customised benchmark -6.5% 2.7% 4.3% 

 
 

3.6 

 
3.6.1 

 
 
 

3.6.2 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
3.6.3 
 

 
 

LCIV RBC Sustainability Fund 

 
RBC is the fund’s global sustainable equity manager on the LCIV platform and was 
originally appointed in November 2018 to replace our Allianz mandate also on the LCIV 

platform.   
 
LCIV RBC Sustainability was fully funded on 5 August 2019. Mandate guidelines include 

the following; 
 The sub fund manager will invest only where they find all four forces of 

competitive dynamics (business model, market share opportunity, end market 

growth & management and ESG 
 Target performance is MSCI World Index +2% p.a. net of fees over a three-

year period. 

 Target tracking error range over three years 2% p.a – 8.0%. 
 Number of stocks 30 to 70 
 Active share is 85% to 95% 

 
The fund underperformed its quarterly benchmark to September by -0.5% and a twelve-
month under performance of -6.7%. This was mainly due to stock selection and 

overweight positioning to underperforming European currencies.  The portfolio is 

Page 8



overweight healthcare, followed by financials, and consumer staples. The defensive 

positioning should mitigate downside risk to forward earning expectations. The manager 
continues to position the portfolio more cautiously while also aiming to maintain its 
growth and upside dynamic. 

 

3.7 
 
3.7.1 

 
 
 

3.7.2 
 
 
 

3.7.3 
 
 

 
 
 

3.7.4 
 
 

LCIV Newton Investment Management 
 
Newton is the Fund’s other global equity manager with an inception date of 1 March 2008. 

There have been amendments to the mandate the latest being a transfer to the London 
CIV platform.   
 

The inception date for the LCIV NW Global Equity Fund was 22 May 2017. The new 
benchmark is the MSCI All Country World Index Total return. The outperformance target 
is MSCI All Country Index +1.5% per annum net of fees over rolling three- year periods.  
 

The fund returned 1.3% against a benchmark of 1.5% for the September quarter. Since 
inception, the fund has delivered an absolute return of 11.3%. The stock selection 
contribution was flat and relative contribution was from materials and industrial sectors. 

The focus is on growth stocks in healthcare and consumer staple that are cyclical and 
can withstand a prolonged slowdown.  
  

Islington owns 57.4% of the fund with 2 other local authorities on the LCIV platform. 

3.8 

 
3.8.1 
 
 

 
 
 

 
3.8.2 
 

 
 
3.8.3 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
3.8.4 
 

LBI- In House - transition 

 
Since 1992, the UK equities portfolio of the fund has been managed in-house by officers 
in the Loans and Investment section by passive tracking of the FTSE 350 Index.  The 
mandate was amended as part of the investment strategy review to now track the FTSE 

All Share Index within a +/- 0.5% range per annum effective from March 2008. After a 
review of the Fund’s equities’ carbon footprint Members agreed to track the FTSE UK All 
Share Carbon Optimised Index and this became effective in September 2017. 

 
The In-House fund transition to the Paris Aligned index with Legal and General began on 
13th August value at £164m with completion for over 99% of the portfolio by 1 

September.  
 
Transition Details 

The transition saw overall physical turnover of £314.6m, comprised of £157.3m of buys 
and £157.3 of sells. Trading was completed after six days and primary target funding 
was achieved  on schedule  on the 1 September pooled fund dealing date. The residual 

illiquid stocks were finally traded on 7 September to close the transition at a cost 
£0.154m.  
 
The New Paris Aligned Index 

The Paris Aligned Index one month performance to end of September was -5.5% mostly 
due to zero allocation to energy and utilities and higher exposure to technology. 
The next quarter will reflect a full quarters performance. 

 
 

3.9 Legal and General 

Page 9



 

3.9.1 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
3.9.2 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
This is the fund’s passive overseas equity index manager. The fund inception date was 8 
June 2011, with an initial investment of £67million funded from transfer of assets from 
AllianzGI (RCM).  The funds were managed passively against regional indices to 

formulate a total FTSE All World Index series.   
Member agreed restructuring in 2016, and the funding of BMO (our emerging market 
manager and restructuring of the fund to the MSCI World Low Carbon was completed 

on 3rd July 2017. 
  
The components of the new mandate as at the end of June inception, was £138m and 

benchmarked against MSCI World Low Carbon Index and £34m benchmarked against 
RAFI emerging markets.    For this quarter, the fund totalled £219(216m) with a 
performance of 1.7%against a benchmark of 1.84%. 

3.10 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
3.10.1 
 

 
 
3.10.2 

 

BMO Global Assets Mgt 
This is the emerging and frontier equity manager seeded in July 2017 with a total 

£74.4m withdrawn from LGIM.  The mandate details as follows: 
 A blended portfolio with 85% invested in emerging market and 15% in frontier 

markets  

 Target performance MSCI Emerging Markets Index +3.0% (for the global 
emerging markets strategy) 

 Expected target tracking error 4-8% p.a 

 The strategy is likely to have a persistent bias towards profitability and invests in 
high quality companies that pay dividends. 

The mandate was amended in March’21 when the frontier element was liquidated and 
$11.3m was returned.  
 
The September quarter saw an under performance of -0.3%.  The main drag to 

performance was not owning as much of the energy stocks in Brazil, Saudi Arabia and 
Qatar and stock selection in China/Hong Kong.  
 

Exempt Appendix 3 is attached to give an update on the purchase of LGM Asia to a US 
investment manager subject to regulatory approval now extended to 31 January 2023. 
The transfer will include personnel and assets including our mandate. Members are 

asked to consider and note the update. 
 

3.11 
 

3.11.1 
 
 
 

 
3.11.2 
 

 
 
3.11.3 

 

Aviva 
 

Aviva manages the fund’s UK High Lease to Value property portfolio. They were 
appointed in 2004 and the target of the mandate is to outperform their customised gilts 
benchmark by 1.5% (net of fees) over the long term. The portfolio is High Lease to 
Value Property managed under the Lime Property Unit Trust Fund. 

 
The fund for this quarter delivered a return of -2.6% against a gilt benchmark of  
-16.1%.  The All Property IPD benchmark returned -4.1% for this quarter. Since 

inception, the fund has delivered an absolute return of 6.1% 

 
As at the end of this September quarter the fund’s unexpired average lease term is 20.9 

years. The Fund holds 89 assets with 53 tenants and a sale of office in Glasgow. The 

Page 10



 

 
 
 

3.11.4 
 
 

 
 

manager continues to de-risk the portfolio and secure opportunities that will improve the 

portfolio in terms of   distributions, returns and key metrics such as duration, inflation 
linkage and diversification 
  

One of Aviva’s objectives in its transition strategy to net zero by 2040 is to reduce real 
estate carbon intensity by 30% and energy intensity by 10%.   In 2021, the energy 

intensity across the portfolio reached 226kWh/m2. To further this progress and achieve 
the 2025 target of 213kWh/m2, asset managers allocated £29 million towards 
Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) improvements across the portfolio. The 

most significant savings will be made through:  
- LED lighting (expected reduction of 7kWh/m2) 
- Smart buildings – Electricity and Gas (expected reduction of 8kWh/m2) 

- Solar panels (expected reduction of 10kWh/m2) 
 

 
3.12 
 

3.12.1 

 
Columbia Threadneedle Property Pension Limited (TPEN) 
 

This is the fund’s UK commercial pooled property portfolio that was fully funded on 14 
January 2010 with an initial investment of £45 million.  The net asset value at the end of 
September was £103million.  

 
The agreed mandate guidelines are as listed below: 

 Benchmark:  AREF/IPD All Balanced Property Fund Index (Weighted Average) since 

1 April 2014. 
 Target Performance: 1.0% p.a. above the benchmark (net of fees) over three year 

rolling periods. 

 Portfolio focus is on income generation with c. 75% of portfolio returns expected to 
come from income over the long term. 

 Income yield on the portfolio at investment of c.8.5% p.a. 

 Focus of portfolio is biased towards secondary property markets with high footfall 
rather than on prime markets such as Central London.  The portfolio may therefore 

lag in speculative/bubble markets or when the property market is driven by capital 
growth in prime markets. 

 
3.12.2 

 
 
 

3.12.3 
 

The fund returned a performance of -4.9% against its benchmark -3.9% for the 

September quarter. Since inception it has delivered an absolute return of 7.2% per 
annum. 
 

The cash balance now stands at 4.2%. During the quarter, one acquisitions and twenty 
strategic disposals, were made to increase the liquidity of the fund to meet DB pensions 
margin calls.  There is a strong asset diversification at portfolio level with a total of 242 

properties and 1,152 tenancies. Rent collection is improving at 95% and tenants are 
being dealt with on a case-by-case basis to enable their viability on the short to medium 
term. 

   
3.12.4 The Fund has set net zero target to neutralise carbon emissions within portfolios by 

2050. An income distribution share class is now available for investors who want to draw 

down income. A Redemption Deferral Policy (the Policy) for TPEN PF was enacted effective 
for investor dealings from 3 October 2022 to protect all Investors’ interests as a result of 
the volatility in the investment market since 23 September 2022. 

Page 11



 

3.13 
 
3.13.1 

Franklin Templeton 
 
This is the fund’s global property manager appointed in 2010 with an initial investment 

commitment of £25million.  Members agreed in September 2014 to re-commit another 
$40million to Fund II to keep our investments at the same level following return of 
capital through distributions from Fund I. The agreed mandate guidelines are listed 

below: 
 
 Benchmark:  Absolute return 

 Target Performance:  Net of fees internal rate of return of 15%.  Preferred rate of 
return of 10% p.a. with performance fee only applicable to returns above this point. 

 Bulk of capital expected to be invested between 2 – 4 years following fund close. 

 
 Distributions expected from years 6 – 8, with 100% of capital expected to be 

returned approximately by year 7. 

 

3.13.2 
 
 

 
 

Fund I is now fully committed and drawndown. $3.5m remains undrawn.  The final 
portfolio is comprised of nine funds and five co-investments. The funds are well 
diversified as shown in table below: 

 

Commitments Region % of Total Fund 

5 Americas 36 

4 Europe 26 

5 Asia 38 

 
 The total distribution received to the end of the September quarter is $61.8m. The NAV 
is $0.8m 
 

3.13.3 The Fund is in the harvesting phase of its life cycle and continues to benefit from the 

realization of investments. The COVID-19 pandemic has interrupted progress on real 
estate business plans across the globe. Our expectation is that the primary effect upon 
the Fund will be a delay in execution of asset sales.  

3.13.4 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Fund II is fully invested and the completed portfolio of 10 holdings consist of a diverse 
mix of property sectors including office, retail and industrial uses and the invested 
geographic exposure is 6% Asia, US 26% and 68% Europe. The admission period to 

accept new commitments from investors was extended with our consent through to 
June 2017 when it finally closed. The total capital call is $40m and total distribution of 
$33.8m.  The NAV is $19.2m 

 

3.13.5 
 

Members agreed to commit $50m to Fund III at the December 2020 meeting and the 
documentation was finalised in December to meet the final close date. Fund III made its 
final close on 30th December with total equity commitment of $218m. 

 
Current portfolio consist of 5 holdings over a geographic exposure of 77% in Europe and 
23% in USA with a 95% vintage in 2019 and 5% in 2021. 
  

Page 12



3.13.6 As at the quarter end $7.8m has been drawdown and a distribution of $4.6m had been 

received. 

3.14. 

 
3.14.1 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
3.14.2 

 
 
 

3.14.3 

Hearthstone 

 
This is the fund’s residential UK property manager. The fund inception date was 23 April 
2013, with an initial investment of £20million funded by withdrawals from our equity’s 
portfolios. The agreed mandate guidelines are as follows: 

• Target performance: UK HPI + 3.75% net income. 

• Target modern housing with low maintenance characteristics, less than 10 years old. 

• Assets subject to development risk less than 5% of portfolio. 

• Regional allocation seeks to replicate distribution of UK housing stock based on data 

from Academics.  Approximately 45% London and Southeast. 

• 5-6 locations per region are targeted based on qualitative and quantitative 
assessments and data from Touchstone and Connells. 

• Preference is for stock, which can be let on Assured Shorthold Tenancies (ASTs) or 
to companies.  

• Total returns expected to be between 6.75% and 8.75% p.a., with returns split 

equally between income and capital growth.  Net yields after fund costs of 3.75% 
p.a. 

• The fund benchmark is the LSL Academetrics House Price Index 

 
For the September quarter, the value of the fund investment was £29million and total 
funds under management is £73m. Performance net of fees was 0.6% compared to the 

IPD UK All Property benchmark of -4.1%. 
 
A meeting was held in October to explore further options to speed up reduction of 

Islington’s share of the fund.  A full briefing will be covered by MJ Hudson in  
Appendix 1, to agree the options proposed.  
 A £500k redemption has been agreed in November and the proposal is to firm up a plan 

to cross with new investors to reduce redemption charges. 
 

3.15 
 

3.15.1 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
3.15.2 

 
 

Quinbrook Infrastructure 
 

This one of the infrastructure managers appointed in November 2018. The total fund 
allocation infrastructure was 10% circa £130m.   40% of the allocation equivalent to 
$67m was allocated to low carbon strategy. Merits of Quinbrook include: 

• Low carbon strategy, in line with LB Islington’s stated agenda 

• Very strong wider ESG credentials 
• 100% drawn in 12-18 months 
• Minimal blind pool risk 

• Estimated returns 7%cash yield and 5% capital growth 
Risks: Key Man risk 
 

Drawdown to December 2021 is $67.0m – this is 100% of our commitment 
 
Islington completed documentation and onboarding to The Net Zero Power Fund on 25 

August with a commitment of $100m. The terms and conditions were negotiated and 

Page 13



 

 
 

agreed with a side letter. There was an equalisation capital call of $42m during the 

quarter.   

3.16.1 Pantheon Access- is the other infrastructure manager also appointed in November 
2018. Total allocation was $100m and merits of allocation included: 

• 25% invested with drawdown on day 1 
• Expect fully drawn within 2-3 years 
• Good vintage diversification between secondaries and co-investments 

• Exposure to 150 investments 
• Estimated return 5% cash yield and 6% capital growth 

Risks: No primary fund exposure.  

 
Drawdown to September 2022 is $79.65m and distribution of $14.5m 
 

3.17 
 

 
3.17.1 

Schroders  
This is the Fund’s diversified growth fund manager. The fund inception date was 1 July 

2015, with an initial investment of £100million funded by withdrawals from our equity’s 
portfolios. The agreed mandate guidelines are as follows: 

• Target performance: UK RPI+ 5.0% p.a.,  

• Target volatility: two thirds of the volatility of global equities, over a full market cycle 
(typically 5 years). 

• Aims to invest in a broad range of assets and varies the asset allocation over a 

market cycle. 

• The portfolio holds internally managed funds, a selection of externally managed 
products and some derivatives.  

• Permissible asset class ranges (%): 

 25-75: Equity 
 0- 30:  Absolute Return 

 0- 25: Sovereign Fixed Income, Corporate Bonds, Emerging Market Debt, High 
Yield Debt, Index-Linked Government Bonds, Cash  

 0-20: Commodities, Convertible Bonds 

 0- 10: Property, Infrastructure 
 0-5:  Insurance-Linked Securities, Leveraged Loans, Private Equity. 

 

3.17.2 

 
 
 

 
3.17.3 
 

 
 
 

3.17.4 

The value of the portfolio is now £104.m. The aim is to participate in equity market 

rallies, while outperforming in falling equity markets. The September quarter 
performance before fees was -3.8% against the benchmark of 3.4% (inflation+5%). 
The performance since inception is 3.0% against benchmark of 9.1% before fees.  

 

Equity positions detracted -3.9% from the total return, alternatives detracted  

-0.9%, credit and government debt detracted -1.5%, and cash and currency 
contributed +2.0%. There was a redemption of £20m to cover private debt drawdowns 

in September. 

 

The new benchmark effective from 1 April 2022 is ICE BofA Sterling 3-Month 
Government Bill Index plus 4.5% per annum.  

  

3.18 
 

Standard Life  
 

Page 14



3.18.1 

 
 
 

 
 
3.18.2 

 
 
 

3.18.3 
 
 

Standard Life has been the fund’s corporate bond manager since November 2009.  Their 

objective is to outperform the Merrill Lynch UK Non Gilt All Stock Index by 0.8% per 
annum over a 3 -year rolling period. During the September quarter, the fund returned 
 –10.7% against a benchmark of -11.0% and an absolute return of 3.5% per annum 

since inception.  
 
The fund outperformed the index  largely by being underweight UK duration versus the 

benchmark. Asset allocation delivered a small negative contribution, while 
stock selection was a small positive. 
 

The agreed infrastructure mandates are being funded from this portfolio and to date 
£80m has been drawn down.  

3.19 
 

 
 
 

3.19.1 

Passive Hedge 
The fund currently targets to hedge 50% of its overseas equities to the major currencies 

dollar, euro and yen. The passive hedge is run by BNY Mellon our custodian. At the end 
of the September quarter, the hedged overseas equities had a negative cash value of 
£18.4m  

 
The hedge has now been in place since 25 November 2020 for quarterly hedge rolls 

  

3.20 M&G Alpha Opportunities 
This is the multi asset credit manager appointed and funded on 1st March 2021. The 

total allocation is approximately 5% funded mostly from profit made from equity 
protection in March 2020. 
The mandate guidelines of M&G include 

 Fund can invest across the full spectrum of developed market corporate credit 
(IG, HY, Loans) as well as securitised credit (ABS, MBS), some illiquid 
opportunities and defensive holdings (e.g. cash).  

• Investment process is predominantly bottom up, with a defensive value style that 
seeks to buy cheap mispriced securities.  

• Targets a return of 1 month LIBOR +3% - 5% (gross of fees) over an investment 
cycle (3-5 years)  

• No local currency EM debt is permitted 
• Low level of interest rate duration  
• Maximum exposure to sub-investment grade credit of 50% of assets,  

• Focus is primarily on Europe, although there is some exposure to the US (c. 
15%).  

Risk and triggers for review: 

• Key man - risk 
• Issues at the firm level  
• Change in investment process/ structure or risk/return profile of the mandate.  

• Failure to deliver target return over 3 Year period of Cash +3% - 5% (gross of 
fees), unless there is a compelling market-based reason for underperformance  

• Downgrade of Mercer rating lower than B+  

• Downgrade of Mercer ESG rating lower than ESG3.  
• Long term trend of staff turnover and changes within the investment team.  

 
 

3.20.1 The September quarter performance was 0.5% against a benchmark of 1.2% and a one 

year out performance of -8.4%. The primary contributors to performance were 

Page 15



exposures to corporate bonds in the Industrial sector and leveraged loans, whilst 

exposure to the financial sector was a detractor. 
 

4. Implications 
 

4.1 Financial implications:  
The fund actuary takes investment performance into account when assessing the 

employer contributions payable, at the triennial valuation.  
 
Fund management and administration fees and related cost are charged to the pension 
fund. 

 
4.2 Legal Implications: 

As the administering authority for the Fund, the Council must review the performance of 
the Fund investments at regular intervals and review the investments made by Fund 

Managers quarterly. 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Equality Impact Assessment: 
The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to 
eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of 

opportunity, and foster good relations, between those who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The 
Council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise 

disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled 
persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in public life.  The Council must 
have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding”. 
 

An equalities impact assessment has not been conducted because this report is an 
update on performance of existing fund managers and there are no equalities issues 
arising. 

4.4 Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon 

 Islington by 2030: 
 Environmental implications will be included in each report to the Pensions-sub 
committee as necessary. The current agreed investment strategy statement for 

pensions outlines the policies and targets set to April 2022 to reduce the current and 
future carbon exposure by 50% and 75% respectively compared to when it was 
measured in 2016 and also invest 15% of the fund in green opportunities. The link to 

the full document is: 
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-
records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londo

nboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf 
 

 

5. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations 
 

5.1 Members are asked to note the performance of the fund for the quarter ending 

September 2022 as part of the regular monitoring of fund performance and Appendix 1- 
MJ Hudson commentary on managers. 
A briefing note from BMO (emerging market manager) is attached as Exempt Appendix 

3. 
 

 

Page 16

https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf


Appendices: Appendix 1 – MJ Hudson Fund Mgr monitoring report 
     Exempt Appendix 3- Briefing note by BMO  
 

 
Background papers:   
1. Quarterly management reports from the Fund Managers to the Pension Fund. 

2. Quarterly performance monitoring statistics for the Pension Fund – BNY Mellon 
 
 

Final report clearance: 
 
Signed by: David Hodgkinson 

 
 
 

 Corporate Director of Resources Date:23 November 2022 

  

 
 

 

Report Author: Joana Marfoh 

Tel: 0207-527-2382 
Fax: 0207-527 -2056 
Email: joana.marfoh@islington.gov.uk 

 

 
legal implications author :  n/a 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 17

mailto:joana.marfoh@islington.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  

London Borough of Islington 
Report to 30th September 2022 
 

 
MJ Hudson 

NOVEMBER 2022 

Page 19



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 2 

Table of Contents 
Table of Contents ...................................................................................................................................... 2 

Contacts .................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Fund Manager Overview........................................................................................................................... 3 

Individual Manager Reviews ..................................................................................................................... 8 

In-house – Passive UK Equities – FTSE UK Low Carbon Optimisation Index ......................................... 8 

M&G – Alpha Opportunities Fund ......................................................................................................... 8 

LCIV Global Equity Fund (Newton) – Global Active Equities ................................................................. 9 

LCIV Sustainable Equity Fund (RBC) – global equities ......................................................................... 11 

Columbia Threadneedle (BMO/LGM) – Global Emerging Market Growth and Income Fund ............ 12 

Standard Life – Corporate Bond Fund ................................................................................................. 13 

Aviva Investors – Property – Lime Property Fund ............................................................................... 14 

Columbia Threadneedle – Pooled Property Fund ............................................................................... 16 

Legal and General Investment Management (LGIM) – Overseas Equity Index Funds ........................ 17 

Franklin Templeton – Global Property Fund ....................................................................................... 18 

Hearthstone – UK Residential Property Fund...................................................................................... 19 

Schroders – Diversified Growth Fund (DGF)........................................................................................ 21 

Quinbrook – Low Carbon Power Fund................................................................................................. 22 

Pantheon – Infrastructure and Private Equity Funds .......................................................................... 23 

Permira – Credit Solutions Senior Fund............................................................................................... 23 

Churchill – Middle Market Senior Loan Fund ...................................................................................... 24 

 

Contacts 
Karen Shackleton, Senior Adviser, +44 20 7079 1000 

karen.shackleton@mjhudson.com 
Whilst care has been taken in compiling this document, no representation, warranty or undertaking (expressed or implied) 

is given and neither responsibility nor liability is accepted by MJ Hudson Group plc or any of its affiliates, their 

respective directors, consultants, employees and/or agents (together, “Protected Persons”) as to the accuracy, efficacy 

or application of the information contained herein. The Protected Persons shall not be held liable for any use and / or 

reliance upon the results, opinions, estimates and/or findings contained herein which may be changed at any time without 

notice. Any prospective investor should take appropriate separate advice prior to making any investment. Nothing herein 

constitutes an invitation to make any type of investment. This document is intended for the person or company named and 

access by anyone else is unauthorised. 

MJ Hudson's Investment Advisory business comprises the following companies: MJ Hudson Investment Advisers Limited (no. 

4533331), MJ Hudson Investment Solutions Limited (no. 10796384), MJ Hudson Consulting Limited (no. 13052218) and MJ 

Hudson Trustee Services Limited (no. 12799619), which are limited companies registered in England & Wales. Registered 

Office: 1 Frederick’s Place, London, EC2R 8AE.  MJ Hudson Investment Advisers Limited (FRN 539747) and MJ Hudson 

Investment Consulting Limited (FRN 541971) are Appointed Representatives of MJ Hudson Advisers Limited (FRN 692447) 

which is Authorised and Regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.  The information in this email is intended only 

for the named recipient(s) and may be privileged or confidential. If you are not the intended recipient please delete 

the email, notify us immediately and do not copy, distribute or take action based on this email.   Although emails are 

routinely screened for viruses, MJ Hudson does not accept responsibility for any damage caused. References to 'MJ 

Hudson’ may mean one or more members of MJ Hudson Group plc and /or any of their affiliated businesses as the context 

requires.  For full details of our legal notices, including when and how we may use your personal data, please visit: 

https://www.mjhudson.com/legal-and-regulatory/.  

Page 20

mailto:karen.shackleton@mjhudson.com


London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 3 

Fund Manager Overview 

Table 1 provides an overview of the external managers, in accordance with the Committee’s 

terms of reference for monitoring managers. 

TABLE 1: 

MANAGER  

LEAVERS, JOINERS 

AND DEPARTURE OF 

KEY INDIVIDUALS  

PERFORMANCE  
ASSETS UNDER 

MANAGEMENT  

M&G Alpha 

Opportunities 

Fund 

Not reported by the 

manager. 

The Fund made a return 

of  

-0.54% over Q3 2022, 

behind the target return 

by –0.70%. Over one year, 

the fund returned -4.23% 

which was behind the 

target return by -8.46%. 

The fund size was 

£10.08 billion as at end 

September. London 

Borough of Islington’s 

investment amounts to 

0.72% of the fund.  

LCIV Global Equity 

Fund (Newton) 

(active global 

equities) 

None reported by LCIV.  

The LCIV Global Equity 

Fund underperformed its 

benchmark during Q3 

2022 by -0.19%. Over 

three years the portfolio 

underperformed the 

benchmark by -0.21% and 

is under the performance 

target of benchmark 

+1.5% p.a. Over five years 

it remains ahead of the 

benchmark by +0.32% 

p.a., however.  

At the end of Q3 2022, 

the London CIV sub-

fund’s assets under 

management were 

£544.1 million. London 

Borough of Islington 

owns 54.7% of the sub-

fund. 

MANAGER  

LEAVERS, JOINERS 

AND DEPARTURE OF 

KEY INDIVIDUALS  

PERFORMANCE  
ASSETS UNDER 

MANAGEMENT  

Page 21



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 4 

LCIV Sustainable 

Equity Fund (RBC) 

(active global 

equities) 

 

None reported by LCIV. 

Over Q3 2022 the fund 

made a return of  

+1.53%, although this 

underperformed the 

benchmark return of 

+2.06%. The one-year 

return was -9.65%, weak 

in absolute terms and 

behind the benchmark by 

-6.72%. The three-year 

return outperformed the 

benchmark by +1.06% p.a. 

As at end September 

the sub- fund’s value 

was £1,244 million. 

London Borough of 

Islington owns 13.42% 

of the sub-fund. 

Columbia 

Threadneedle 

(BMO/LGM) 

(active emerging 

equities) 

No staff changes reported 

by BMO. BMO Global Asset 

Management became part 

of Columbia Threadneedle 

Investments in November 

2021 and changed its name 

in July 2022. 

Towards the end of the year 

the emerging markets team 

is being sold to Polen 

Capital. 

Underperformed the 

benchmark by  

-0.31% in the quarter to 

September 2022. The fund 

is behind over three years 

by -4.26% p.a. 

Not reported. 

 

Standard Life 

(corporate bonds) 

There were 8 joiners and 38 

leavers during the quarter. 

One joiner was to the fixed 

income group, and ten 

leavers were from the Fixed 

Income Group. 

The portfolio 

outperformed the 

benchmark return during 

the quarter by  

+0.33%, delivering an 

absolute loss of -10.68%. 

Over three years, the fund 

was behind the 

benchmark return (by  

-0.05% p.a.) and behind 

the performance target of 

+0.80% p.a. 

As at end September 

the fund’s value was 

£1,826 million, down 

from £2,328 million as 

at end June, likely due 

to poor performance in 

bonds and increased 

need for liquidity 

amongst LDI Investors.  

London Borough of 

Islington’s holding of 

£62.9m stood at 3.4% of 

the total fund value. 

  

Page 22



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 5 

MANAGER  

LEAVERS, JOINERS 

AND DEPARTURE OF 

KEY INDIVIDUALS  

PERFORMANCE  
ASSETS UNDER 

MANAGEMENT  

Aviva 

(UK property) 

There were no team changes 

during Q3 2022. 

Outperformed against 

the gilt benchmark by  

+13.51% for the quarter 

to September 2022 and 

outperformed the 

benchmark over three 

years by +18.86% p.a., 

delivering a return of 

+7.03% p.a., net of fees. 

The fund was valued at 

£3.61 billion as at end 

Q3 2022. London 

Borough of Islington 

owns 4.1% of the fund. 

 

Columbia 

Threadneedle 

(UK property) 

There were no leavers or new 

joiners to the property team 

this quarter. 

The fund outperformed 

the benchmark in Q3 

2022, with a quarterly 

return of +5.0% 

compared with +4.0%. 

Over three years, the 

fund is underperforming 

the benchmark by -2.4% 

p.a. (source: Columbia 

Threadneedle). 

 

Pooled fund has assets 

of £2.06 billion. London 

Borough of Islington 

owns 5.05% of the fund. 

Legal and General 

(passive equities) 
Not reported by LGIM. 

Funds are tracking as 

expected.  

The funds have a 

combined assets under 

management of £3.57 

billion at end June 2022. 

  

Page 23



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 6 

MANAGER 

LEAVERS, JOINERS AND 

DEPARTURE OF KEY 

INDIVIDUALS 

PERFORMANCE 
ASSETS UNDER 

MANAGEMENT 

Franklin 

Templeton (global 

property) 

 

Information not received at 

the time of going to print. 

The portfolio return 

over three years was 

+9.27% p.a., and so 

behind the target of 

10% p.a. although over 

5 years the fund is still 

+6.30% p.a. ahead of 

the target return. 

£542.6 million of assets 

under management for 

the real estate group as 

at end September 2021 

(latest figures reported).  

Hearthstone (UK 

residential 

property) 

There were no leavers or 

joiners in Q3 2022.  

The fund 

underperformed the IPD 

UK All Property Index by 

-4.78% in Q3. It is also 

trailing the IPD 

benchmark over three 

years by  

-4.87% p.a. to end 

September 2022. 

Fund was valued at 

£72.7m at end Q3 2022. 

London Borough of 

Islington owns 40.2% of 

the fund. 

Schroders (multi-

asset diversified 

growth) 

There were no team changes 

during Q3 2022. 

Fund made a loss of  

-3.83% during the 

quarter and delivered a 

return of +2.90% p.a. 

over 3 years, 

-9.02% p.a. behind the 

target return. 

Total AUM stood at 

£773.4 billion as at end 

June 2022, up from 

£716.9 billion as at end 

September 2021. 

  

Page 24



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 7 

MANAGER 

LEAVERS, JOINERS AND 

DEPARTURE OF KEY 

INDIVIDUALS 

PERFORMANCE 
ASSETS UNDER 

MANAGEMENT 

Quinbrook 

(renewable energy 

infrastructure) 

 One joiner and one leaver 

from the London office.   

For the three years to 

Q3 2022 the fund 

returned +18.18%, and 

therefore ahead of the 

annual target return of 

+12.00% p.a.  

 

Pantheon (Private 

Equity and 

Infrastructure 

Funds) 

Not reported. 

The private equity fund 

returned +6.48% p.a. 

over three years, and 

+17.56% p.a. over five 

years.  The 

infrastructure fund 

returned +15.36% p.a. 

over three years to end 

September  

 

Source: MJ Hudson 

Minor Concern 

 

Major Concern 

  

Page 25



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 8 

Individual Manager Reviews 

In-house – Passive UK Equities – FTSE UK Low Carbon Optimisation 

Index  

Headline Comments: Apart from a small residual balance of £1.8 million, this fund has now 

transitioned to the LGIM ESG Paris Aligned World Equity Fund.  

M&G – Alpha Opportunities Fund 

Headline Comments: During Q3 2022 the M&G Alpha Opportunities Fund made a return of  

+0.54%, underperforming the benchmark return of +1.24%. 

Mandate Summary: A Multi Asset Credit fund, in which M&G aims to take advantage of 

opportunities in public and private credit markets by identifying fundamental value across 

securities and credit asset classes, funded with proceeds from the equity protection strategy 

which matured in 2021.  In periods when the fund is not being sufficiently compensated for 

taking risk, the manager seeks to protect capital through allocating to low-risk asset classes. 

The objective of the fund is to deliver a total return of one month Libor / Euribor +3 -5% per 

annum, gross of fees, over a full market cycle. 

Performance Attribution: During the quarter, the fund made a return of +0.54% compared to 

the benchmark return (one month Libor plus 3.5% being used in Northern Trust’s performance 

analysis) of +1.24%. Exposure to industrial corporate bonds was the top contributor, with 

leveraged loans also performing well. Yield Curve and FX hedging was the top detractor. Over 

one year, the fund is trailing the target return by -8.46% p.a. 

Portfolio Characteristics: The largest allocations in the portfolio were to industrials (35%), 

Financials (19%) and cash and derivatives (17%). 31% of the portfolio was rated BB* or below. 

The manager selectively added risk to the portfolio over the quarter, after a period of 

continued focus on reducing the level of risk in the fund. Having believed in previous quarters 

that credit markets were overvalued, the manager now sees opportunities to add selected 

credits into portfolios at levels where pricing and fundamental risks have become out of 

alignment. 

As at end September, the weighted average carbon intensity (WACI) of the portfolio was 42% 

of the WACI of a benchmark index, with 62% of the portfolio being measured where data was 

available (compared with 88% for the benchmark).  

 

 

Page 26



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 9 

LCIV Global Equity Fund (Newton) – Global Active Equities 

Headline Comments: The LCIV Global Equity Fund underperformed its benchmark during Q3 

2022 by -0.19%. Over three years the portfolio underperformed the benchmark by -0.21% p.a. 

Over five years the manager is ahead of the benchmark return by +0.32% p.a. 

Mandate Summary: An active global equity portfolio. Newton operates a thematic approach 

based on 12 key themes that they believe will impact the economy and industry. Some are 

broad themes that apply over the longer term; others are cyclical. Stock selection is based on 

the industry analysts’ thematic recommendations. The objective of the fund since 22 nd May 

2017 is to outperform the FTSE All-World Index by +1.5% p.a. over rolling three-year periods, 

net of fees. The London CIV monitors this manager. 

Performance Attribution: Chart 1 shows the three-year rolling returns of the portfolio relative 

to the benchmark (the navy bars) and compares this with the performance target, shown by 

the blue dotted line. 

CHART 1: 

 

Source: MJH; BNY Mellon  

Chart 1 shows that the level of outperformance over three years has been falling since Q1 2021, 

when the fund was ahead of the benchmark by +1.78% p.a. By Q3 2022 the fund has 

underperformed the benchmark over three years by -0.21% p.a. This means it underperformed 

the performance objective by -1.71% p.a. (the performance objective is shown by the dotted 

line). 

Page 27



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 10 

Positive contributions to the total return came from holdings such as Apple (+0.70%), 

Albemarle (+0.51%), and Amazon (+0.46%). Negative contributions came from holdings 

including AIA Group (-0.38%), Sanofi (-0.33%), and Alibaba Group (-0.32%). 

In its peer group analysis, the London CIV reported that Newton has consistently delivered 

returns in the middle range over the shorter and longer term. Over the past three years period 

the risk has been low relative to peers.  

London CIV will be conducting an in-depth review of this manager in November.  

Portfolio Risk: The active risk on the portfolio stood at 3.38% as at quarter end, slightly lower 

than as at end June when it stood at 3.65%. The portfolio remains defensive, with the beta on 

the portfolio at end September standing at 0.92, up by 0.01 from previous quarter (if the 

market falls by -10% the portfolio can be expected to fall -9.2%). 

At the end of Q3 2022, the London CIV sub-fund’s assets under management were £544.1m, 

compared with £683.5m last quarter, mainly due to a large investor reducing its allocation to 

the fund in favour of the LCIV Sustainable Equity Exclusion Fund. London Borough of Islington 

now owns 54.79% of the sub-fund. 

Portfolio Characteristics: The number of stocks in the portfolio stood at 57 as at quarter-end 

(2 more than last quarter). The fund added three positions; Eli Lilly & Company, Nestle, and 

SSE. Newton completed one sale: Informa Plc. 

The portfolio continues to be heavily weighted to Technology (an allocation of 23%) and 

Healthcare (15%). The Manager has reduced its overweight position in Technology but 

continues to look for opportunities in the healthcare space (which now has the largest 

overweighting of +2.6%). Exposure to consumer-facing companies has been reduced as the 

manager looks for companies that are expected to be less exposed to cyclicality in consumer 

spending.  

In Q3 2022, LCIV reported that the Newton sub fund had a weighted average carbon intensity 

of just over half that of the benchmark index (the MSCI World Index). The highest contributor 

was Shell (9.83% contribution to the weighted average carbon intensity), with whom the 

manager has engaged. 

The Manager has a generally cautious view about companies in the oil and gas sector, and the 

outlook for energy companies, and has therefore been underweight in the sector for at least  

the last 10 years. Shell was the only energy holding in the LCIV portfolio until Q1 2022 when 

Exelon was added.  

Staff Turnover: None reported by LCIV for Q3 2022. 

   

Page 28



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 11 

LCIV Sustainable Equity Fund (RBC) – global equities 

Headline Comments: Over Q3 2022 the fund made a return of +1.53%. This underperformed 

the benchmark return by -0.53%. The one-year return was -9.65%, weak in absolute terms and 

behind the benchmark by -6.72%. As of this quarter, the fund has a three-year track record, 

which shows an outperformance of +1.06% p.a. against the benchmark. Islington’s investment 

makes up 13.42% of the total fund. 

Mandate Summary: A global equities fund that considers environmental, social and 

governance factors. The fund aims to deliver, over the long term, a carbon footprint which is 

lower than that of the MSCI World Index Net (Total Return). The fund also aims to achieve 

capital growth by outperforming the MSCI World Index Net (Total Return) by 2% per annum 

net of fees annualised over rolling three-year periods. 

Performance Attribution: With continued market uncertainty fuelled by macroeconomic 

worries, the fund has underperformed the benchmark in Q3, though has made a gain for the 

quarter in absolute terms. The portfolio has overweight allocations to the Financial, Healthcare, 

Consumer Staples, Industrials, Communication Services and Energy sectors. The Manager has 

stated that sector positioning had contributed positively to performance, while currency 

effects due to the overweight exposure to underperforming European currencies detracted 

from performance. Over the quarter the largest contributors to return included Charles 

Schwabscholastic (+0.62%), Amazon (+0.58%), and Fortive (+0.57%). The largest detractors 

include AIA Group (-0.46%), Taiwan Semiconductor Manufactor ADR (-0.27%), and Anheuser-

Busch Inbev (-0.26%).  

The London CIV is now comparing managers against their peer group and reported that RBC is 

performing well over the long term. This has been achieved whilst taken only average risk, 

when compared with peers. However, the short-term has been challenging, ranking in the 

fourth quartile for its peer group for the year to date and one-year periods. 

Portfolio Characteristics: As at end of September 2022 the fund had 36 holdings across 14 

countries. The active risk of the fund was 3.69%, slightly higher than Newton.  

London CIV report that the fund continues to favour quality companies with low gearing. 

In Q3 2022, LCIV reported that the RBC sub fund had a weighted average carbon intensity of 

69% that of the benchmark index (the MSCI World Index) which is a slight improvement from 

last quarter (when it was 70%). The highest contributors were Equinor ASA (excluding this 

holding from the portfolio would reduce the weighted average carbon intensity by 13.22%), 

InterContinental Hotels Group plc (10.26%) and First Quantum Minerals Ltd (6.11%).  

Page 29



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 12 

Columbia Threadneedle (BMO/LGM) – Global Emerging Market Growth 

and Income Fund 

Headline Comments: The portfolio made a loss of -3.94% in Q3 2022, compared with the 

benchmark loss of -3.63%, an underperformance of -0.31%. Over one year the fund is behind 

the benchmark by -2.36%, over three years it is trailing by -4.26% per annum. The manager has 

announced that the emerging markets business is being sold to Polen Capital  and this is now 

likely to take place in Q1 2023. 

Mandate Summary: Following the closure of their frontier markets fund, the manager now 

only invests in a selection of emerging market equities, with a quality and value, absolute 

return approach. The aim is to outperform the MSCI Emerging Markets Index by at least 3% 

p.a. over a three-to-five-year cycle.  

Performance Attribution: The Portfolio underperformed the index in the quarter, and the 

performance continued to be volatile along with markets during the quarter, with slightly 

improved investor sentiment in August curtailing in September with interest rates dominating 

headlines once again. This meant there was a significant drawdown in the Emerging Market 

space. Brazil was the strongest of the larger emerging markets with a gain of 9%, but China was 

once again the weakest with a loss of -22.5%, following a positive Q2. BMO has a low exposure 

to Brazil and no exposure to other higher performing Middle Eastern markets. It also has a high 

exposure to China/Hong Kong which contributed to the poor relative performance. On the 

other hand, not owning Alibaba was a positive contributor as the stock price fell 30% in Q3.   

During the quarter, the largest positive contributors to the quarterly relative return came from 

Bank Central Asia (+1.2%), HDFC Bank Ltd (+0.8%), and Epam Systems Inc (+0.7%). Companies 

which detracted most from performance included Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing (-1.0%), 

AIA Group Ltd (-0.6%), and Naver Corp (-0.5%).  

Over one year, the fund has underperformed the benchmark by -2.36%.  

Portfolio Risk: Within the emerging markets portfolio there is a 15.0% allocation to non-

benchmark countries (excluding the holding in Cash & Equivalents). The largest overweight 

country allocation in the emerging markets portfolio remained India (+11.4% overweight). The 

most underweight country allocation was South Korea (-7.9%).  

Portfolio Characteristics: The portfolio held 40 stocks as at end September compared with the 

benchmark which had 1,387. The largest absolute stock position was TSMC at 6.6% of the 

portfolio, while the largest absolute country position was China/HK and accounted for 32.5% 

of the portfolio. 

Staff Turnover/Organisation: BMO Global Asset Management EMEA (including LGM 

Investments) became part of Columbia Threadneedle Investments, the global asset 

Page 30



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 13 

management business of Ameriprise in November 2021.  From July, following a period of 

integration, the branding switched to sit under the Columbia Threadneedle banner. There were 

no staff changes reported for Q3 2022.  

As previously reported, the manager has announced that the emerging markets team is being 

sold to a US firm, Polen Capital. As of Q3 2022 the work on progressing the transfer was ongoing 

although Columbia Threadneedle have recently announced that the original target date for the 

transfer of the LGM business to Polen of 30th November has now been extended to 31 January 

2023. This because of a delay in receiving regulatory approval from the Hong Kong regulator.  

Standard Life – Corporate Bond Fund 

Headline Comments: The portfolio outperformed the benchmark return during the quarter by 

+0.33% but made an absolute loss of -10.68%. Over three years, the fund was behind the 

benchmark return (by -0.05% p.a.) for the second consecutive quarter since inception and 

behind the performance target of benchmark +0.80% p.a. 

Mandate Summary: The objective of the fund is to outperform the iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilt 

Index (a UK investment grade bond index) by +0.8% p.a. over rolling three-year periods. 

Performance Attribution: Chart 2 shows the three-year performance of the Corporate Bond 

Fund compared to the Index, over the past five years. This shows that the fund is now behind 

the benchmark over three years, as well as behind the performance objective (shown by the 

dotted line in Chart 2). 

CHART 2: 

 

Source: MJH; BNY Mellon 

Page 31



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 14 

Over three years, the portfolio has returned -6.93% p.a. net of fees, compared to the 

benchmark return of -6.88% p.a. Over the past three years, asset allocation has detracted  

-0.04% value, meanwhile stock selection has contributed +0.11%. 

Portfolio Risk: The largest holding in the portfolio at quarter-end was the Government of 

Sweden at 0.9% of the portfolio.  

Portfolio Characteristics: The value of Standard Life’s total pooled fund at end September 2022 

stood at £1,826 million. London Borough of Islington’s holding of £62.9m stood at 3.4% of the 

total fund value. 

Staff Turnover: There were 8 joiners and 38 leavers during the quarter. There was one new 

joiner into the Fixed Income Group, Structuring Adviser Alexander Quinn. Ten of the leavers 

were from the fixed income group; four Investment Directors, one Investment Manager, two 

Credit Analysts, one investment Analyst, the head of Global High Yield, Erlend Lochen, and the 

Head of Corporate Debt (Asia Pacific), Paul Lukaszewski. 

Aviva Investors – Property – Lime Property Fund 

Headline Comments: The Lime Fund made a loss, for the first quarter since 2018, of -2.57%. 

However it outperformed the fund benchmark return, with an overperformance of +13.51% in 

Q3. Over three years, the fund is ahead of the benchmark return by +18.86% p.a., with a 

particularly strong one-year outperformance of +33.62%. 

Mandate Summary: An actively managed UK pooled property portfolio, the Lime Fund invests 

in a range of property assets including healthcare, education, libraries, offices and retail. The 

objective of the fund is to outperform a UK gilt benchmark, constructed of an equally  weighted 

combination of the FTSE 5-15 Years Gilt Index and the FTSE 15 Years+ Gilt Index, by +1.5% p.a., 

over three-year rolling periods. 

Performance Attribution: The fund’s Q3 2022 return was attributed by Aviva to -3.33% capital 

return and +0.76% income return. 

Over three years, the fund has returned +7.03% p.a., considerably ahead of the gilt benchmark 

of -11.83% p.a., and ahead of its outperformance target of +1.5% p.a., as can be seen in Chart 

3. 

  

Page 32



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 15 

CHART 3: 

  

Source: MJH; BNY Mellon 

Over three years, 49% of the return came from income and 51% from capital gain. 

Portfolio Risk: within the MSCI quarterly index of UK real estate funds, the Lime Fund is the 

least volatile fund over the short, medium and long term. There was one transaction reported 

this quarter which was the sale of an office investment located in Glasgow. The sale proceeds 

were £22 million.  

The average unexpired lease term was 20.9 years as at end September 2022. 10.2% of the 

portfolio’s lease exposure in properties is in 30+ year leases, the largest sector exposure 

remains offices at 25.80% (proportion of current rent), and the number of assets in the 

portfolio is 89. The weighted average tenant credit quality rating of the Lime Fund remained at 

BBB+ this quarter. 

Portfolio Characteristics: As at September 2022, the Lime Fund had £3.61 billion of assets 

under management, an increase of £74 million from the previous quarter end. London Borough 

of Islington’s investment represents 4.1% of the total fund. 

Staff Turnover/Organisation:  There were no leavers or joiners in Q3 2022.  

  

Page 33



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 16 

Columbia Threadneedle – Pooled Property Fund 

Headline Comments: The fund underperformed the benchmark in Q3 2022, with a quarterly 

return of -5.0% compared to -4.0%. Over three years, the fund underperformed the benchmark 

by -2.4% and as such is behind the performance target of +1.0% p.a. above benchmark (source: 

Columbia Threadneedle). 

Mandate Summary: An actively managed UK commercial property portfolio, the Columbia 

Threadneedle Pooled Property Fund invests in a diversified, multi-sector portfolio of UK 

property assets. Its performance objective is to outperform the AREF/IPD All Balanced – 

Weighted Average (PPFI) Index by at least 1.0% p.a., net of fees, on a rolling three-year basis. 

Portfolio Risk: Chart 4 shows the relative positioning of the fund compared with the 

benchmark.1 

CHART 4: 

 

 

Source: MJH; Columbia Threadneedle 

 

 

 

1 These are draft figures provided to us by Columbia Threadneedle ahead of the usual quarterly reporting being available and therefore may be subject to 
change.  

Page 34



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 17 

During the quarter, the fund made one acquisitions and twenty sales.  

The cash balance at end June was 4.2%, which is in line with the target liquidity parameters.  

Performance Attribution: The fund underperformed the benchmark in Q3 2022, with a 

quarterly return of -5.0% compared to -4.0% (source: Columbia Threadneedle). The manager 

attributes this to an accelerated sales program to meet investor redemptions. Over three years, 

the fund underperformed the benchmark by -2.4% and as such is behind the performance 

target of +1.0% p.a. above benchmark (source: Columbia Threadneedle). 

Portfolio Characteristics: As at end September 2022, the fund was valued at £2.06bn, a 

decrease of £248m from the fund’s value in June 2022. London Borough of Islington’s 

investment represented 5.05% of the fund. 

Staff Turnover: There were no changes to the TPEN property team or the wider property team 

in Q3 2022.  

Legal and General Investment Management (LGIM) – Overseas Equity 

Index Funds 

Headline Comments: The three passive index funds were within the expected tracking range 

when compared with their respective benchmarks. FTSE-RAFI Emerging Markets fund, MSCI 

World Low Carbon Target index fund, and the new ESG Paris Aligned World Equity Fund 

performed in line with their benchmarks in Q3. 

Mandate Summary: The London Borough of Islington has invested in two of LGIM’s index funds 

since 2017: one is designed to match the total return on the FTSE-RAFI Emerging Markets 

Equity Index; the second is designed to match the total return on the MSCI World Low Carbon 

Target Index. The MSCI World Low Carbon Target is based on capitalisation weights but tilting 

away from companies with a high carbon footprint. The FTSE-RAFI Index is based on 

fundamental factors. In August 2022, the fund’s passive UK equity mandate was transitioned 

into the ESG Paris Aligned World Equity Fund. This fund is designed to match the total return 

on the Solactive Paris Aligned Index, It differs to the Low Carbon passive fund because it has a 

more ambitious goal of targeting net zero by 2050 in line with the Paris Agreement.  

  

Page 35



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 18 

Performance Attribution: The three index funds tracked their respective benchmarks as 

expected, as shown in Table 2. 

TABLE 2: 

 Q3 2022 FUND Q3 2022 INDEX TRACKING 

FTSE-RAFI Emerging Markets -0.06% -0.11% +0.05% 

MSCI World Low Carbon 

Target 
+2.01% +2.03% -0.02% 

ESG Paris Aligned World 

Equity Fund 
-5.49% -5.54% +0.06% 

Source: LGIM 

Portfolio Risk: The tracking errors over three years are all within expected ranges. The 

allocation of the portfolio, as at quarter end, was 49.65% to the MSCI World Low Carbon Target 

index fund, 40.72% to the ESG Paris Aligned World Equity Fund, and 9.63% allocated to the 

FTSE RAFI Emerging Markets index fund. 

Staff Turnover/Organisation: Not reported by LGIM.  

Franklin Templeton – Global Property Fund 

Headline Comments: This is a long-term investment and as such a longer-term assessment of 

performance is recommended. There are now three funds in which London Borough of 

Islington invests. The portfolio in aggregate slightly underperformed the absolute return 

benchmark of 10% p.a. over three years by -0.73% p.a.  

Mandate Summary: Three global private real estate fund of funds investing in sub-funds. The 

performance objective is an absolute return benchmark over the long term of 10% p.a. 

Performance Attribution: Over the three years to September 2022, Franklin Templeton is the 

best performing fund across all four property managers. Chart 5 compares their annualised 

three-year performance, net of fees. 

  

Page 36



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 19 

CHART 5: 

 

Source: MJH;  

Portfolio Risk:  report was not received at the time of going to print.  

Staff Turnover/Organisation: not received at the time of going to print.  

Hearthstone – UK Residential Property Fund 

Headline Comments: The portfolio outperformed the benchmark for the quarter ending 

September 2022 by +4.78%, but is underperforming over three years by -4.87% p.a. 

Mandate Summary: The fund invests in private rented sector housing across the UK and aims 

to outperform the LSL Acadametrics House Price Index (note that this excludes income), as well 

as providing an additional income return. The benchmark used by BNY Mellon is the IPD UK All 

Property Monthly Index. 

Performance Attribution: The fund underperformed the IPD index over the three years to 

September 2022 by -4.87% p.a., returning +2.90% p.a. versus the index return of +7.77% p.a. 

The manager has also underperformed over 5 years by -4.22% p.a. The gross yield on the 

portfolio as at end June 2022 was 4.84%. Adjusting for voids and property 

management/maintenance costs, however, the yield on the portfolio falls to 2.91%. 

Portfolio Risk: The cash and liquid instruments on the fund stood at 16.69% (£12.1 million), 

which is 0.69% lower than at the end of June 2022.  

Page 37



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 20 

At a recent meeting with the manager, the different exit options were discussed. Hearthstone 

have presented three options: 

 Continue to reduce the fund’s investment through receipt of income, passing across 

excess cash and crossing trades with any investors coming into the fund. The manager 

is targeting a 10-15% cash balance but could transfer excess cash immediately. The 

advantage of this option is that there is no cost of transaction and there is unlikely to be 

a swing in the pricing of the pooled fund. The disadvantage is that it is the slowest exit 

route.  

 Accelerate by redeeming larger amounts. In current market conditions, this would result 

in a swing in the unit price of approximately 2.5%. There would also be a fair value 

adjustment to protect the other investors in the fund so the value of the properties 

being sold could be heavily discounted. However, it would be a speedier exit route. 

Hearthstone advised against exiting in one go because this would be the most costly 

solution.  

 Transition the fund towards a more institutional client base. This would make it more 

aligned with London Borough of Islington. At present the fund has 15% cash which is a 

drag on performance. If Hearthstone repositioned the fund and tilted it instead to 

institutional investors, they wouldn’t need to offer daily dealing. From this, they could 

then start a programme of redemptions. This option is an uncertain exit route. 

Hearthstone have tried unsuccessfully to attract institutional funds into the unit trust, 

although they have launched other vehicles successfully in the institutional space.  

Chart 6 compares the regional bets in the portfolio in Q3 2022 (turquoise bars) with the 

regional bets three years ago, in Q3 2019 (navy bars). 

  

Page 38



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 21 

 

CHART 6: 

 

 

Source: MJH; Hearthstone 

Portfolio Characteristics: By value, the fund has an 8% allocation to detached houses, 35% 

allocated to flats, 31% in terraced accommodation and 26% in semi-detached. 

As at end June there were 228 properties in the portfolio and the fund stood at £73.0 million. 

London Borough of Islington’s investment represents 40.2% of the fund. This compares with 

72% at the start of this mandate in 2013. 

Organisation and Staff Turnover: There were no leavers or joiners during the quarter.   

Schroders – Diversified Growth Fund (DGF) 

Headline Comments: The DGF made a loss of -3.83% in Q3 2022, and in relative terms it 

underperformed its target by -7.22%. Over three years, the fund is behind the target return by 

-9.02% p.a. 

Mandate Summary: The fund invests in a broad mix of growth assets and uses dynamic asset 

allocation over the full market cycle, with underlying investments in active, passive and 

external investment, as appropriate. The target for this fund changed on 1st April 2022 and is 

now the ICE BofA Sterling 3-Month Government Bill Index plus 4.5% per annum (before fees 

Page 39



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 22 

have been deducted) over a 5-7-year period. The manager aims to deliver capital growth and 

income, with a volatility of less than two-thirds the volatility of equities. 

Performance Attribution: The DGF made a loss of -3.83% in Q3 2022 while global equities fell 

by -5.3%. Over three years, the DGF delivered a return of +2.09% p.a. 

In Q3 2022, equity positions detracted -3.9% from the total return, alternatives detracted  

-0.9%, credit and government debt detracted -1.5%, and cash and currency contributed +2.0% 

(figures are gross of fees). 

Portfolio Risk: The portfolio is expected to exhibit less than two-thirds the volatility of equities 

over a full three to five-year market cycle. Over the past three years, the volatility of the fund 

was 9.1% compared to the three-year volatility of 18.0% in global equities (i.e., 50.6% of the 

volatility) which is in line with target. 

Portfolio Characteristics: The fund had 55% in internally managed funds (down from last 

quarter), 26% in active bespoke solutions (up from last quarter), 8% in externally managed 

funds (the same as last quarter), and 7% in passive funds (the same as last quarter) with a 

residual balance in cash, 4% (the same as last quarter), as at end September 2022. In terms of 

asset class exposure, 31.8% was in equities, 36.6% was in alternatives and 27.7% in credit and 

government debt. 

Alternative assets include absolute return funds, property, insurance-linked securities, 

commodities, private equity, private credit, infrastructure debt and investment trusts. 

The manager remains defensively positioned, anticipating a stagflationary environment over 

the coming months.  

Schroder reported that the carbon intensity of the fund was 44% lower than a comparator (a 

mix of equities, bonds, and alternative indices). 

Organisation: There were no team changes during Q3 2022.  

Quinbrook – Low Carbon Power Fund 

Headline Comments: Performance for the year to 30th September 2022 was positive at 

+45.99%, thus outperforming the target return of +12.0%. Over three years, the fund returned 

+18.18% p.a. and therefore ahead of the target by +6.18%.  

Mandate Summary: The fund invests in renewable energy and low carbon assets across the 

UK, US and Australia as well as selected OECD countries. The fund expected to make between 

10 and 20 investments in its lifetime and targets a net return of 12% per annum. The fund held 

a final closing in February 2019 with approximately $730 million committed by 15 limited 

partners and has now reached the end of its investment phase. 

Page 40



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 23 

Portfolio Characteristics: As at Q2 2022, on an unaudited, provisional basis, the fund had 

invested USD 728.4 million into projects ranging from onshore wind farms, solar power plants, 

battery storage and natural gas peaking facilities (power plants that generally run only when 

there is a high demand for electricity, in order to balance the grid).  The total operational 

generating capacity of operational projects which the Fund is invested in is 1,5 74 MW 

(including those with minority stakeholders), as at 30 September 2022.  Having reached the 

end of the investment period, the manager is now focusing on exits, and reported making good 

progress with two sales processes (Scout and Lockyer Energy) for the quarter to end June.  

Organisation: Daniel Feeney joined as a Senior Analyst in the London office, and Associate, 

Ingrid Roberts left the London office.  

Pantheon – Infrastructure and Private Equity Funds 

Headline Comments: Over three years the return on the private equity fund was +6.48% per 

annum. This compares with a three-year return on listed global equities of 11.1% per annum. 

The three-year return on the infrastructure fund was +15.36% versus the absolute return target 

of 10%. 

Mandate Summary: London Borough of Islington have made total commitments of £108.6m 

across five Pantheon strategies including two US primary funds, two global secondary funds 

and one global infrastructure fund. This infrastructure fund, Pantheon Global Infrastructure 

Fund III “PGIF III”, was the most recent commitment from Islington in 2018 totalling £7 8.8m.  

Portfolio Characteristics: Over the period Q1 2022 – Q2 2022, a total of £5.2m was drawn 

down, wholly to PGIF III. Distributions were received across two strategies, Pantheon USA Fund 

VII and PGIF III, totalling £1.5m.  

Permira – Credit Solutions Senior Fund 

Headline Comments: The Permira Credit Solutions V (“PCS5”) is a new allocation for the 

London Borough of Islington and part of the private debt allocation. To 30th June 2022 the fund 

had closed commitments of £2.3 billion (€2.7 bn) and had made a total of eight investments 

equalling 37.5% invested (most recent data available). No defaults have been reported at such 

an early stage of investment.  

  

Page 41



London Borough of Islington | Q2 2022 | 24 

Churchill – Middle Market Senior Loan Fund  

Headline Comments: The Churchill Middle Market Senior Loan Fund IV is part of the new 

private debt allocation. It had closed commitments of £39.6 million to June 2022, equalling 

42% of committed capital (most recent data available). The fund has achieved a return of 8.76% 

for the quarter to 30 September 2022, outperforming the benchmark return of +1.23 by 

+7.53%, although like other private markets investments, performance should normally be 

assessed over a longer (3-year) time-period. No defaults have been reported. 

Karen Shackleton 

Senior Adviser, MJ Hudson 

1st November 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 Frederick’s Place, London, EC2R 8AE, United Kingdom | +44 20 7079 1000 | london@mjhudson.com | mjhudson.com | mjhudson.com 

 

Whilst care has been taken in compiling this document, no representation, warranty or undertaking (expressed or implied) is g iven and 

neither responsibility nor liability is accepted by MJ Hudson Group plc or any of its affiliates, their resp ective directors, 

consultants, employees and/or agents (together, “Protected Persons”) as to the accuracy, efficacy or application of the infor mation 

contained herein. The Protected Persons shall not be held liable for any use and / or reliance upon the re sults, opinions, estimates 

and/or findings contained herein which may be changed at any time without notice. Any prospective investor should take approp riate 

separate advice prior to making any investment. Nothing herein constitutes an invitation to make any type of investment. This document 

is intended for the person or company named and access by anyone else is unauthorised. 

 MJ Hudson's Investment Advisory business comprises the following companies: MJ Hudson Investment Advisers Limited (no. 453333 1), MJ 

Hudson Investment Solutions Limited (no. 10796384), MJ Hudson Consulting Limited (no. 13052218) and MJ Hudson Trustee Service s Limited 

(no. 12799619), which are limited companies registered in England & Wales. Registered Office: 1 Frederick’s Place, Londo n, EC2R 8AE.  MJ 

Hudson Investment Advisers Limited (FRN 539747) and MJ Hudson Investment Consulting Limited (FRN 541971) are Appointed Repres entatives 

of MJ Hudson Advisers Limited (FRN 692447) which is Authorised and Regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.  The information in 

this email is intended only for the named recipient(s) and may be privileged or confidential. If you are not the intended rec ipient 

please delete the email, notify us immediately and do not copy, distribute or take action based on this email.   Although emails are 

routinely screened for viruses, MJ Hudson does not accept responsibility for any damage caused. References to 'MJ Hudson’ may  mean one 

or more members of MJ Hudson Group plc and /or any of their affiliated businesses as the context requires.  For full details of our 

legal notices, including when and how we may use your personal data, please visit: https://www.mjhudson.com/legal -and-regulatory/. 

Page 42

mailto:london@mjhudson.com
http://www.mjhudson.com/
http://www.mjhudson-allenbridge.com/


 

 

 

   
 

 

Report of: Corporate Director of Resources 
 
 

Finance Department 

  7 Newington Barrow Way  
London N7 7EP 

 

  

Report of: Corporate Director of Resources 

Meeting of: Pension Board / Pensions sub-Committee 

Date:  5th December 2022 

Ward(s): n/a 

 

 

SUBJECT: 2022 ACTUARIAL VALUATION -DRAFT FUNDING 

STRATEGY STATEMENT CONSULTATION 
 

 

1. Synopsis 
 

1.1 A Funding Strategy Statement will be prepared by London Borough of Islington (the 

Administering Authority) to set out the funding strategy for the Islington Council Pension 
Fund (the “Fund”), in accordance with Regulation 58 of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme Regulations 2013 (as amended) and guidance issued by the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). 

 
Under the Regulations, the administering authority must prepare, maintain and publish a 
written statement setting out their funding strategy.  In doing so, the administering authority 

must consult with such persons, as they feel appropriate.  The Fund actuary must have 
regard to the FSS in carrying out the formal actuarial valuation of the Fund . 

 

1.2 This report informs the pension board and pensions sub-committee of the main issues that 
employers admitted into the Fund are to be consulted on, in the draft FSS, (attached as 
Appendix 1) as part of the 2022 actuarial review.  

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 To review and note a summary of the main updates in the draft FSS that employers are going 

to be consulted on between December and January 2023. 
 

2.2 Agree that officers, with the Fund Actuary update the draft FSS for consultation with the 
Employers who are admitted into the Islington Fund. 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item B2



 

 

2.3 Agree to receive the consultation results and delegate powers to officers, where necessary, to 
update and finalise the draft FSS at the next meeting in March 2023. 

  

3. Background 
Introduction 

3.1 

 
 
 

3.1.1 
 

 

The 2022 actuarial valuation is now underway and as part of the process preparatory work is 

being undertaken to determine the funding position and investment strategy review that can 
support sustainable contributions from employers.  
 

The LGPS Regulations provide the statutory framework under which the Administering 
Authority is required to prepare and publish a Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) alongside 
each actuarial valuation. The Fund Actuary must have regard to the FSS as part of the 
actuarial valuation process. 

  
The FSS must also be revised and published whenever there is a material change in either the 
policy set out in the FSS or the Investment Strategy Statement.    

 
  

3.1.2 The draft FSS is being prepared and as part of this the Actuary has been working to 

streamline the content in order to improve the usability of the document. The main updates 
since the policies update in November 2021 include the following: 
i) Administrative (and Oversight and Governance) Expenses are met out of the Fund, in 

accordance with the Regulations. It is proposed to allow for such expenses from 1 April 
2023 by adding 0.9% of pensionable pay to the contributions from participating 
employers. This allowance has been reassessed at the 2022 valuation, and represents 

an increase of 0.2% of pensionable pay relative to the current allowance of 0.7%. 
Investment expenses have been allowed for implicitly in determining the discount rates.  

 

ii)     We have incorporated reference to surplus offsets only being permissible for employers 
above 110% funded. For those employers assessed to be in surplus at the valuation 
date, surplus offsets will not be available to those with a funding level of less than 

110%. For those with funding levels greater than 110%, surplus offsets will be based 
on the surplus above 110% only (such offsets will also only be permitted if the 
employer is in surplus on the termination basis). 

 
iii) The discount rates used to determine the Fund’s liabilities are derived from the 

expected return on the Fund assets based on the current long-term strategy set out in 
the ISS, including appropriate margins for prudence. For the 2022 valuation it is 

proposed to use an assumed return of 4.65% p.a. for past service liabilities, i.e. that is 
1.55% p.a. above CPI inflation and 5.10% p.a. for future service liabilities i.e. that is 
2.0% p.a. above CPI inflation. This real return will be reviewed from time to time based 

on the investment strategy, market outlook and the Fund’s overall risk metrics. The 
reduction in the real returns relative to the 2019 valuation represent the Fund’s 
objective of ensuring contribution rate sustainability given the current uncertain 

economic outlook. 
 

iv) Unlike previous actuarial valuations, the Actuary has recommended to build in an 

allowance for actual inflation between September 2021 and March 2022 (which feeds 
into the 2023 pension increase) rather than assuming inflation in line with the funding 
assumption over that period.  This will provide additional protection against the cost of 

the 2023 pension increase once implemented.  The reduction in the real discount rates, 

Page 44



 

 

as referred to above, then provide for additional protection more generally in relation to 
post 31 March 2022 events. 

 

v) Updates to the life expectancy assumptions following analysis performed on the Fund’s 
membership. The analysis indicates that whilst life expectancy is still increasing, the rate 
of increase experienced in short-term since the 2019 valuation was less than was built 

into the assumptions.  This has been incorporated into the assumptions for the 2022 
valuation along with an adjustment to the longer-term projection to reflect current 
views. To avoid understating life expectancy (and therefore understating liabilities), the 

Actuary has ignored experience from certain periods of the Covid-19 pandemic where 
mortality rates were significantly higher than previously. 

  

vi) Subject to covenant and affordability considerations of employers, it is proposed that 
the average deficit recovery periods will reduce by 3 years to 16 years. This is generally 
equivalent to maintaining the same end date as the 2019 deficit recovery plan. This will 

be incorporated into the contribution outcomes for employers. 
 

vii) For certain employers in the Fund (following discussions with the Fund Actuary) a 

captive insurance arrangement is being established by the Administering Authority to 
cover ill-health retirement costs. This will apply to all ill-health retirements from 1 April 
2023 and will minimise the risk to the employers of such retirements, the cost of which 

can otherwise be very high and volatile. It applies only to ill-health retirements involving 
the early payment of pension and to the associated benefit costs. All employers in the 
captive insurance arrangement will be required to pay a “premium” into the 

arrangement to meet the expected ill-health retirement costs of the eligible members. 
This “premium” will be reassessed at each valuation by the Actuary.  
 

viii) Whilst reserving the right to consider options on a case by case basis, the Fund’s 

current policy is that a termination assessment will be made based on low risk funding 
basis, unless the employing body has a guarantor within the Fund or a successor body 
exists to take over the employing body’s liabilities (including those for former 

employees). This is to protect the other employers in the Fund as, at termination, the 
employing body’s liabilities will become orphan liabilities within the Fund, and there will 
be no recourse to it if a shortfall emerges in the future (after participation has 

terminated). Given recent extreme market events, for the current policy to remain 
robust and to ensure both the outgoing employers, and those remaining in the Fund are 
protected, it is proposed to update the policy to provide the Fund with the flexibility to 

review the low risk assumptions in times of extreme market conditions. 
 
At a Whole Fund level, taking into account the above, the results of the 31 March 2022 

actuarial valuation have showed that the Fund is 96% funded. This represents a deficit of 
£79m which will be recovered by secondary rate contributions (where appropriate) payable by 
employers from 1 April 2023. The primary rate emerging from the 2022 valuation is 18.3% of 
pensionable pay. Individual employer positions will vary significantly and will depend on their 

own membership profile, experience since 2019, and also their starting point relative to the 
Whole Fund as at 31 March 2019. 
 

Further updates on the progress of other Regulatory issues will be provided to the Board and 
Committee in due course.  

  
  

Page 45



 

 

3.1.3 Members are asked to note the updates and agree that officers with the Fund Actuary update 
the FSS for consultation with Employers admitted into the Islington Fund. The results of the 
consultation will be reported to Members at the March meeting so that an informed decision 

can be made to approve the final version of FSS for publication by end of March. 
  

4. Implications 
 

4.1 Financial implications 
4.1.1 

 
 
4.1.2 

The cost of providing actuarial advice is part of fund management and administration fees 

charged to the pension fund. 
 
The funding level of the pension fund directly affects employer contributions. A reduced 

Pension Fund deficit would provide employers with a lower required deficit recovery 
contribution. Full financial implications to employers will be available once the final valuation 
is completed 

  
4.2 Legal Implications 
 The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013  (as amended) (“the 2013 

Regulations”) and the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings 
and Amendment) Regulations 2014 (“the 2014 Transitional Regulations”) (collectively; “the 
Regulations”) provide the statutory framework from which the Administering Authority is 

required to prepare a Funding Strategy Statement (FSS). 
 
Prior to agreeing the statement, the Council must have proper regard to any comments 
received from the consultees. 

 
  
4.3 Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon 

 Islington by 2030: 
 

 None applicable to this report.  Environmental implications will be included in each report to 

the Pension Board Committee as necessary. The current agreed investment strategy 
statement for pensions outlines the policies and targets set to April 2022 to reduce the 
current and future carbon exposure by 50% and 75% respectively compared to when it was 

measured in 2016 and also invest 15% of the fund in green opportunities. The link to the  full 
document is  https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-
records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonborou

ghofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf 
  
4.4 
 

Resident Impact Assessment 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

None applicable to this report. The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance 
equality of opportunity, and foster good relations, between those who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The 
council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take 
steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and 

encourage people to participate in public life.  The council must have due regard to the need 
to tackle prejudice and promote understanding. 
 

Page 46

https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf


 

 

4.4.1     An equalities impact assessment has not been conducted because this report is seeking 
opinions on updating an existing document and therefore no specific equality implications 
arising from this report. 
 

5. Conclusion and reasons for recommendation 
 

5.1 
 
 

Members asked to review and note the updates to prepare the draft FSS for employers’ 
consultation. 

 
 
 
Appendices: Draft FSS -Appendix1 

 
 
Background papers:  

None 
 
Final report clearance: 

 
 
Signed by:  

 
Corporate Director of Resources 

  

   

Date:  23 November 2022  
 
 

 

   

 
Report Author: Joana Marfoh 
Tel: (020) 7527 2382 

Email: Joana.marfoh@islington.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Financial implications Author: Joana Marfoh 
 Legal implications – Legal  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 47



 

 

 
 
 

Page 48



 

 

FUNDING STRATEGY 
STATEMENT 
 

ISLINGTON COUNCIL PENSION FUND 

 

 

The information enclosed in this statement and the accompanying 
policies have a financial and operational impact on all participating 
employers in the Islington Council Pension Fund.  It is imperative 

that all existing and potential employers are aware of the details set 
out herein. 

 

 

 

November 2022 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
This Funding Strategy Statement has been prepared by London Borough of Islington (the 
Administering Authority) to set out the funding strategy for the Islington Council Pension Fund (the 
“Fund”), in accordance with Regulation 58 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 
2013 (as amended) and guidance issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA). 

Page 49



Islington Council Pension Fund – 2022 Funding Strategy Statement 

i  

 

1. Guide to the FSS and Policies 

The information required by overarching guidance and Regulations is included in Section 2 
and Section 3 of the Funding Strategy Statement. This document also sets out the Fund’s 
policies in the following key areas: 

1. Actuarial Method and Assumptions (Appendix A) 

The actuarial assumptions used for assessing the funding position of the Fund and the 
individual employers, known as the “Primary” contribution rate, and any contribution 
variations due to underlying surpluses or deficits, known as the “Secondary” rate, together 
with other factors that may impact an employer’s contribution outcomes, are set out here. 

2. Deficit Recovery and Surplus Offset Plans (Appendix B) 

The key principles when considering deficit recovery and surplus offset plans as part of the 
valuation are set out here. 

3. Employer Types and Admission Policy, (Appendix C) 

Various types of employers are permitted to join the LGPS under certain circumstances. 
The conditions upon which their entry to the Fund is based and the approach taken is set 
out here 

4. Termination Policy, Flexibility for Exit Payments and Deferred Debt 
Agreements (Appendix D) 

When an employer ceases to participate within the Fund, it becomes an exiting employer 
under the Regulations. The Fund is then required to obtain an actuarial valuation of that 
employer’s liabilities in respect of the benefits of the exiting employer’s former employees 
along with a termination contribution certificate showing any exit debt or exit credit, due 
from or to the exiting employer. In some circumstances an employer and the Fund can 
enter a Deferred Debt Agreement. The termination policy can be found here  

5. New Academy Conversions and Multi-Academy Trusts (Appendix E) 

Current Fund policy regarding the treatment of local authority maintained schools when 
converting to academy status is for the new academy to inherit the school’s share of the 
historic local authority deficit at the point of its conversion. Further details on this and multi-
academy trusts can be found here. 

6. Review of Employer Contributions between Valuations (Appendix F) 

In line with the Regulations, the Administering Authority has the discretion to review 
employer contributions between valuations in prescribed circumstances. The Fund’s policy 
on how the Administering Authority will exercise its discretion is set out here.  

  

Page 50



Islington Council Pension Fund – 2022 Funding Strategy Statement 

i i  

 

  

7. Ill Health Insurance Arrangements (Appendix G) 

The Fund has implemented a captive insurance arrangement which pools the risks 
associated with ill health retirement costs for employers whose financial position could be 
materially affected by ill health retirement of one of their members. The captive 
arrangement is reflected in the employer contribution rates (including on termination) for 
the eligible employers. More details are set out here. 

8. Glossary (Appendix H) 

A glossary of the key terms used throughout is available at the end of this document here.

Page 51



Islington Council Pension Fund – 2022 Funding Strategy Statement 

1  

 

2. Background 

Ensuring that the Islington Council Pension Fund (the “Fund”) has sufficient assets to meet 
its pension liabilities in the long-term is the fiduciary responsibility of the Administering 
Authority (London Borough of Islington). The Funding Strategy adopted by the Islington 
Council Pension Fund will therefore be critical in achieving this. The Administering 
Authority has taken advice from the actuary in preparing this Statement. 

The purpose of this Funding Strategy Statement (“FSS”) is to set out a clear and 
transparent funding strategy that will identify how each Fund employer’s pension liabilities 
are to be met going forward.   

The details contained in this Funding Strategy Statement will have a financial and 
operational impact on all participating employers in the Islington Council Pension Fund.   

It is imperative therefore that each existing or potential employer is aware of the details 
contained in this statement.   

Given this, and in accordance with governing legislation, all interested parties connected 
with the Islington Council Pension Fund have been consulted and given opportunity to 
comment prior to this Funding Strategy Statement being finalised and adopted. This 
statement takes into consideration all comments and feedback received. 

Integrated Risk Management Strategy 

The funding strategy set out in this document has been developed alongside the Fund’s 

investment strategy on an integrated basis taking into account the overall financial and 

demographic risks inherent in the Fund to meet the objective for all employers over 

different periods.  The funding strategy includes appropriate margins to allow for the 

possibility of adverse events (e.g. material reduction in investment returns, economic 

downturn and higher inflation outlook) leading to a worsening of the funding position which 

would result in greater volatility of contribution rates at future valuations if these margins 

were not included. This prudence is required by the Regulations and guidance issued by 

professional bodies and Government agencies to assist the Fund in meeting its primary 

solvency and long term cost efficiency objectives. Individual employer results will also 

have regard to their covenant strength, where deemed appropriate by the Administering 

Authority.  

The Regulations 

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (“the 2013 Regulations”), the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 (“the 2014 Transitional Regulations”) and The Local Government 
Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 (all as 
amended) (collectively; “the Regulations”) provide the statutory framework from which the 
Administering Authority is required to prepare a Funding Strategy Statement (FSS).  

  

Return to Contents 

Page 52



Islington Council Pension Fund – 2022 Funding Strategy Statement 

2  

 

The Solvency Objective 

The Administering Authority’s long-term objective is for the Fund to achieve a 100% 

solvency level over a reasonable time period. Contributions are set in relation to this 

objective which means that once 100% solvency is achieved, if assumptions are borne 

out in practice, there would be sufficient assets to pay all benefits earned up to the 

valuation date as they fall due. 

However, because financial and market conditions/outlook change between valuations, 

the assumptions used at one valuation may need to be amended at the next in order to 

meet the Fund’s objective.  This in turn means that contributions will be subject to 

change from one valuation to another. This objective translates to an employer specific 

level when setting individual contribution rates so each employer has the same 

fundamental objective in relation to their liabilities. 

The general principle adopted by the Fund is that the assumptions used, taken as a 

whole, will be chosen with sufficient prudence for this objective to be reasonably 

achieved in the long term at each valuation. 

 

Long Term Cost Efficiency 

Each employer’s contributions are set at such a level to achieve full solvency in a 
reasonable timeframe. Solvency is defined as a level where the Fund’s liabilities i.e. 

benefit payments can be reasonably met as they arise. Employer contributions are also 
set in order to achieve long term cost efficiency. Long term cost-efficiency implies that 

contributions must not be set at a level that is likely to give rise to additional costs in the 
future. For example, deferring costs to the future would be likely to result in those costs 
being greater overall than if they were provided for at the appropriate time. Equally, the 

FSS must have regard to the desirability of maintaining as nearly constant a primary rate 
of contribution as possible. 

 

When formulating the funding strategy, the Administering Authority has taken into account 
these key objectives and also considered the implications of the requirements under 
Section 13(4)(c) of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013.  As part of these requirements 
the Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) must, following an actuarial valuation, report 
on whether the rate of employer contributions to the Fund is set at an appropriate level to 
ensure the “solvency” of the pension fund and “long term cost efficiency" of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (the “LGPS”) so far as relating to the Fund.  

Employer Contributions 

The required levels of employee contributions are specified in the Regulations.  Employer 
contributions are determined in accordance with the Regulations which require that an 
actuarial valuation is completed every three years by the actuary, including a rates and 
adjustments certificate specifying the “primary” and “secondary” rate of the employer’s 
contribution. 

Page 53



 

3  

 

3. Key Funding Principles 

Purpose of the FSS 

Funding is making advance provision to meet the cost of pension and other benefit 
promises. Decisions taken on the funding approach therefore determine the pace at which 
this advance provision is made. Although the Regulations specify the fundamental 
principles on which funding contributions should be assessed, implementation of the 
funding strategy is the responsibility of the Administering Authority, acting on the 
professional advice provided by the actuary. 

The purpose of this Funding Strategy Statement is therefore: 

• to establish a clear and transparent fund-specific strategy which will identify how 
employers’ pension liabilities are best met going forward by taking a prudent longer-
term view of funding those liabilities; 

• to establish contributions at a level to “secure the solvency” of the pension fund and 
the “long term cost efficiency”,  

• to have regard to the desirability of maintaining as nearly constant a primary rate of 
contribution as possible.  

The intention is for this strategy to be both cohesive and comprehensive for the Fund as a 
whole, recognising that there will be conflicting objectives which need to be balanced and 
reconciled. Whilst the position of individual employers must be reflected in the statement, it 
must remain a single strategy for the Administering Authority to implement and maintain. 

The aims of the fund are to: The purpose of the fund is to: 

 manage employers’ liabilities 
effectively and ensure that sufficient 
resources are available to meet all 
liabilities as they fall due 

 enable employer contribution rates 
to be kept at a reasonable and 
affordable cost to the taxpayers, 
scheduled, resolution and admitted 
bodies, while achieving and 
maintaining fund solvency and long 
term cost efficiency, which should 
be assessed in light of the profile of 
the Fund now and in the future due 
to sector changes 

 maximise the returns from 
investments within reasonable risk 
parameters taking into account the 
above aims. 

 receive monies in respect of 
contributions, transfer values and 
investment income, and 

 pay out monies in respect of Fund 
benefits, transfer values, costs, 
charges and expenses as defined in 
the Regulations. 

 

Responsibilities of the key parties 

The efficient and effective management of the Fund can only be achieved if all parties 
exercise their statutory duties and responsibilities conscientiously and diligently. The key 

Return to Contents 

Page 54



 

4  

 

parties for the purposes of the FSS are the Administering Authority (and, in particular the 
Pensions Sub-Committee), the individual employers and the Fund Actuary and details of 
their roles are set out below. Other parties required to play their part in the fund 
management process are bankers, custodians, investment managers, auditors and legal, 
investment and governance advisors, along with the Local Pensions Board created under 
the Public Service Pensions Act 2013. 

Key parties to the FSS 

The Administering Authority 
should: 

The Individual Employer should: 

 operate the pension fund 

 collect employer and employee 
contributions, investment income and 
other amounts due to the pension 
fund as stipulated in the Regulations 

 pay from the pension fund the 
relevant entitlements as stipulated in 
the Regulations 

 invest surplus monies in accordance 
the Regulations 

 ensure that cash is available to meet 
liabilities as and when they fall due 

 take measures as set out in the 
Regulations to safeguard the fund 
against the consequences of 
employer default 

 manage the valuation process in 
consultation with the Fund’s actuary 

 prepare and maintain a FSS and an 
Investment Strategy Statement 
(“ISS), both after proper consultation 
with interested parties, and 

 monitor all aspects of the Fund’s 
performance and funding, amending 
the FSS/ISS as necessary 

 effectively manage any potential 
conflicts of interest arising from its 
dual role as both fund administrator 
and a scheme employer, and  

 establish, support and monitor a 
Local Pension Board (LPB) as 
required by the Public Service 
Pensions Act 2013, the Regulations 
and the Pensions Regulator’s 
relevant Code of Practice. 

 deduct contributions from employees’ pay 
correctly after determining the 
appropriate employee contribution rate (in 
accordance with the Regulations), unless 
they are a Deferred Employer 

 pay all contributions, including their own, 
as determined by the actuary, promptly 
by the due date 

 undertake administration duties in 
accordance with the Pension 
Administration Strategy. 

 develop a policy on certain discretions 
and exercise those discretions as 
permitted within the regulatory framework 

 make additional contributions in 
accordance with agreed arrangements in 
respect of, for example, augmentation of 
Fund benefits, early retirement strain, and 

 have regard to the Pensions Regulator’s 
focus on data quality and comply with any 
requirement set by the Administering 
Authority in this context, and 

 notify the Administering Authority 
promptly of any changes to membership 
which may affect future funding. 

 understand the pension impacts of any 
changes to their organisational structure 
and service delivery model. 

 understand that the quality of the data 
provided to the Fund will directly impact 
on the assessment of the liabilities and 
contributions. In particular, any 
deficiencies in the data would normally 
result in the employer paying higher 
contributions than otherwise would be the 
case if the data was of high quality.  

 

Page 55



 

5  

 

The Fund Actuary should: A Guarantor should: 

 prepare valuations including the 
setting of employers’ contribution 
rates at a level to ensure fund 
solvency after agreeing assumptions 
with the Administering Authority and 
having regard to its FSS and the 
Regulations 

 prepare advice and calculations in 
connection with bulk transfers and 
individual benefit-related matters 
such as such as pension strain costs, 
ill health retirement costs etc.  

 provide advice and valuations on the 
termination of admission agreements 

 provide advice to the Administering 
Authority on bonds and other forms of 
security against the financial effect on 
the Fund of employer default 

 assist the Administering Authority in 
assessing whether employer 
contributions need to be revised 
between valuations as required by 
the Regulations 

 advise the Administering Authority on 
the funding strategy, the preparation 
of the FSS and the inter-relationship 
between the FSS and the ISS, and 

 ensure the Administering Authority is 
aware of any professional guidance 
or other professional requirements 
which may be of relevance to the 
Fund Actuary’s role in advising the 
Fund. 

 notify the Administering Authority 
promptly of any changes to its guarantee 
status, as this may impact on the 
treatment of the employer in the valuation 
process or upon termination.  

 provide details of the agreement, and any 
changes to the agreement, between the 
employer and the guarantor to ensure 
appropriate treatment is applied to any 
calculations. 

 be aware of all guarantees that are 
currently in place 

 work with the Fund and the employer in 
the context of the guarantee 

 receive relevant information on the 
employer and their funding position in 
order to fulfil its obligations as a 
guarantor. 

 

Solvency Funding Target 

Securing the “solvency” and “long term cost efficiency” is a regulatory requirement. To 
meet these requirements, the Administering Authority’s long term funding objective is for 
the Fund to achieve and then maintain sufficient assets to cover 100% of projected 
accrued liabilities (the “funding target”) assessed on an ongoing past service basis 
including allowance for projected final pay where appropriate. In the long term, an 
employer’s total contribution rate would ultimately revert to its Primary rate of contribution. 

Each employer’s contributions are set at such a level to achieve long-term cost efficiency 
and full solvency in a reasonable timeframe. 

The results of the 2022 valuation show the liabilities to be 96% covered by the assets, with 
the funding deficit of £79m being covered by future deficit contributions. 

  

Page 56



 

6  

 

Link to Investment Policy and the Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) 

In assessing the value of the Fund’s liabilities in the valuation, allowance has been made 
for growth asset out-performance as described below, taking into account the investment 
strategy adopted by the Fund, as set out in the ISS. 

The overall strategic asset allocation is set out in the ISS. The current strategy is included 
below. 

 

The investment strategy set out above and individual return expectations on those asset 
classes equate to an overall best estimate average expected return of 3.0% per annum in 
excess of CPI inflation as at 31 March 2022 i.e. a 50/50 chance of achieving this real 
return.  For the purposes of setting a funding strategy however, the Administering Authority 
believes that it is appropriate to take a margin for prudence on these return expectations 
(see further comment in Appendix A).  

Risk Management Strategy 

In the context of managing various aspects of the Fund’s financial risks, the Administering 
Authority will consider implementing investment risk management techniques where 
appropriate (e.g. the Equity Protection policy implemented up until 2020). Further details 
will be set out in the ISS. 

Climate Change [No t e  t h i s  sec t i on  i s  s ub j ec t  t o  f i na l i s a t i on  onc e  the  

gu idance  has  been  p r ov ided ]  

[An important part of the risk analysis underpinning the funding strategy will be to identify 
the impact of climate change transition risk (shorter term) and physical risks (longer term) 
on the potential funding outcomes.  In terms of the current valuation there will be an 
analysis of different climate change scenarios at the Whole Fund level relative to the 
baseline position (i.e. assuming that the funding assumptions are played out).  The output 
will be used, for example, to test whether the funding strategy is sufficiently robust in the 
context of the scenario analysis considered and therefore any potential contribution 
impacts. Where risks to the funding strategy are identified these will be highlighted and a 
judgement made as to how these risks can be mitigated. 

Global Developed 
Equity
42%

Frontier/Emerging 
Market Equity

6%

Private Equity
4%

Property - Core
10%

Property - High 
Lease to Value

11%

Property - Social 
Housing

5%

Infrastructure
11%

Private Debt
11%

Strategic Allocation

Page 57



 

7  

 

The analysis will consider as a minimum the impact on investment returns and inflation 
under the scenarios considered.  One of the scenarios will be consistent with global 
temperature increases of between 1.5 and 2 degrees C above pre-industrial levels. 
Results will be considered over a period of at least 20 years to ensure there is sufficient 
recognition of the transition and physical risks of climate change.  The output of the 
analysis will be considered in the context of investment strategy and employer covenant 
risk in an integrated way.] 

Identification of Risks and Counter-Measures 

The funding of defined benefits is by its nature uncertain. Funding of the Fund is based on 
both financial and demographic assumptions. These assumptions are specified in the 
actuarial valuation report. When actual experience is not in line with the assumptions 
adopted a surplus or shortfall will emerge at the next actuarial assessment and will require 
a subsequent contribution adjustment to bring the funding back into line with the target. 

The Administering Authority has been advised by the Fund Actuary that the greatest risk to 
the funding level is the investment risk inherent in the predominantly equity based strategy, 
so that actual asset out-performance between successive valuations could diverge 
significantly from that assumed in the long term. The Actuary’s formal valuation report 
includes quantification of some of the major risk factors. 

Financial Demographic 

The financial risks are as follows:- 

 Investment markets fail to perform in line 
with expectations 

 Protection and risk management policies 
fail to perform in line with expectations 

 Market outlook moves at variance with 
assumptions 

 Investment Fund Managers fail to 
achieve performance targets over the 
longer term 

 Asset re-allocations in volatile markets 
may lock in past losses 

 Pay and price inflation significantly more 
than anticipated 

 Future underperformance arising as a 
result of participating in the larger asset 
pooling vehicle 

 An employer ceasing to exist without 
prior notification, resulting in a large exit 
credit requirement from the Fund 
impacting on cashflow requirements. 

Any increase in employer contribution rates 
(as a result of these risks) may in turn impact 
on the service delivery of that employer and 
their financial position. 

The demographic risks are as follows:- 

 Future changes in life expectancy 
(longevity) that cannot be predicted with 
any certainty. Increasing longevity is 
something which government policies, 
both national and local, are designed to 
promote. It does, however, potentially 
result in a greater liability for pension 
funds. 

 Potential strains from ill health retirements, 
over and above what is allowed for in the 
valuation assumptions for employers  

 Unanticipated acceleration of the maturing 
of the Fund resulting in materially negative 
cashflows and shortening of liability 
durations. The Administering Authority 
regularly monitors the position in terms of 
cashflow requirements and considers the 
impact on the investment strategy 

Early retirements for reasons of redundancy 
and efficiency do not affect the solvency of the 
Fund because they are the subject of a direct 
charge.  

Page 58



 

8  

 

Financial Demographic 

In practice the extent to which these risks can 
be reduced is limited. However, the Fund’s 
asset allocation is kept under constant review 
and the performance of the investment 
managers is regularly monitored. 

 

Governance Regulatory 

The Fund has done as much as it believes it 
reasonably can to enable employing bodies 
and Fund members (via their representatives 
on the Local Pension Board) to make their 
views known to the Fund and to participate in 
the decision-making process.  

Governance risks are as follows:- 

 The quality of membership data 
deteriorates materially due to breakdown 
in processes for updating the information 
resulting in liabilities being under or 
overstated 

 Administering Authority unaware of 
structural changes in employer’s 
membership (e.g. large fall in employee 
numbers, large number of retirements) 
with the result that contribution rates are 
set at too low a level 

 Administering Authority not advised of an 
employer closing to new entrants, 
something which would normally require 
an increase in contribution rates 

 An employer ceasing to exist with 
insufficient funding or adequacy of a 
bond. 

 An employer ceasing to exist without 
prior notification, resulting in a large exit 
credit requirement from the Fund 
impacting on cashflow requirements. 

 Changes in the Committee membership. 

For these risks to be minimised much 
depends on information being supplied to the 
Administering Authority by the employing 
bodies. Arrangements are strictly controlled 
and monitored but in most cases the 
employer, rather than the Fund as a whole, 
bears the risk. 

The key regulatory risks are as follows:- 

 Changes to Regulations, e.g. changes to 
the benefits package, retirement age, 
potential new entrants to the Fund, 
Typically these would be via the Cost 
Management Process although in light of 
the McCloud discrimination case, there 
can be exceptional circumstances which 
give rise to unexpected changes in 
Regulations.  

 Changes to national pension requirements 
and/or HMRC Rules 

 Political risk that the guarantee from the 
Department for Education for academies is 
removed or modified along with the 
operational risks as a consequence of the 
potential for a large increase in the number 
of academies in the Fund due to 
Government policy.  

Membership of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme is open to all local government staff 
and should be encouraged as a valuable part 
of the contract of employment. However, 
increasing membership does result in higher 
employer monetary costs.  

 

Page 59



 

9  

 

 

Monitoring and Review 

A full review of this Statement will occur no less frequently than every 3 years, to coincide 
with completion of a full statutory actuarial valuation and every review of employer rates or 
interim valuation. Any review will take account of the current economic conditions and will 
also reflect any legislative changes. 

The Administering Authority will monitor the progress of the funding strategy between full 
actuarial valuations. If considered appropriate, the funding strategy will be reviewed (other 
than as part of the valuation process), for example, if there: 

 has been a significant change in market conditions, and/or deviation in the progress 
of the funding strategy 

 have been significant changes to the Scheme membership, or LGPS benefits 

 have been changes to the circumstances of any of the employing authorities to 
such an extent that they impact on or warrant a change in the funding strategy 

 have been any significant special contributions paid into the Fund 

 if there have been material changes in the ISS 

When monitoring the funding strategy, if the Administering Authority considers that any 
action is required, the relevant employers will be contacted. Further details on the 
circumstances in which the Administering Authority will review individual employer 
contribution rates in between actuarial valuations can be found in Appendix F.  

Page 60



 

1 0  

 

Appendix A –  
Actuarial method and assumptions 
 

The key whole Fund assumptions used for calculating the funding target and the cost of 
future accrual for the 2022 actuarial valuation are set out below. 

Financial Assumptions 

 2022 valuation 
assumption 

Description 

Investment 
return / 
discount 
rate  

4.65% p.a. (past) and 
5.10% p.a. (future) 

Derived from the expected return on the Fund 
assets based on the long term strategy set out in 
the ISS, including appropriate margins for 
prudence.  For the 2022 valuation this is based 
on an assumed return of 1.55% p.a. above CPI 
inflation (past) and 2.0% p.a. above CPI inflation 
(future).  This real return will be reviewed from 
time to time based on the investment strategy, 
market outlook and the Fund’s overall risk 
metrics. 

Where warranted by an employer’s 
circumstances, the Administering Authority 
retains the discretion to apply a discount rate 
based on a lower risk investment strategy for that 
employer to protect the Fund as a whole. Such 
cases will be determined by the Section 151 
Officer and reported to the Committee.   

Inflation 
(Retail 
Prices 
Index) 

3.90% p.a. The investment market’s expectation as indicated 
by the difference between yields derived from 
market instruments, principally conventional and 
index-linked UK Government gilts as at the 
valuation date (reflecting the profile and duration 
of the whole Fund’s accrued liabilities). 

Inflation 
(Consumer 
Prices 
Index) 

3.10% p.a. (includes 
an adjustment of 

0.80% p.a.) 

RPI inflation (above) reduced to reflect the 
expected long-term difference between RPI and 
CPI measures of inflation (reflecting the profile 
and duration of the whole Fund’s accrued 
liabilities and 2030 RPI reform) and adjusted to 
incorporate an Inflation Risk Premium (“IRP”). 
This varies for the ongoing and low risk 
termination basis, reflecting the degree of inflation 
hedging inherent in the notional termination basis 
and will also reflect the duration of an employer’s 
liabilities in the case of a low risk termination 
calculation. 

Return to Contents 

Page 61



 

1 1  

 

The adjustment to the RPI inflation assumption 
will be reviewed from time to time to take into 
account any market factors which affect the 
estimate of CPI inflation.  

Salary 
increases 

(long-term) 

4.60% p.a. Pre 1 April 2014 benefits (and 2014 to 2022 
McCloud underpin) - the assumption for real 
salary increases (salary increases in excess of 
price inflation) will be determined by an allowance 
of 1.50% p.a. over the inflation assumption as 
described above.  This includes allowance for 
promotional increases.   

Pension 
Increases 
and 
Deferred 
Revaluation 

Assumed to be in line with the CPI inflation assumption above (noting that 
pension increases cannot be negative as pensions cannot be reduced). 
At the 2022 valuation, an adjustment has been made to the liabilities to 
allow for the known inflation for the period 30 September 2021 to 31 
March 2022, and where material, allowance will continue to be made for 
inflation as it emerges when assessing funding positions between 
valuations. 

Indexation 
of CARE 
benefits 

Assumed to be in line with the CPI inflation assumption above. For 
members in pensionable employment, indexation of CARE benefits can 
be less than zero (i.e. a reduction in benefits). 

 

Demographic Assumptions 

Mortality/Life Expectancy 

The derivation of the mortality assumption is set out in separate advice as supplied by the 
Actuary. The mortality in retirement assumptions will be based on the most up-to-date 
information in relation to self-administered pension schemes published by the Continuous 
Mortality Investigation (CMI) including a loading reflecting Fund specific experience and 
will make allowance for future improvements in longevity and the experience of the 
scheme.  A specific mortality assumption has also been adopted for current members who 
retire on the grounds of ill health.  

For all members, it is assumed that the trend in longevity seen over recent time periods 
(as evidenced in the 2021 CMI analysis) will continue in the longer term and as such, the 
assumptions build in a level of longevity ‘improvement’ year on year in the future in line 
with the CMI 2021 projections and a long term improvement trend of 1.75% per annum.  

As an indication of impact, we have set out the life expectancies at age 65 based on the 
2019 and 2022 assumptions: 

Page 62



 

1 2  

 

 Male Life Expectancy at 
65 

Female Life Expectancy at 
65 

2019 2022 2019 2022 

Pensioners 22.6 21.9 25.1 24.1 

Actives aged 45 now 24.1 23.4 27.0 26.2 

Deferreds aged 45 now 22.8 22.8 25.9 25.7 

 

For example, a male pensioner, currently aged 65, would be expected to live to age 86.9. 
Whereas a male active member aged 45 would be expected to live until age 88.4. The 
difference reflects the expected increase in life expectancy over the next 20 years in the 
assumptions above.  

The mortality before retirement has also been reviewed based on LGPS wide experience. 

The post retirement mortality tables adopted for this valuation are set out below: 

Current Status Retirement Type Mortality Table 

Annuitant Normal Health 108% S3PMA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

102% S3PFA_M_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

Dependant 131% S3PMA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

114% S3DFA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

Ill Health 131% S3IMA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

151% S3IFA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

Future 
Dependant 

131% S3PMA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

114% S3DFA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

Active Normal Health 115% S3PMA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

103% S3PFA_M_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

Ill Health 243% S3IMA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

322% S3IFA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

Deferred All 124% S3PMA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

110% S3PFA_M_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

Page 63



 

1 3  

 

Future Dependant Dependant 131% S3PMA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

119% S3DFA_CMI_2021 [1.75%] 

 

Other Demographic Assumptions  

Commutation Following analysis undertaken by the Actuary, it has been assumed 
that all retiring members will take 75% of the maximum tax-free cash 
available at retirement. The option which members have to commute 
part of their pension at retirement in return for a lump sum is a rate 
of £12 cash for each £1 p.a. of pension given up.  

Other 
Demographics 

Alongside commutation, as part of the 31 March 2022 valuation, the 
Actuary has carried out analysis to review the assumptions relating 
to: the incidence of ill health retirements, withdrawal rates, the 
proportions married/civil partnership assumption, and also the 
probability of member’s dying prior to retirement. Following the 
outcomes of this analysis, the assumptions for proportions 
married/civil partnerships and the pre-retirement mortality have been 
updated in line with the recommendations from the Actuary. All other 
assumptions remain in line with the assumptions adopted for the last 
valuation. In addition, no allowance will be made for the future take-
up of the 50:50 option.  Where any member has actually opted for 
the 50:50 scheme, this will be allowed for in the assessment of the 
rate for the next 3 years. 

Expenses Expenses are met out of the Fund, in accordance with the 
Regulations. This is allowed for by adding 0.9% of pensionable pay 
to the contributions from participating employers. This is reassessed 
at each valuation. Investment expenses have been allowed for 
implicitly in determining the discount rates. 

Discretionary 
Benefits 

The costs of any discretion exercised by an employer in order to 
enhance benefits for a member through the Fund will be subject to 
additional contributions from the employer as required by the 
Regulations as and when the event occurs.  As a result, no 
allowance for such discretionary benefits has been made in the 
valuation. 

 

Further details on the demographic assumptions are set out in the Actuary’s formal report. 

Method 

The actuarial method to be used in the calculation of the solvency funding target is the 
Projected Unit method, under which the salary increases assumed for each member are 
projected until that member is assumed to leave active service by death, retirement or 
withdrawal from service. This method implicitly allows for new entrants to the Fund on the 
basis that the overall age profile of the active membership will remain stable. As a result, 
for those employers which are closed to new entrants, alternative methods are adopted, 
which make advance allowance for the anticipated future ageing and decline of the current Page 64



 

1 4  

 

closed membership group potentially over the period of the rates and adjustments 
certificate. 

The assumptions to be used in the calculation of the funding target are set out above.  
Underlying these assumptions are the following two tenets: 

 that the Fund is expected to continue for the foreseeable future; and 

 favourable investment performance can play a valuable role in achieving adequate 
funding over the longer term. 

This allows the Fund to take a longer term view when assessing the contribution 
requirements for certain employers. 

There will be a funding plan for each employer. In determining contribution requirements 
the Administering Authority, based on the advice of the Actuary, will consider whether the 
funding plan adopted for an employer is reasonably likely to be successful having regard 
to the particular circumstances of that employer (potentially taking into account any 
material changes after the valuation date up to 31 March 2023). 

As part of each valuation separate employer contribution rates are assessed by the Fund 
Actuary for each participating employer or group of employers. As indicated above, these 
rates are assessed taking into account the experience and circumstances of each 
employer, following a principle of no cross-subsidy between the distinct employers in the 
Fund.  

Method and assumptions used in calculating the cost of future accrual 
(or primary rate) 

The future service liabilities are calculated using the same assumptions as the solvency 
funding target except that a different financial assumption for the discount rate is used.  A 
critical aspect here is that the Regulations state the desirability of keeping the “Primary 
Rate” (which is the future service rate) as stable as possible so this needs to be taken into 
account when setting the assumptions. 

As future service contributions are paid in respect of benefits built up in the future, the 
Primary Rate should take account of the market conditions applying at future dates, not 
just the date of the valuation, thus it is justifiable to use a slightly higher expected return 
from the investment strategy.  In addition, the future liabilities for which these contributions 
will be paid have a longer average duration than the past service liabilities as they relate to 
active members only.   

Employer asset shares 

The Fund is a multi-employer pension Fund that is not formally unitised and so individual 
employer asset shares are calculated at each actuarial valuation.  This means it is 
necessary to make some approximations in the timing of cashflows and allocation of 
investment returns when deriving the employer asset share. 

In attributing the overall investment performance obtained on the assets of the Fund to 
each employer a pro-rata principle is adopted. This approach is effectively one of applying 
a notional individual employer investment strategy identical to that adopted for the Fund as 
a whole unless agreed otherwise between the employer and the Fund at the sole 
discretion of the Administering Authority. 

Page 65



 

1 5  

 

At each review, cashflows into and out of the Fund relating to each employer, any 
movement of members between employers within the Fund, along with investment return 
earned on the asset share, are allowed for when calculating asset shares at each 
valuation. In addition, the asset share maybe restated for changes in data or other policies. 

Other adjustments are also made on account of the funding positions of orphan bodies 
which fall to be met by all other active employers in the Fund.  

Other factors affecting employer contribution outcomes 

Notwithstanding the policies below, the Administering Authority, in consultation with the 
actuary where necessary, reserves the right to consider whether any exceptional 
arrangements should apply in particular cases. 

Covenant: The strength of employer covenant can be subject to substantial variation over 
relatively short periods of time and, as such, regular monitoring and assessment is vital to 
the overall risk management and governance of the Fund. The employers’ covenants will 
be assessed and monitored objectively in a proportionate manner, and an employer’s 
ability to meet their obligations in the short and long term will be considered when 
determining its funding strategy.   

After the valuation, the Fund may continue to monitor employer’s covenants in conjunction 
with their funding positions over the inter-valuation period. This will enable the Fund to 
anticipate and pre-empt any material issues arising and thus adopt a proactive approach in 
partnership with the employer. 

Stability: Subject to affordability considerations (and any change emerging to the Primary 
Rate) a key principle will be to maintain the deficit contributions at least at the expected 
monetary levels from the preceding valuation (including any indexation in these monetary 
payments over the recovery period) where deficits remain, unless there is a specific 
reason not to do so. As set out in Appendix B, for those employers in surplus, surplus 
offset secondary contributions will only be permitted in certain circumstances. 

Contribution Increases: It is acknowledged by the Administering Authority that, whilst 
posing a relatively low risk to the Fund as a whole, a number of smaller employers may be 
faced with significant contribution increases that could seriously affect their ability to 
function in the future.  The Administering Authority therefore may in some cases be willing 
to use its discretion to accept an evidence based affordable level of contributions for such 
organisations for the three years 2023/2026.  Any application of this option is at the 
ultimate discretion of the Fund officers and Section 151 officer in order to effectively 
manage risk across the Fund. It will only be considered after the provision of the 
appropriate evidence as part of the covenant assessment and also the appropriate 
professional advice. 

For those bodies identified as having a weaker covenant, the Administering Authority will 
need to balance the level of risk plus the solvency requirements of the Fund with the 
sustainability of the organisation when agreeing funding plans.  As a minimum, the annual 
deficit payment must meet the on-going interest costs to ensure, everything else being 
equal, that the deficit does not increase in monetary terms. 

Phasing: Where there is a material increase in total (i.e. both primary and secondary rate 
combined) contributions required at this valuation, in certain circumstances, the employer 
may be able to “phase in” contributions over a maximum period of 3 years in a pattern 

Page 66



 

1 6  

 

agreed with the Administering Authority and depending on the affordability of contributions 
as assessed in the covenant review of an employer. 

Pooling Where agreed by the Administering Authority, the contribution rate outcomes for 
certain employers may be pooled together, with a single contribution rate being certified by 
the Actuary in the Rates and Adjustments Certificate e.g. for Multi-Academy Trusts who 
have a number of different constituent academies within the Fund (as per Appendix E). It 
should be noted that contributions will still be allocated to the individual employers by the 
administration team. 

Insurance: The contributions for any employer may be varied as agreed by the Actuary 
and Administering Authority to reflect any changes in contribution requirements as a result 
of any benefit costs being insured with a third party or internally within the Fund.   

Prepayments: Employers may also wish to make prepayments of contributions which 
could result in a cash saving over the valuation certificate period. Further details of the 
potential savings will be set out in the Rates and Adjustments Certificate produced by the 
Actuary. Any employers who prepay Primary Rate contributions will also be required to 
make “top-up” payments should actual payroll be higher than that assumed when making 
the prepayment to ensure no underpayment emerges. 

Early Retirement Strain Costs: Any “strain” costs generated as a result of redundancy, 
efficiency or flexible retirements will be recovered by additional capital payments to the 
Fund by the employer. These will be paid in full at the point of retirement. In certain 
situations, depending on the covenant of the employer and at the discretion of the 
Administrative Authority, an alternative payment structure may be agreed.  

Deaths: The extent to which any funding strain/profit emerges on the death of a member 
will depend on the profile of the member (status / age / whether any dependant’s benefits 
become payable) and impacts can be material. Any funding strain/profit will typically 
emerge at the next actuarial valuation through increased/reduced deficit contributions, 
except where the employer is terminating, when it will be taken into account when the 
Actuary determines the termination position.   

Page 67



 

1 7  

 

Appendix B –  
Deficit recovery and surplus offset 
plans 
 

Employer Recovery Plans – key principles 

If the funding level of an employer is below 100% at the valuation date (i.e. the assets of 
the employer are less than the liabilities), a deficit recovery plan needs to be implemented 
such that additional contributions are paid into the Fund to meet the shortfall. 

The maximum/average recovery period for the Fund as a whole is 16 years at this 
valuation which is 3 years shorter than the maximum/average recovery period from the 
previous valuation. Subject to affordability and other considerations individual employer 
recovery periods would also be expected to reduce at this valuation. 

Secondary Rate contributions for each employer will be expressed as £s amounts 
increasing at 4.6% per annum (in line with the Fund’s long-term pay growth assumption) 
and it is the Fund’s objective that any funding deficit is eliminated as quickly as the 
participating employers can reasonably afford given other competing cost pressures, 
based on the Administering Authority’s view of the employer’s covenant and risk to the 
Fund.  

Recovery periods will be set by the Fund on a consistent basis across employer categories 
where possible and communicated as part of discussions with employers. This will 
determine the minimum contribution requirement and employers will be free to select any 
shorter deficit recovery period and higher contributions if they wish, including the option of 
prepaying the deficit contributions in one lump sum either on an annual basis or a one-off 
payment. This will be reflected in the monetary amount requested via a reduction in overall 
£ deficit contributions payable. 

The determination of the recovery periods is summarised in the table below: 

Category 
Default Deficit Recovery 

Period 
Derivation 

Scheme Employers 13 years 

Determined by maintaining 
the period from the 
preceding valuation and to 
ensure, where appropriate, 
contributions do not 
reduce versus those 
expected from the existing 
recovery plan. For certain 
employers, subject to the 
agreement of the 
administering authority, 
depending on affordability 
and other considerations, 
a maximum recovery 

Return to Contents 

Page 68



 

1 8  

 

period of up 16 years may 
be applied 

Open Admitted Bodies 13 years 

Determined by maintaining 
the period from the 
preceding valuation and to 
ensure, where appropriate, 
contributions do not 
reduce versus those 
expected from the existing 
recovery plan. 

Closed Employers 
Lower of 13 years and the 
future working lifetime of 

the membership 

Determined by maintaining 
the period from the 
preceding valuation and to 
ensure, where appropriate, 
contributions do not 
reduce versus those 
expected from the existing 
recovery plan. 

Employers with a limited 
participation in the Fund 

Determined on a case by 
case basis 

Length of expected period 
of participation in the 
Fund. Generally for those 
employers providing a 
service this will be contract 
length. 

   

In determining the actual recovery period to apply for any particular employer or employer 
grouping, the Administering Authority may take into account some or all of the following 
factors: 

• The size of the funding shortfall; 

• The business plans of the employer; 

• The assessment of the financial covenant of the Employer, and security of future 
income streams; 

• Any contingent security available to the Fund or offered by the Employer such as 
guarantor or bond arrangements, charge over assets, etc. 

The objective is to recover any deficit over a reasonable timeframe, and this will be 
periodically reviewed. Subject to affordability considerations a key principle will be to 
maintain broadly the deficit contributions at the expected monetary levels from the 
preceding valuation (allowing for any indexation in these monetary payments over the 
recovery period), taking into account any changes in the future service contribution 
requirements. 

Other factors affecting the employer deficit recovery plans 

As part of the process of agreeing funding plans with individual employers and managing 
risk in the inter-valuation period, the Administering Authority will consider the use of 
contingent assets and other tools such as bonds or guarantees that could assist employing 
bodies in managing the cost of their liabilities or could provide the Fund with greater Page 69



 

1 9  

 

security against outstanding liabilities.  All other things equal this could result in a longer 
recovery period being acceptable to the Administering Authority, although employers will 
still be expected to at least cover expected interest costs on the deficit. 

Surplus offset plans 

For those employers assessed to be in surplus at the valuation date, surplus offsets won’t 
be available to those with a funding level of less than 110%. For those with funding levels 
greater than 110%, surplus offsets will be based on the surplus above 110% only. Surplus 
off-sets will be allowed only where there is no deficit on the termination basis. 

For any employers assessed to be in surplus at the valuation date, where surplus offsets 
will be payable, and who are expected to exit the Fund in the period to 31 March 2026 the 
Secondary rate payments will be based on the expected length of participation in the 
Fund. For all other employers assessed to be in surplus at the valuation date, the 
Secondary rate will based on the default recovery period of 16 years, unless otherwise 
agreed by the Administering Authority. 

Administering Authority Discretion 

Notwithstanding the above, the Administering Authority, in consultation with the actuary, 
has also had to consider whether any exceptional arrangements should apply in particular 
cases when determining deficit recovery/surplus offset plans. 

  

Page 70



 

2 0  

 

Appendix C –  
Employer types and admission policy 
 

Entry to the Fund 

Mandatory Scheme Employers 

Certain employing bodies are required to join the scheme under the Regulations. These 
bodies include tax raising bodies, those funded by central government (academies and 
colleges) and universities (reliant on non-government income). Please also refer to 
Appendix E in relation to academies. 

Designating Bodies 

Designating bodies are permitted to join the scheme if they pass a resolution to this effect.  
Designating bodies, other than connected entities, are not required under the Regulations 
to provide a guarantee.  These bodies usually have tax raising powers and include Parish 
and Town Councils. 

Admission Bodies 

An admitted body is an employer which, if it satisfies certain regulatory criteria, can apply 
to participate in the Fund. If its application is accepted by the administering authority, it will 
then have an “admission agreement”. In accordance with the Regulations, the admission 
agreement sets out the conditions of participation of the admitted body including which 
employees (or categories of employees) are eligible to be members of the Fund.  

Admitted bodies can join the Fund if  

• They provide a service for a scheme employer as a result of an outsourcing 
(formerly known as Transferee Admission Bodies) 

• They provide some form of public service and their funding in most cases derives 
primarily from local or central government. In reality they take many different forms 
but the one common element is that they are “not for profit” organisations (formerly 
known as Community Admission Bodies). 

Admitted bodies may only join the Fund if they are guaranteed by a scheme employer. 
When the agreement or service provision ceases, the Fund’s policy is that in all cases it 
will look to recover any outstanding deficit from the outgoing body unless appropriate 
instruction is received from the outsourcing employer or guaranteeing employer, in which 
case the assets and liabilities of the admission body will in revert to the outsourcing 
scheme employer or guaranteeing employer.   

Connected Entities  

Connected entities by definition have close ties to a scheme employer given that a 
connected entity is included in the financial statements of the scheme employer.   

Although connected entities are “Designating Bodies” under the Regulations, they have 
similar characteristics to admitted bodies (in that there is an “outsourcing employer”).  
However, the Regulations do not strictly require such bodies to have a guarantee from a 
scheme employer.  

Return to Contents 

Page 71



 

2 1  

 

However, to limit the risk to the Fund, the Fund will require that the scheme employer 
provides a guarantee for their connected entity, in order that the ongoing funding basis will 
be applied to value the liabilities.  

Second Generation outsourcings for staff not employed by the Scheme 
Employer contracting the services to an admitted body 

A 2nd generation outsourcing is one where a service is being outsourced for the second 
time, usually after the previous contract has come to an end. For Best Value Authorities, 
principally the unitary authorities, they are bound by The Best Value Authorities Staff 
Transfers (Pensions) Direction 2007 so far as 2nd generation outsourcings are concerned. 
In the case of most other employing bodies, they should have regard to Fair Deal 
Guidance issued by the Government. 

It is usually the case that where services have previously been outsourced, the transferees 
are employees of the contractor as opposed to the original scheme employer and as such 
will transfer from one contractor to another without being re-employed by the original 
scheme employer. There are even instances where staff can be transferred from one 
contractor to another without ever being employed by the outsourcing scheme employer 
that is party to the Admission Agreement. This can occur when one employing body takes 
over the responsibilities of another, such as a maintained school (run by the local 
education authority) becoming an academy. In this instance the contracting body is termed 
a ‘Related Employer’ for the purposes of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations and is obliged to guarantee the pension liabilities incurred by the contractor. 
These liabilities relate both to any staff whom it may be outsourcing for the first time and to 
any staff who may be transferring from one contractor to another having previously been 
employed by a scheme employer prior to the initial outsourcing  

“Related employer” is defined as “any Scheme employer or other such contracting body 
which is a party to the admission agreement (other than an administering authority in its 
role as an administering authority)”.  

Risk Assessments 

Prior to admission to the Fund, an Admitted Body is required to carry out an assessment of 
the level of risk on premature termination of the contract to the satisfaction of the 
Administering Authority. If the risk assessment and/or bond amount is not to the 
satisfaction of the Administering Authority (as required under the LGPS Regulations) it will 
consider and determine whether the admission body must pre-fund for termination with 
contribution requirements assessed using the low risk termination methodology and 
assumptions. 

Some aspects that the Administering Authority may consider when deciding whether to 
apply a low risk methodology are: 

• Uncertainty over the security of the organisation’s funding sources e.g. the body 
relies on voluntary or charitable sources of income or has no external funding 
guarantee/reserves; 

• If the admitted body has an expected limited lifespan of participation in the Fund; 

• The average age of employees to be admitted and whether the admission is closed 
to new joiners. 

In order to protect other Fund employers, where it has been considered undesirable to 
provide a bond, a guarantee must be sought in line with the LGPS Regulations. Page 72



 

2 2  

 

Admitted Bodies providing a service 

Generally Admitted Bodies providing a service will have a guarantor within the Fund that 
will stand behind the liabilities. Accordingly, in general, the low risk approach to funding 
and termination will not apply for these bodies. 

As above, the Admitted Body is required to carry out an assessment of the level of risk on 
premature termination of the contract to the satisfaction of the Administering Authority. 
This assessment would normally be based on advice in the form of a “risk assessment 
report” provided by the actuary to the Fund. As the Scheme Employer is effectively the 
ultimate guarantor for these admissions to the Fund it must also be satisfied (along with 
the Administering Authority) over the level (if any) of any bond requirement. Where bond 
agreements are to the satisfaction of the Administering Authority, the level of the bond 
amount will be subject to review on a regular basis. 

In the absence of any other specific agreement between the parties, deficit recovery 
periods for Admitted Bodies will be set in line with the Fund’s general policy as set out in 
Appendix B. 

Any risk sharing arrangements agreed between the Scheme Employer and the Admitted 
Body will be documented in the commercial agreement between the two parties and not 
the admission agreement. 

In the event of termination of the Admitted Body, any orphan liabilities in the Fund will be 
subsumed by the relevant Scheme Employer. 

An exception to the above policy applies if the guarantor is not a participating employer 
within the Fund, including if the guarantor is a participating employer within another LGPS 
Fund. In order to protect other employers within the Fund the Administering Authority may 
in this case treat the admission body as pre-funding for termination, with contribution 
requirements assessed using the low risk methodology and assumptions. 

Contribution Rate Assessments 

Where there are less than 5 members transferring at the point of admission, unless agreed 
otherwise with the Administering Authority, the initial contribution rate payable from the 
date of admission, will be set in line the corresponding contribution rate payable by the 
letting employer towards future service benefit accrual. The initial rate will apply until the 
actuarial valuation following the date of admission when the new admitted body’s 
contribution requirements will be fully reassessed. 

In all other situations, unless agreed otherwise with the Administering Authority, the 
Actuary will undertake an assessment of the required contribution rate payable by the new 
admitted body. 

Pre-Funding for termination 

An employing body may choose to pre-fund for termination i.e. to amend their funding 
approach to a low risk methodology and assumptions. This will substantially reduce the 
risk of an uncertain and potentially large debt being due to the Fund at termination due to 
the use of a notional matching investment strategy (see below).  However, it is also likely 
to give rise to a substantial increase in contribution requirements, when assessed on the 
low risk basis. 

For any employing bodies funding on such a low risk strategy a notional investment 
strategy will be assumed as a match to the liabilities. In particular, the employing body’s Page 73



 

2 3  

 

notional asset share of the Fund will be credited with an investment return in line with the 
low risk funding assumptions adopted rather than the actual investment return generated 
by the actual asset portfolio of the entire Fund. The Fund reserves the right to modify this 
approach in any case where it might materially affect the finances of the Fund, or 
depending on any case specific circumstances. 

Page 74



 

2 4  

 

Appendix D –  
Termination policy, flexibility for exit 
payments and Deferred Debt 
Agreements 
 

Exiting the Fund 

Termination of an employer’s participation 

When an employer’s participation in the Fund comes to its end, or is prematurely 
terminated for any reason (e.g. a contract with a local authority comes to an end or the 
employer chooses to voluntarily cease participation), employees may transfer to another 
employer, either within the Fund or elsewhere.  If this is not the case the employees will 
retain pension rights within the Fund i.e. either deferred benefits or immediate retirement 
benefits.   

In addition to any liabilities for current employees the Fund will also retain liability for 
payment of benefits to former employees, i.e. to existing deferred and pensioner members 
except where there is a complete transfer of responsibility to another Fund with a different 
Administering Authority. 

Where the Fund obtains advance notice that an employer’s participation is coming to an 
end, the Regulations enable the Fund to commission a funding assessment leading to a 
revised contribution certificate which is designed to eliminate, as far as possible, any 
surplus or deficit by the cessation date. 

Whether or not an interim contribution adjustment has been initiated once participation in 
the Fund has ceased, the employer becomes an exiting employer under the Regulations 
and the Fund is then required to obtain an actuarial valuation of that employer’s liabilities 
in respect of benefits of the exiting employer’s current and former employees along with a 
revision of the rates and adjustment certificate showing any contributions due from the 
admission body.    

When an employer exits the Fund, as an alternative to requiring an immediate payment in 
full, the Regulations give power to the Fund to set a repayment plan to recover the 
outstanding debt over a period at its sole discretion and this will depend on the affordability 
of the repayments and financial strength of the exiting employer.  Once this repayment 
plan is set the payments would not be reviewed for changes in the funding position due to 
market or demographic factors.  

The Fund’s policy for termination payment plans is as follows: 

• The default position is for exit payments and exit credits to be paid immediately in full 
unless agreed otherwise with the relevant parties.  

• At the discretion of the administering authority, instalment plans over a defined period 
will only be agreed when there are issues of affordability that risk the financial viability of 
the organisation and the ability of the Fund to recover the debt (see further details 
below). 

Return to Contents 

Page 75



 

2 5  

 

• Any costs associated with the exit valuation will be paid by the employer by either 
increasing the exit payment or reducing the exit credit by the appropriate amount.  In 
the case of an employer where the exit debt/credit is the responsibility of the original 
employer through a risk sharing agreement the costs will be charged directly to the 
employer unless the original employer directs otherwise. 

In the event that unfunded liabilities arise that cannot be recovered from the exiting 
employer, these will normally fall to be met by the Fund as a whole (i.e. all employers) 
unless there is a guarantor or successor body within the Fund. 

Basis of Termination 

Whilst reserving the right to consider options on a case by case basis, the Fund’s policy is 
that a termination assessment will be made based on low risk funding basis, unless the 
employing body has a guarantor within the Fund or a successor body exists to take over 
the employing body’s liabilities (including those for former employees). This is to protect 
the other employers in the Fund as, at termination, the employing body’s liabilities will 
become orphan liabilities within the Fund, and there will be no recourse to it if a shortfall 
emerges in the future (after participation has terminated). 

For all termination cases, the underlying assumptions adopted for individual employers will 
be based on the approximate duration of that employer’s liabilities. 

Details of the low risk funding basis are shown below. 

If, instead, the employing body has a guarantor within the Fund or a successor body exists 
to take over the employing body’s liabilities, the Fund’s policy is that the valuation funding 
basis will be used for the termination assessment unless the guarantor informs the Fund 
otherwise. The guarantor or successor body will then, following any termination payment 
made, subsume the assets and liabilities of the employing body within the Fund. (For 
Admission Bodies, this process is sometimes known as the “novation” of the admission 
agreement.) This may, if agreed by the successor body, constitute a complete 
amalgamation of assets and liabilities to the successor body, including any funding deficit 
(or surplus) on closure.  In these circumstances no termination payment will be required 
from (or made to) the outgoing employing body itself, as the deficit (or surplus) would be 
recovered via the successor body’s own deficit recovery plan. 

It is possible under certain circumstances that an employer can apply to transfer all assets 
and current and former members’ benefits to another LGPS Fund in England and Wales.   
In these cases, no termination assessment is required as there will no longer be any 
orphan liabilities in the Fund.  Therefore, a separate assessment of the assets to be 
transferred will be required. 

Whether or not the termination liabilities are assessed on the valuation funding basis or the 
low risk termination basis, the liabilities will also include an allowance for estimated future 
administrative expenses in relation to any remaining members on termination.   

Implementation  

Admission bodies participating by virtue of a contractual arrangement 

For employers that are guaranteed by a guarantor (usually the original employer or letting 
authority), the Fund’s policy at the point of cessation is for the guarantor to subsume the 
residual assets, liabilities and any surplus or deficit under the default policy. In some 
instances an exit debt may be payable by an employer before the assets and liabilities are 

Page 76



 

2 6  

 

subsumed by the guarantor, this will be considered on a case-by-case basis.  No payment 
of an exit credit will be payable unless representation is made as set out below. 

If there is any dispute, then the following arrangements will apply: 

• In the case of a surplus, in line with the amending Regulations (The Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Amendment) Regulations 2020) the parties will 
need to make representations to the Administering Authority if they believe an Exit 
Credit should be paid outside the policy set out above, or if they dispute the 
determination of the Administering Authority.  The Fund will notify the parties of the 
information required to make the determination on request. 

• If the Fund determines an Exit Credit is payable then they will pay this directly to the 
exiting employer within 6 months of completion of the final cessation assessment by 
the Actuary.  

 
• In the case of a deficit, in order to maintain a consistent approach, the Fund will seek to 

recover this from the exiting employer in the first instance although if this is not possible 
then the deficit will be recovered from the guarantor either as a further contribution 
collection or at the next valuation. 

If requested, the Administering Authority will provide details of the information considered 
as part of the determination.  A determination notice will be provided alongside the 
termination assessment from the Actuary. The notice will cover the following information 
and process steps: 

1. Details of the employers involved in the process (e.g. the exiting employer and 
guarantor). 

2. Details of the admission agreement, commercial contracts and any amendments to 
the terms that have been made available to the Administering Authority and 
considered as part of the decision making process. The underlying principle will be 
that if an employer is responsible for a deficit, they will be eligible for any surplus. 
This is subject to the information provided and any risk sharing arrangements in 
place.  

3. The final termination certification of the exit credit by the Actuary.  
4. The Administering Authority’s determination based on the information provided. 
5. Details of the appeals process in the event that a party disagrees with the 

determination and wishes to make representations to the Administering Authority. 

In some instances, the outgoing employer may only be responsible for part of the residual 
deficit or surplus as per the separate risk sharing agreement. The default is that any 
surplus would be retained by the Fund in favour of the outsourcing employer/guarantor 
unless representation is made by the relevant parties in line with the Regulations as noted 
above. For the avoidance of doubt, where the outgoing employer is not responsible for any 
costs under a risk sharing agreement then no exit credit will be paid as per the Regulations 
unless the Fund is aware of the provisions of the risk sharing agreement in any 
representation made and determines an exit credit should be paid.  

The Government has confirmed that a remedy is required for the LGPS in relation to the 
McCloud judgment. [Final regulations are awaited]. Where a surplus or deficit isn’t being 
subsumed, an allowance will be made for McCloud within the calculations consistent with 
the allowance made for the 2022 valuation. For the avoidance of doubt, there will be no 
recourse for an employer with regard to McCloud, once the final termination has been 
settled and payments have been made.  Once the Regulations have been finalised, any Page 77

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/179/introduction/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/179/introduction/made


 

2 7  

 

calculations will be performed in line with the prevailing regulations and associated 
guidance. 

In the event of parties unreasonably seeking to crystalise the exit credit on termination, the 
Fund will consider its overall policy and seek to recover termination deficits as opposed to 
allowing them to be subsumed with no impact on contribution requirements until the next 
assessment of the contribution requirements for the guarantor.  Equally where a guarantor 
decides not to underwrite the residual liabilities then the termination assessment will 
assume the liabilities are orphaned and the low risk basis of termination will be applied. 

As the guarantor will absorb the residual assets and liabilities under the default policy 
above, it is the view of the Actuary that the ongoing valuation basis described above 
should be adopted for the termination calculations. This is the way the initial admission 
agreement would typically be structured i.e. the admission would be fully funded based on 
liabilities assessed on the valuation basis. 

If the guarantor refuses to take responsibility, then the residual deferred pensioner and 
pensioner liabilities should be assessed on the more cautious low risk basis. In this 
situation the size of the termination payment would also depend on what happened to the 
active members and if they all transferred back to the original Scheme Employer (or 
elsewhere) and aggregated their previous benefits. As the transfer would normally be 
effected on a "fully funded" valuation basis the termination payment required would vary 
depending on the circumstances of the case. Where this occurs the exiting employer 
would then be treated as if it had no guarantor as per the policy below. 

The Administering Authority also reserves the right to modify this approach on a case by 
case basis at its sole discretion if circumstances warrant it based on the advice of the 
Actuary, based on representations from the interested parties where appropriate. 

Non contract-based admission bodies with a guarantor in the Fund. 

The approach for these will be the same as that above and will depend on whether the 
guarantor is prepared to accept responsibility for residual liabilities.  Indeed, it may be that 
Fund is prepared to accept that no actual termination payment is needed (even if one is 
calculated) and that all assets/liabilities can simply be absorbed by the guarantor. 

Admission bodies with no guarantor in the Fund / only a guarantee of 
last resort 

These are the cases where the residual liabilities would be orphaned within Fund. It is 
possible that a bond would be in place. The termination calculation would be on the more 
cautious “low risk” basis.   

The actuarial valuation and the revision of any Rates and Adjustments Certificate in 
respect of the outgoing admission body must be produced by the Actuary at the time when 
the admission agreement ends; the policy will always be subject to change in the light of 
changing economic circumstances and legislation. 

The policy for such employers will be: 

• In the case of a surplus, the Fund pays the exit credit to the exiting employer following 
completion of the termination process (within 6 months of completion of the cessation 
assessment by the Actuary). This is subject to the exiting employer providing sufficient 
notice to the Fund of their intent to exit; any delays in notification will impact on the 
payment date. Page 78



 

2 8  

 

• In the case of a deficit, the Fund would require the exiting employer to pay the 
termination deficit to the Fund as an immediate lump sum cash payment (unless agreed 
otherwise by the Administering Authority at their sole discretion) following completion of 
the termination process. 

The Government has confirmed that a remedy is required for the LGPS in relation to the 
McCloud judgment. [Final regulations are awaited.]. As part of any termination 
assessment, allowance will be made for McCloud within the calculations consistent with 
the allowance made for the 2022 valuation. For the avoidance of doubt, there will be no 
recourse for an employer with regard to McCloud, once the final termination has been 
settled and payments have been made. Once the Regulations have been finalised, any 
calculations will be performed in line with these and associated guidance. 

The Administering Authority also reserves the right to modify this approach on a case by 
case basis at its sole discretion if circumstances warrant it based on the advice of the 
Actuary. 

The above funding principles will also impact on the bond requirements for certain 
admitted bodies.  The purpose of the bond is that it should cover any unfunded liabilities 
arising on termination that cannot be reclaimed from the outgoing body.  

Connected Entities  

In the event of cessation, the connected entity will be required to meet any outstanding 
liabilities valued in line with the approach outlined above.  In the event there is a shortfall, 
the assets and liabilities will revert to the Fund as a whole (i.e. all current active 
employers).   

In the event that a scheme employer provides a guarantee for their connected entity, the 
assets and liabilities will revert in totality to that scheme employer on termination, including 
any unrecovered deficit. 

Policy in relation to the flexibility for exit debt payments and 
Deferred Debt Agreements (DDA) 

The Fund’s policy for termination payment plans is as follows:  

1. The default position is for exit payments to be paid immediately in full unless there 
is a risk sharing arrangement in place with a guaranteeing Scheme employer in the 
Fund whereby the exiting employer is not responsible for any exit payment. In the 
case of an exit credit the determination process set out above will be followed. 

2. At the discretion of the administering authority, instalment plans over an agreed 
period or a Deferred Debt Agreement will only be agreed subject to the policy in 
relation to any flexibility in recovering exit payments. 

As set out above, the default position for exit payments is that they are paid in full at the 
point of exit (adjusted for interest where appropriate).  If an employer requests that an exit 
debt payment is recovered over a fixed period of time or that they wish to enter into a 
Deferred Debt Agreement with the Fund, they must make a request in writing covering 
the reasons for such a request.  Any deviation from this position will be based on the 
Administering Authority’s assessment of whether the full exit debt is affordable and 
whether it is in the interests of taxpayers to adopt either of the approaches.  In making 

Page 79



 

2 9  

 

this assessment the Administering Authority will consider the covenant of the employer 
and also whether any security is required and available to back the arrangements. 

Any costs (including necessary actuarial, legal and covenant advice) associated with 
assessing this will be borne by the employer and will be charged as an upfront payment 
to the Fund. 

The following policy and processes will be followed in line with the principles set out in the 
statutory guidance published 2 March 2021. 

Policy for Spreading Exit Payments 

The following process will determine whether an employer is eligible to spread their exit 
payment over a defined period.  

1. The Administering Authority will request updated financial information from the 
employer including management accounts showing expected financial progression of 
the organisation and any other relevant information to use as part of their covenant 
review.  If this information is not provided then the default policy of immediate 
payment will be adopted. 
 

2. Once this information has been provided, the Administering Authority (in conjunction 
with the Fund Actuary, covenant and legal advisors where necessary) will review the 
covenant of the employer to determine whether it is in the interests of the Fund to 
allow them to spread the exit debt over a period of time.  Depending on the length of 
the period and also the size of the outstanding debt, the Fund may request security to 
support the payment plan before entering into an agreement to spread the exit 
payments. 
 

3. This could include non-uniform payments e.g. a lump sum up front followed by a 
series of payments over the agreed period.  The payments required will include 
allowance for interest on late payment.  
 

4. The initial process to determine whether an exit debt should be spread may take up to 
6 months from receipt of data so it is important that employers who request to spread 
exit debt payments notify the Fund in good time 
 

5. If it is agreed that the exit payments can be spread then the Administering Authority 
will engage with the employer regarding the following: 

a. The spreading period that will be adopted (this will be subject to a maximum of 
5 years). 

b. The initial and annual payments due and how these will change over the period 

c. The interest rates applicable and the costs associated with the payment plan 
devised (which will be met by the employer unless agreed otherwise with the 
Administering Authority) 

d. The level of security required to support the payment plan (if any) and the form 
of that security e.g. bond, escrow account etc. 

e. The responsibilities of the employer during the exit spreading period including 
the supply of updated information and events which would trigger a review of 
the situation 

f. The views of the Actuary, covenant, legal and any other specialists necessary 

Page 80



 

3 0  

 

g. The covenant information that will be required on a regular basis to allow the 
payment plan to continue.  

h. Under what circumstances the payment plan may be reviewed or immediate 
payment requested (e.g. where there has been a significant change in 
covenant or circumstances)  

 

6. Once the Administering Authority has reached its decision, the arrangement will be 
documented and any supporting agreements will be included. 
 

7. The costs associated with the advice sought and drafting of the Debt Spreading 
Agreement will be passed onto the employer and will be charged as an upfront 
payment to the Fund. 

Employers participating with no contributing members 

As opposed to paying the exit debt an employer may participate in the Fund with no 
contributing members and utilise the “Deferred Debt Agreements” (DDA) at the sole 
discretion of the Administering Authority.  This would be at the request of the employer in 
writing to the Administering Authority. 

The following process will determine whether the Fund and employer will enter into such 
an arrangement:  

1. The Administering Authority will request updated financial information from the 
employer including management accounts showing expected financial progression of 
the organisation.  If this information is not provided then a DDA will not be entered into 
by the Administering Authority 
 

2. Once this information has been provided, the Administering Authority will firstly 
consider whether it would be in the best interests of the Fund and employers to enter 
into such an arrangement with the employer. This decision will be based on a 
covenant review of the employer to determine whether the exit debt that would be 
required if the arrangement was not entered into is affordable at that time (based on 
advice from the Actuary, covenant and legal advisor where necessary).  
 

3. The initial process to determine whether a Deferred Debt Agreement should apply 
may take up to 6 months from receipt of the required information so an employer who 
wishes to request that the Administering Authority enters into such an arrangement 
needs to make the request in advance of the potential exit date. 
 

4. If the Administering Authority’s assessment confirms that the potential exit debt is not 
affordable, the Administering Authority will engage in discussions with the employer 
about the potential format of a Deferred Debt Agreement using the template Fund 
agreement which will be based on the principles set out in the Scheme Advisory 
Board’s separate guide. As part of this, the following will be considered and agreed: 
 

• What security the employer can offer whilst the employer remains in the Fund.  
In general the Administering Authority won’t enter into such an arrangement 
unless they are confident that the employer can support the arrangement on an 
ongoing basis. Provision of security may also result in a review of the recovery 
period and other funding arrangements. 

• Whether an upfront cash payment should be made to the Fund initially to reduce 
the potential debt. Page 81



 

3 1  

 

• What the updated secondary rate of contributions would be required up to the 
next valuation. 

• The financial information that will be required on a regular basis to allow the 
employer to remain in the Fund and any other monitoring that will be required.  

• The advice of the Actuary, covenant, legal and any other specialists necessary. 

• The responsibilities that would apply to the employer while they remain in the 
Fund. 

• What conditions would trigger the implementation of a revised deficit recovery 
plan and subsequent revision to the secondary contributions (e.g. provision of 
security). 

• The circumstances that would trigger a variation in the length of the deferred 
debt agreement (if appropriate), including a cessation of the arrangement (e.g. 
where the ability to pay contributions has weakened materially or is likely to 
weaken in the next 12 months).  Where an agreement ceases an exit payment 
(or credit) could become payable. Potential triggers may be the removal of any 
security or a significant change in covenant assessed as part of the regular 
monitoring. 

• Under what circumstances the employer may be able to vary the arrangement 
e.g. a further cash payment or change in security underpinning the agreement. 

The Administering Authority will then make a final decision on whether it is in the best 
interests of the Fund to enter into a Deferred Debt Agreement with the employer and 
confirm the terms that are required.   
  

5. For employers that are successful in entering into a Deferred Debt Agreement, 
contribution requirements will continue to be reviewed as part of each actuarial 
valuation or in line with the Deferred Debt Agreement in the interim if any of the 
agreed triggers are met.  
 

6. The costs associated with the advice sought and drafting of the Deferred Debt 
Agreement will be passed onto the employer and will be charged as an upfront 
payment to the Fund. 

 

Termination Basis 

A lower risk approach will apply on termination where liabilities are not being subsumed, to 
appropriately reflect the transfer of pension risk from the exiting employer to the Fund. 

The discount rate underlying the low risk basis is set with reference to the return on a 
notional portfolio of low risk assets (comprising investments such as gilts, bonds) that can 
be achieved with a high likelihood [(c90%)]. The discount rate set will initially be equal to 
the underlying yields available on fixed interest government bond yields at the date of 
termination plus an additional 0.5% per annum but will be subject to a cap of the 
employer’s nominal discount rate for ongoing funding purposes. The discount rate will be 
kept under review over time. 

In setting the CPI assumption to apply on the low-risk basis, market RPI inflation will be 
reduced by 0.3% p.a. to reflect the average difference between RPI and CPI indices 
allowing for RPI reform in 2030, consistent with the ongoing funding approach.  However 
no adjustment will be made for an “inflation risk premium” reflecting the fully hedged nature 
of the notional low-risk portfolio. This adjustment will be kept under review over time. 

Page 82



 

3 2  

 

The low risk financial assumptions that applied at the actuarial valuation date (31 March 
2022) are set out below in relation to any liability remaining in the Fund. These will be 
updated on a case-by-case basis, with reference to prevailing market conditions at the 
relevant employing body’s cessation date. 

 

Low Risk assumptions 31 March 2022 

  

Discount Rate 2.2% p.a. 

CPI price inflation 3.6% p.a. 

Pension increases/indexation of CARE 
benefits 

3.6% p.a. 

 
All demographic assumptions will be the same as those adopted for the 2022 actuarial 
valuation, except in relation to the life expectancy assumption.  Given the low risk financial 
assumptions do not protect against future adverse demographic experience a higher level 
of prudence will be adopted in the life expectancy assumption. The termination basis for 
an outgoing employer will include an adjustment to the assumption for longevity 
improvements over time by increasing the rate of improvement in mortality rates to 2% p.a. 
from 1.75% used in the 2022 valuation for ongoing funding and contribution purposes. This 
assumption will be reviewed from time to time to allow for any material changes in life 
expectancy trends and will be formally reassessed at the next valuation. 

Administering Authority discretion on low-risk assumptions. 
 
For all terminations, where the low-risk basis of termination applies, the Administering 
Authority reserves the right to review the assumptions applied at the employing body’s 
cessation date where individual circumstances warrant this, for example, in times of 
extreme market conditions and volatility. This is in order to ensure the assumptions 
adequately reflect the transfer of pension risk from the exiting employer to the Fund.  The 
investment return assumption will be no greater than the prudent expected return on the 
actual portfolio in which the Fund is reasonably expected to invest the assets of the 
terminating employer.  
  

  

Page 83



 

3 3  

 

Appendix E –  
Academies/Multi Academy Trust 
Policy 
 

Academy conversions and deficit transfers 

The Fund’s policy regarding the treatment of schools when converting to academy 
status is for the new academy to inherit the school’s appropriate share of the historic 
local authority deficit prior to its conversion.  This is in accordance with the Department 
for Education (DfE) guidance issued when the Academy conversion programme was 
extended to cover all schools.  

Therefore, the transferring deficit is calculated as the capitalised amount of the funding 
contributions relating to past service (based on the local authority recovery period) the 
school would have made to the Fund had it not converted to academy status at the 
conversion date. The deficit allocated will be subject to a limit to ensure that the 
minimum asset share of the new academy is nil. 

Multi Academy Trusts 

Multi-Academy Trusts (MATS) are groups of academies managed and operated by 
one proprietor. The employer of non-teaching staff in academies is the proprietor of the 
Academy Trust and not the individual academy within the Trust. It is therefore the 
proprietor who is the employer for LGPS purposes making the MAT legally responsible 
for staff across all schools in the pool (see below). 

Multi-Academy Trusts are often set up to cover a number of academies across 
England.  The employees of the former schools can be employed directly by the Trust 
so they can be deployed across different academy schools in the Trust if necessary.  

In cases where numerous academies are operated by the same managing Trust, the 
Fund is willing to allow a combined funding position and average contribution 
requirements to apply to all constituent academies (i.e. a pool). In such cases, the 
Actuary will certify a pooled Primary and Secondary contribution rate for the MAT in the 
Rates and Adjustments Certificate. Notwithstanding this, the Fund will continue to track 
the constituent academies separately, in the interests of transparency and clarity 
around entry and exit events. 

Approach to setting contribution rates 

The Fund must have a separate employer number for each academy for transparency 
of cashflows, managing risks should an academy need to leave one Trust for another 
and for accounting where disaggregated disclosure reports are required. It should also 
be noted that the Department for Education (DfE) have confirmed that the guarantee 
relates to individual academies and MATs. 

Any new academies joining an existing MAT pool in the Fund can contribute at the 
employer contribution rate already established for the MAT but an actuarial 
assessment will still need to be carried out to determine the deficit applicable to the 
transferring staff. 

Return to Contents 

Page 84



 

3 4  

 

[Detail to be agreed] Outsourcings by Multi Academy Trusts 

The Fund’s current policy is in accordance with the Regulations, requiring a separate 
admission agreement in respect of separate contracts. 

Under Schedule 2, Part 3, paragraph 5. of the 2013 Regulations, if the admission body 
is exercising the functions of the scheme employer in connection with more than one 
contract or other arrangement under paragraph 1(d)(i), the administering authority and 
the admission body shall enter into a separate admission agreement in respect of each 
contract or arrangement. 

With the development of MATs, there is a case for the Fund to allow a MAT to enter 
into a single admission agreement with the contractor providing similar services at 
various sites provided the outsourcing is covered by a single commercial contract.   

The Fund will need to have sight of the contract in order to satisfy the regulatory 
requirement that the Admission Agreement covers one contract. The Admission 
Agreement will need to have provision for adding future employees should any 
academies join the MAT subsequent to the commencement date. 

The scheme employer, the Multi Academy Trust in this instance, needs to be a party to 
any admission agreement and, as such, is the ultimate guarantor. In the event of 
contractor failure, the LGPS regulations provide that the outstanding liabilities 
assessed by the Fund’s actuary can be called from the scheme employer i.e. the Multi 
Academy Trust.   

At every triennial valuation the actuary reviews the funding level of the admitted body 
and adjusts its employer contribution rate as required. Once either the service contract 
comes to an end or all the LGPS members have left, the admission agreement 
terminates and, in accordance with Fund policy, the Trust becomes responsible for the 
assets and liabilities standing to the account of the admitted body. A cessation 
valuation can be provided by the Fund actuary should the Trust request it.

Page 85



 

3 5  

 

Appendix F –  
Review of employer contributions 
between valuations 
 

The Administering Authority has the ability to review employer contributions between 
valuations.  The Administering Authority and employers now have the following 
flexibilities: 

1. The Administering Authority may review the contributions of an employer where 
there has been a significant change to the liabilities of an employer.  

2. The Administering Authority may review the contributions of an employer where 
there has been a significant change in the employer’s covenant.  

3. An employer may request a review of contributions from the Administering 
Authority if they feel that either point 1 or point 2 applies to them. The employer 
would be required to pay the costs of any review following completion of the 
calculations and is only permitted to make one request between actuarial 
valuation dates (except in exceptional circumstances and at the sole discretion 
of the Administering Authority). 

Where the funding position for an employer significantly changes solely due to a 
change in assets (and changes in actuarial assumptions), the Regulations do not allow 
employer contributions to be reviewed outside of a full valuation although changes in 
assets would be taken into account when considering if an employer can support its 
obligations to the Fund after a significant covenant change (see 2. above). 

The Administering Authority will consult with the employer prior to undertaking a review 
of their contributions including setting out the reason for triggering the review.  

For the avoidance of doubt, any review of contributions may result in no change and a 
continuation of contributions as per the latest actuarial valuation assessment. In the 
normal course of events, a rate review would not be undertaken close to the next 
actuarial valuation date unless in exceptional circumstances. For example: 

 A contribution review due to a change in membership profile would not be undertaken in 
the 6 months leading up to the next valuation Rates and Adjustments Certificate. 

 However, where there has been a material change in covenant, a review will be 
considered on a case by case basis which will determine if it should take place and 
when any contribution change would be implemented. This will take into account the 
proximity of the actuarial valuation and the implementation of the contributions from that 
valuation. 

Situations where contributions may be reviewed 
 
Contributions may be reviewed if the Administering Authority becomes aware of any of 
the following scenarios. Employers will be notified if this is the case.  
 

Return to Contents 

Page 86



 

3 6  

 

Consideration will also be given to the impact that any employer changes may have on 
the other employers and on the Fund as a whole, when deciding whether to proceed 
with a contribution review.  
 

1) Significant changes in the employer’s liabilities 

This includes but is not limited to the following scenarios: 

a) Significant changes to the employer’s membership which will have a material 
impact on their liabilities, such as: 

i. Restructuring of an employer 
ii. A significant outsourcing or transfer of staff to another employer (not 

necessarily within the Fund) 
iii. A bulk transfer into or out of the employer  
iv. Other significant changes to the membership for example due to 

redundancies, significant salary awards, ill health retirements or a large 
number of withdrawals 

b) Two or more employers merging including insourcing and transferring of 
services 

c) The separation of an employer into two or more individual employers 

In terms of assessing the triggers under a) above, the Administering Authority will 
only consider a review if the change in liabilities is expected to be more than 10% 
of the total liabilities.  In some cases this may mean there is also a change in the 
covenant of the employer. 

Any review of the rate will only take into account the impact of the change in 
liabilities (including any underfunding in relation to pension strain costs) both in 
terms of the Primary and Secondary rate of contributions. 

2) Significant changes in the employer’s covenant 

This includes but is not limited to the following scenarios: 

a) Provision of, or removal of, or impairment of, security, bond, guarantee or some 
other form of indemnity by an employer against their obligations in the Fund. For 
the avoidance of doubt, this includes provision of security to any other pension 
arrangement which may impair the security provided to the Fund. 

b) Material change in an employer’s immediate financial strength or longer-term 
financial outlook (evidence should be available to justify this) including where an 
employer ceases to operate or becomes insolvent. 

c) Where an employer exhibits behaviour that suggests a change in their ability 
and/or willingness to pay contributions to the Fund. 

In some instances, a change in the liabilities will also result in a change in an 
employer’s ability to meet this obligations. 

Whilst in most cases the regular covenant updates requested by the Administering 
Authority will identify some of these changes, in some circumstances employers will be 
required to agree to notify the Administering Authority of any material changes. Where 
this applies, employers will be notified separately and the Administering Authority will 
set out the requirements 

Additional information will be sought from the employer in order to determine whether a 
contribution review is necessary. This may include annual accounts, budgets, forecasts Page 87



 

3 7  

 

and any specific details of restructure plans. As part of this, the Administering Authority 
will take advice from the Fund Actuary, covenant, legal and any other specialist 
adviser. 

In this instance, any review of the contribution rate would include consideration of the 
updated funding position (both on an ongoing and termination basis) and would usually 
allow for changes in asset values when considering if the employer can meet its 
obligations on both an ongoing and termination basis (if applicable). This could then 
lead to the following actions (see further comments below): 

• The contributions changing or staying the same depending on the conclusion, 
and/or; 

• Security to improve the covenant to the Fund, and/or;  

• Funding for termination 

Process and potential outcomes of a contribution review 

Where one of the listed events occurs, the Administering Authority will enter into 
discussion with the employer to clarify details of the event and any intent of the 
Administering Authority to review contributions. Ultimately, the decision to review 
contributions as a result of the above events rests with the Administering Authority 
after, if necessary, taking advice from their Actuary, legal or a covenant specialist 
advisors.   

This also applies where an employer notifies the Administering Authority of the event 
and requests a review of the contributions. The employer will be required to agree to 
meet any professional and administration costs associated with the review. The 
employer will be required to outline the rationale and case for the review through a 
suitable exchange of information prior to consideration by the Administering Authority.   

The Administering Authority will consider whether it is appropriate to use updated 
membership data within the review (e.g. where the change in data is expected to have 
a material effect on the outcome) and whether any supporting information is required 
from the employer.  

As well as revisiting the employer’s contribution plan, as part of the review it is possible 
that other parts of the funding strategy will also be reviewed where the covenant of the 
employer has changed, for example the Fund will consider: 

• Whether the employer should fund for termination. 

• Whether the Primary contribution rate should be adjusted to allow for any profile 
change and/or move to fund for termination 

• Whether the secondary contributions should be adjusted including whether the 
length of the recovery period adopted at the previous valuation remains appropriate. 
The remaining recovery period from the valuation would be the maximum period 
adopted (except in exceptional and justifiable circumstances and at the sole 
discretion of the Administering Authority on the advice of the Actuary). 

The review of contributions may take up to 6 months from the date of confirmation to 
the employer that the review is taking place, in order to collate the necessary data.   

Any change to an employer’s contributions will be implemented at a date agreed 
between the employer and the Fund. The Schedule to the Rates and Adjustment 

Page 88



 

3 8  

 

Certificate at the last valuation will be updated for any contribution changes. As part of 
the process the Administering Authority will consider whether it is appropriate to 
consult any other Fund employers prior to implementing the revised contributions.  
Circumstances where the Administering Authority may consider it appropriate to do so 
include where there is another employer acting as guarantor in the Fund, then the 
guarantor would be consulted on as part of the contribution review process. 

The Administering Authority will agree a proportionate process for periodical ongoing 
monitoring and review following the implementation of the revised contribution plan.  
The Employer will be required to provide information to the Fund to support this, which 
will depend in part of the reasons for triggering the contribution review.   

Page 89



 

3 9  

 

Appendix G –  
Ill-health insurance arrangements 
Overview of arrangement 

Ill health retirements can be expensive for employers, particularly small employers where 
one or two costly ill health retirements can take them well above the “average” implied by 
the valuation assumptions.  

For certain employers in the Fund (following discussions with the Fund Actuary) a captive 
insurance arrangement has been established by the Administering Authority to cover ill-
health retirement costs.  This will apply to all ill-health retirements from 1 April 2023. It 
applies only to ill-health retirements involving the early payment of pension and to the 
associated benefit costs.  

The captive arrangement operates as follows: 

 “Premiums” are paid by the eligible employers into the captive arrangement which is 
tracked separately by the Fund Actuary in the valuation calculations.  The premiums 
are included in the employer’s primary rate.  The premium for 2023/26 is 0.7% of 
pay per annum      

 The captive arrangement is then used to meet strain costs (over and above the 
premium paid) emerging from ill-health retirements in respect of active members i.e. 
there is no initial impact on the deficit position for employers within the captive and 
any subsequent impact should be manageable. 

 The premiums are set with the expectation that they will be sufficient to cover the 
costs in the 3 years following the valuation date.  If any excess premiums over costs 
are built up in the Captive, these will be used to offset future adverse experience 
and/or result in lower premiums at the discretion of the Administering Authority 
based on the advice of the Actuary. 

 In the event of poor experience over a valuation period any shortfall in the captive 
fund is effectively underwritten by Islington Council.  However, the future premiums 
will be adjusted to recover any shortfall over a reasonable period with a view to 
keeping premiums as stable as possible for employers.  Over time the captive 
arrangement should therefore be self-funding and smooth out fluctuations in the 
contribution requirements for those employers in the captive arrangement.  

 Premiums payable are subject to review from valuation to valuation depending on 
experience and the expected ill health trends.  They will also be adjusted for any 
changes in the LGPS benefits.  They will be included in employer rates at each 
valuation or on commencement of participation for new employers. 

Employers covered by the arrangement 

The Fund has set an initial eligibility criteria of employers having less than 200 active 
members at the valuation date. 

These employers have been notified of their participation.  New employers entering the 
Fund will also be included if they meet this criteria. In certain circumstances, the 

Return to Contents 

Page 90



 

4 0  

 

Administering Authority retains the discretion to include/exclude any employer from the 
arrangement.  

For employers outside the captive arrangement, the current treatment of ill-health 
retirements will still apply, whereby an assumption for ill-health retirements is made within 
the calculation of employer contributions and any excess costs associated with ill-health 
retirements will emerge as part of the subsequent actuarial valuation assessment, and in 
any subsequent secondary rate contributions payable into the Fund.  

Employer responsibilities 

Apart from the regulatory procedures in place to ensure that ill-health retirements are 
properly controlled, employing bodies should be doing everything in their power to ensure 
robust processes are in place to determine eligibility for ill health retirements.  

The Fund and the Actuary will monitor the number of retirements that each captive 
employer is granting over time. If any employer has an unusually high incidence of ill 
health retirements, consideration will be given to the governance around the eligibility 
criteria applied by the employer and it is possible that some or all of the costs would fall on 
that employer if the governance was not deemed strong enough. 

Page 91



 

4 1  

 

Appendix H –  
Glossary of terms 
Actuarial Valuation 
An investigation by an actuary into the ability of the Fund to meet its liabilities. For the 
LGPS the Fund Actuary will assess the funding level of each participating employer and 
agree contribution rates with the administering authority to fund the cost of new benefits 
and make good any existing deficits as set out in the separate Funding Strategy 
Statement. The asset value is based on market values at the valuation date. 

Administering Authority  
The council with a statutory responsibility for running the Fund and that is responsible for 
all aspects of its management and operation. 

Admission bodies  
A specific type of employer under the Local Government Pension Scheme (the “LGPS”) 
who do not automatically qualify for participation in the Fund but are allowed to join if they 
satisfy the relevant criteria set out in the Regulations.  

Benchmark  
A measure against which fund performance is to be judged. 

Benefits 
The benefits provided by the Fund are specified in the governing legislation contained in 
the Regulations referred to within the FSS.  Benefits payable under the Fund are 
guaranteed by statute and thereby the pensions promise is secure for members. The Fund 
is a defined benefit arrangement with principally final salary related benefits from 
contributing members up to 1 April 2014 and Career Averaged Revalued Earnings 
(“CARE”) benefits earned thereafter.  There is also a “50:50 Scheme Option”, where 
members can elect to accrue 50% of the full scheme benefits in relation to the member 
only and pay 50% of the normal member contribution. 

Best Estimate Assumption  
An assumption where the outcome has a 50/50 chance of being achieved. 

Bonds  
Loans made to an issuer (often a government or a company) which undertakes to repay 
the loan at an agreed later date. The term refers generically to corporate bonds or 
government bonds (gilts). 

Career Average Revalued Earnings Scheme (CARE)  
With effect from 1 April 2014, benefits accrued by members in the LGPS take the form of 
CARE benefits. Every year members will accrue a pension benefit equivalent to 1/49th of 
their pensionable pay in that year. Each annual pension accrued receives inflationary 
increases (in line with the annual change in the Consumer Prices Index) over the period to 
retirement.  

CPI  
Acronym standing for “Consumer Prices Index”. CPI is a measure of inflation with a basket 
of goods that is assessed on an annual basis. The reference goods and services differ 
from those of RPI. These goods are expected to provide lower, less volatile inflation 
increases. Pension increases in the LGPS are linked to the annual change in CPI. 

Return to Contents 

Page 92



 

4 2  

 

CPIH 
An alternative measure of CPI which includes owner occupiers’ housing costs and Council 
Tax (which are excluded from CPI). 

Contingent Assets  
Assets held by employers in the Fund that can be called upon by the Fund in the event of 
the employer not being able to cover the debt due upon termination. The terms will be set 
out in a separate agreement between the Fund and employer 

Covenant  
The assessed financial strength of the employer. A strong covenant indicates a greater 
ability (and willingness) to pay for pension obligations in the long run. A weaker covenant 
means that it appears that the employer may have difficulties meeting its pension 
obligations in full over the longer term or affordability constraints in the short term. 

Deferred Debt Agreement (DDA) 
A written agreement between the Administering Authority and an exiting Fund employer for 
that employer to defer their obligation to make an exit payment and continue to make 
contributions at the assessed Secondary rate until the termination of the DDA.  

Deferred Employer 
An employer that has entered into a DDA with the Fund. 

Deficit  
The extent to which the value of the Fund’s past service liabilities exceeds the value of the 
Fund’s assets. This relates to assets and liabilities built up to date, and ignores the future 
build-up of pension (which in effect is assumed to be met by future contributions). 

Deficit recovery period  
The target length of time over which the current deficit is intended to be paid off. A shorter 
period will give rise to a higher annual contribution, and vice versa. 

Derivatives 
Financial instruments linked to the performance of specific assets which can be used to 
magnify or reduce exposure to those assets 

Discount Rate  
The rate of interest used to convert a cash amount e.g. future benefit payments occurring 
in the future to a present value. 

Early Retirement Strain 
The additional cost incurred by a scheme employer as a result of allowing a Scheme 
Member aged 55 or over to retire before Normal Retirement Age and to receive a full 
pension based on accrued service at the date of retirement without full actuarial reduction. 

Employer's Future Service Contribution Rate (“Primary Rate”)  
The contribution rate payable by an employer, expressed as a % of pensionable pay, as 
being sufficient to meet the cost of new benefits being accrued by active members in the 
future. The cost will be net of employee contributions and will include an allowance for the 
expected level of administrative expenses. See also “Primary Rate” below. 

Employing bodies  
Any organisation that participates in the LGPS, including admission bodies and Fund 
employers. 

Page 93



 

4 3  

 

Equities  
Shares in a company which are bought and sold on a stock exchange.  

Equity Protection  
An insurance contract which provides protection against falls in equity markets. Depending 
on the pricing structure, this may be financed by giving up some of the upside potential in 
equity market gains. 

Exit Credit  
The amount payable from the Fund to an exiting employer where the exiting employer is 
determined to be in surplus at the point of cessation based on a termination assessment 
by the Fund Actuary. 

Fund / Scheme Employers  
Employers that have the statutory right to participate in the LGPS.  These organisations 
(set out in Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the 2013 Regulations) would not need to designate 
eligibility, unlike the Part 2 Fund Employers. For example, these include councils, colleges, 
universities and academies  

Funding or solvency Level  
The ratio of the value of the Fund’s assets and the value of the Fund’s liabilities expressed 
as a percentage. 

Funding Strategy Statement  
This is a key governance document that outlines how the administering authority will 
manage employer’s contributions and risks to the Fund. 

Government Actuary's Department (GAD)  
The GAD is responsible for providing actuarial advice to public sector clients. GAD is a 
non-ministerial department of HM Treasury. 

Guarantee / guarantor  
A formal promise by a third party (the guarantor) that it will meet any pension obligations 
not met by a specified employer. The presence of a guarantor will mean, for instance, that 
the Fund can consider the employer’s covenant to be as strong as its guarantor’s.  

Guarantee of Last Resort 
For the purposes of the FSS, a guarantee of last resort refers to the situation where an 
employer has exhausted all alternative options for payment of an exit debt and so the debt 
is recovered from another employer in the Fund, however the liabilities are not subsumed 
in this case. 

Ill-Health Captive 
This is a notional fund designed to protect certain employers against excessive ill health 
costs in return for an agreed insurance premium. 

Investment Strategy  
The long-term distribution of assets among various asset classes that takes into account 
the Funds objectives and attitude to risk.  

Letting employer 
An employer that outsources part of its services/workforce to another employer, usually a 
contractor. The contractor will pay towards the LGPS benefits accrued by the transferring 
members, but ultimately the obligation to pay for these benefits will revert to the letting 
employer.  Page 94



 

4 4  

 

LGPS  
The Local Government Pension Scheme, a public sector pension arrangement put in place 
via Government Regulations, for workers in local government. These Regulations also 
dictate eligibility (particularly for Scheduled Bodies), members’ contribution rates, benefit 
calculations and certain governance requirements.  

Liabilities  
The actuarially calculated present value of all benefit entitlements i.e. Fund cashflows of all 
members of the Fund, built up to date or in the future. The liabilities in relation to the 
benefit entitlements earned up to the valuation date are compared with the present market 
value of Fund assets to derive the deficit and funding/solvency level. Liabilities can be 
assessed on different set of actuarial assumptions depending on the purpose of the 
valuation. 

Long-term cost efficiency 

This is a measure of the extent to which the Fund’s policies properly address the need to 

balance immediate budgetary pressures with the undesirability of imposing an excessive 

debt burden on future generations. 

Low risk basis 

An approach where the discount rate used to assess the liabilities is determined based on 

a portfolio of investments (actual or notional) designed to provide an expected rate of 

return over the duration of the Fund’s liabilities above market yields of Government bond 

investments, with a very high likelihood of being achieved [(c90%)]. This is usually adopted 

when an employer is exiting the Fund. 

Maturity 
A general term to describe a Fund (or an employer’s position within a Fund) where the 
members are closer to retirement (or more of them already retired) and the investment 
time horizon is shorter. This has implications for investment strategy and, consequently, 
funding strategy. 

McCloud Judgment 

This refers to the linked legal cases of Sargeant and McCloud, and which found that the 
transitional protections (which were afforded to older members when the public service 
pension schemes were reformed in 2014/15) constituted unlawful age discrimination. 

Members 
The individuals who have built up (and may still be building up) entitlement in the Fund. 
They are divided into actives (current employee members), deferreds (ex-employees who 
have not yet retired) and pensioners (ex-employees who have now retired, and 
dependants of deceased ex-employees). 

Orphan liabilities  
Liabilities in the Fund for which there is no sponsoring employer within the Fund. Ultimately 
orphan liabilities must be underwritten by all other employers in the Fund. 

Percentiles  
Relative ranking (in hundredths) of a particular range. For example, in terms of expected 
returns a percentile ranking of 75 indicates that in 25% of cases, the return achieved would 
be greater than the figure, and in 75% cases the return would be lower. 

Page 95



 

4 5  

 

Phasing/stepping of contributions  
When there is an increase/decrease in an employer’s long term contribution requirements, 
the increase in contributions can be gradually stepped or phased in over an agreed period. 
The phasing/stepping can be in equal steps or on a bespoke basis for each employer. 

Pooling  
Employers may be grouped together for the purpose of calculating contribution rates, (i.e. 
a single contribution rate applicable to all employers in the pool). A pool may still require 
each individual employer to ultimately pay for its own share of deficit, or (if formally 
agreed) it may allow deficits to be passed from one employer to another. 

Prepayment 
The payment by employers of contributions to the Fund earlier than that certified by the 
Actuary. The amount paid will be reduced in monetary terms compared to the certified 
amount to reflect the early payment.  

Present Value 
The value of projected benefit payments, discounted back to the valuation date. 

Primary Contribution Rate 
The contribution rate required to meet the cost of the future accrual of benefits including 
ancillary, death in service and ill health benefits together with administration costs. It is 
expressed as a percentage of pensionable pay, ignoring any past service surplus or 
deficit, but allowing for any employer-specific circumstances, such as its membership 
profile, the funding strategy adopted for that employer, the actuarial method used and/or 
the employer’s covenant.  The Primary rate for the whole fund is the weighted average (by 
payroll) of the individual employers’ Primary rates. For any employer, the rate they are 
actually required to pay is the sum of the Primary and Secondary rates.  See also 
“Employer’s future service contribution rate” above. 

Profile 
The profile of an employer’s membership or liability reflects various measurements of that 
employer’s members, i.e. current and former employees. This includes: the proportions 
which are active, deferred or pensioner; the average ages of each category; the varying 
salary or pension levels; the lengths of service of active members vs their salary levels, 
etc.  

Prudent Assumption 
An assumption where the outcome has a greater than 50/50 chance of being achieved i.e. 
the outcome is more likely to be overstated than understated. Legislation and Guidance 
requires the assumptions adopted for an actuarial valuation to be prudent. 

Rates and Adjustments Certificate  
A formal document required by the LGPS Regulations, which must be updated at least 
every three years at the conclusion of the formal valuation. This is completed by the 
actuary and confirms the contributions to be paid by each employer (or pool of employers) 
in the Fund for the three-year period until the next valuation is completed. 

Real Return or Real Discount Rate 
A rate of return or discount rate net of (CPI) inflation. 

Recovery Plan 
A strategy by which an employer will make up a funding deficit over a specified period of 
time (“the recovery period”), as set out in the Funding Strategy Statement. 

Page 96



 

4 6  

 

SAB Funding Basis or SAB Basis 

A set of actuarial assumptions determined by the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board (SAB).  
Its purposes are to set out the funding position on a standardised approach so that 
comparisons can be made with other LGPS Funds, and to assist with the “Section 13 
review” as carried out by the Government Actuary’s Department.  As an example, the real 
discount rate over and above CPI used in the SAB Basis as at 31 March 2022 was [2.4% 
p.a.], so it can be substantially different from the actuarial assumptions used to calculated 
the Fund’s solvency funding position and contribution outcomes for employers 

Scheduled bodies 
Types of employer explicitly defined in the LGPS Regulations, whose employers must be 
offered membership of their local LGPS Fund. These include Councils, colleges, 
universities, police and fire authorities etc., other than employees who have entitlement to 
a different public sector pension scheme (e.g. teachers, police and fire officers, university 
lecturers). 

Secondary Rate of the Employer’s Contribution 
An adjustment to the Primary rate to reflect any past service deficit or surplus, to arrive at 
the rate each employer is required to pay.   The Secondary rate may be expressed as a 
percentage adjustment to the Primary rate, and/or a cash adjustment in each of the three 
years beginning 1 April in the year following that in which the valuation date falls.  The 
Secondary rate is specified in the rates and adjustments certificate.  For any employer, the 
rate they are actually required to pay is the sum of the Primary and Secondary rates. 

Section 13 Valuation  
In accordance with Section 13 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2014, the Government 
Actuary’s Department (GAD) have been commissioned to advise the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) in connection with reviewing the 2019 LGPS 
actuarial valuations. All LGPS Funds therefore will be assessed on a standardised set of 
assumptions as part of this process. 

Solvency Funding Target  
An assessment of the present value of benefits to be paid in the future. The desired 
funding target is to achieve a solvency level of a 100% i.e. assets equal to the accrued 
liabilities at the valuation date assessed on the ongoing concern basis. 

Strain Costs 

The costs arising when members retire before their normal retirement date and receive 

their pensions immediately without actuarial reduction. So far as the Fund is concerned, 

where the retirements are not caused by ill-health, these costs are invoiced directly to the 

retiring member’s employer at the retirement date and treated by the Fund as additional 

contributions, unless agreed with the administering authority. The costs are calculated by 

the Actuary. 

Valuation funding basis  
The financial and demographic assumptions used to determine the employer’s contribution 
requirements.   The relevant discount rate used for valuing the present value of liabilities is 
consistent with an expected rate of return of the Fund’s investments, expressed as an 
expected out-performance over CPI in the long term by the Fund’s assets i.e. the “real 
rate”. 

50/50 Scheme 
In the LGPS, active members are given the option of accruing a lower personal benefit in 
the 50/50 Scheme, in return for paying a lower level of contribution. Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
   
 
 
 
 
 

Resources 
  7 Newington Barrow Way  

London N7 7EP 

  

Report of: Corporate Director of Resources 

Meeting of: Pensions sub-Committee 

Date:  5th December 2022 

Ward(s): n/a 

 

 

Appendix 1 attached is exempt and not for publication as it contains the following category of 
exempt information as specified in Paragraph 3, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, 

namely: Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information). 
 

SUBJECT: INVESTMENT STRATEGY REVIEW- INITIAL 

CONSIDERATIONS 

 

1. Synopsis 
 

1.1 This report is an initial consideration to recap on the existing investment strategy in the 
context of the 2022 Actuarial review, discuss the volatile markets and agree potential themes 
to incorporate into a full investment strategy review.  

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 To receive the draft presentation from Mercer attached as Exempt Appendix 1 
 

2.2 To discuss and agree the parameters for the investment strategic review, investment return 
and net zero climate target. 

  

2.3 To note the plan for the actuarial valuation process to incorporate the review 
  

2.4 Subject to 2.2, receive a further report in March on the full investment review  

  
 

  

  

Page 99

Agenda Item B3



 

 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 

 
 
3.1.1 

 
 
 

The 2022 actuarial valuation is now near completion and as part of the process preparatory work is 
being undertaken to determine the funding position and investment strategy review that can support 
sustainable contributions from employers.  
 
The Pensions Sub-Committee agreed a revised investment strategy for the Fund at its June 2020 
meeting. The revised strategy maintained the Fund’s 75% growth, 25% defensive split and included a 
allocations to Multi Asset Credit and Private Debt, majority of which has now been implemented. 
 

3.1.2 At the September 2022 meeting, the Actuary shared the updated data analysis, and current 
assumptions on inflation, life expectancy, ill health, discount rate on liabilities and funding level over 
the recovery period of 16years.  The next step is to access if our current assets and investment 
strategy can support sustainable contributions from employers and meet our net zero carbon target 
 

3.1.3 The presentation prepared by Mercer (attached as exempt Appendix 1) is to re-evaluate the above 
position in the current market outlook and agree the parameters to perform some further analysis to 
determine if the desired contribution can be supported through the existing strategy and investment 
returns.   

  
3.1.4 Members are asked to agree the parameters and receive a report in March to cover a full investment 

strategy review  
 

  

4. Implications 
 

4.1 Financial implications 
4.1.1 The cost of providing independent investment advice is part of fund management and administration 

fees charged to the pension fund. 
  
4.2 Legal Implications 
 No legal implications 
  
4.3 Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon 

 Islington by 2030: 

 
 None applicable to this report.  Environmental implications will be included in each report to 

the Pension Board Committee as necessary. The current agreed investment strategy 
statement for pensions outlines the policies and targets set to April 2022 to reduce the 

current and future carbon exposure by 50% and 75% respectively compared to when it was 
measured in 2016 and also invest 15% of the fund in green opportunities. The link to the  full 
document is  https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-

records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonborou
ghofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf 
 

4.4 Equalities Impact Assessment 
 None applicable to this report. The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 

regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance 

equality of opportunity, and foster good relations, between those who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The 
council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take 

steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and 

Page 100

https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf


 

 

encourage people to participate in public life.  The council must have due regard to the need 
to tackle prejudice and promote understanding 
 

An equalities impact assessment has not been conducted because this report is seeking 
opinions on updating an existing document and therefore no specific equality implications 
arising from this report.   

  
 

5. Conclusion and reasons for recommendation 
 

5.1 

 
 

Members are asked to consider the Mercer presentation and agree the parameters to undertake a full 
investment review to be discussed at the March 2023 meeting.   

 
 

Appendices: Exempt Appendix 1- Mercer Presentation 
 
 

Background papers:  
None 
 
Final report clearance: 

 
 
Corporate Director of Resources   

   
Date:  23 November 2022  

 

 

 

   
Report Author: Joana Marfoh 

Tel: (020) 7527 2382 
Email: Joana.marfoh@islington.gov.uk 

 
 

Financial implications Author: Joana Marfoh 
 
Legal Implications Author: Uhma Mehta, Assistant director, 
Corporate and Dispute Resolution 
Tel: 
Email: uhma.mehta@islington.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 101

mailto:uhma.mehta@islington.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



    

 

 

 

  Resources Department  
 7 Newington Barrow Way  

London, N7 7EP 

 

Report of: Corporate Director of Resources  

Meeting of: Pensions Sub-committee 

Date:  5th December 2022  

 

Subject: LGPS – EMPLOYER DISCRETIONS 2022 

1. Synopsis  

1.1. The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations requires the Pension Fund to 

formally publish its policy on “discretions” review and make such revisions as are 

appropriate following a change in its policy. 

1.2. This report summarises the relevant regulations and the pension policies that need 

to be  reviewed and makes recommendations for the adoption of a new pension 

policy statement as required under Regulation 60. It also considers and makes 

recommendations concerning certain other discretions available under the LGPS.  

2. Recommendations   

2.1. To note the contents of the report. 

2.2. To accept the current recommendations in relation to the Council’s discretions and 

review our policies accordingly as set out in Appendix 1 and 2.  

2.3. To approve the introduction of a new discretion of a Shared Cost Additional 

Voluntary Contribution Scheme (SCAVC) with a new provider AVC wise. 

2.4. To agree to apply the same policy in respect of Regulation 30(8) discretions where 

the Council is the administering authority and a former employer has ceased to be 

a scheme employer. 

 

Page 103

Agenda Item B4



3. Background  

3.1. The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a statutory scheme; the rules 

and regulations governing the scheme are laid down under Act of Parliament 

however there are some provisions of the Scheme that are discretionary. 

Discretionary powers allow employers to choose how, or if, they apply certain 

provisions. As an employer, the Council is required to formulate, publish and keep 

under review a policy statement on these discretions.  

 

3.2. The Council must consider the discretionary powers granted to employers in the 

context of both “active members” (generally current employees) who are in 2014 

LGPS and also former employees (“members” of the LGPS) who left the Council 

prior to 31st March 2014 with deferred pension benefits. 

 
 

4.        Employer Discretions 
 

4.1 Regulation 60 of the Regulations requires the Council as employer to prepare a written     

statement of its policy in relation to the exercise of its functions under regulations:  

 

(a)  16(2)(e) and 16(4)(d) (funding of additional pension); 

(b)  30(6) (flexible retirement); 
(c)  30(8) (waiving of actuarial reduction); and 

(d)  31 (award of additional pension), 
 

and an administering authority must prepare such a statement in relation to the 

exercise of its functions under regulation 30(8) in cases where a former employer has 
ceased to be    a scheme employer. 

 
For details of the Regulations see: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/2356/regulation/60/made 

4.2  There is no longer an automatic entitlement to an unreduced pension for employees who 
voluntarily retire early aged between 55 and 60 whose length of service plus age is 85 or 
more. The Transitional Regulations provide a discretion to “switch back on” that 

entitlement on compassionate grounds. 

4.3  In preparing, reviewing and making revisions to its statement under Regulation 60 the 
Council must have regard to the extent to which the exercise of these discretionary 

powers, could lead to a serious loss of confidence in the public service. 

 

 

 

Page 104

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/2356/regulation/60/made


4.4  The Council proposes one discretion change for consideration which is the introduction 
of a Shared Cost Additional Voluntary Contributions Scheme which is permissible 

under Regulation 17 of the LGPS 2013. This enables the Council, where a member opts 
to pay AVCs to also contribute to that arrangement. This is known as a Shared Cost AVC 

(SCAVC). If a member chooses to participate in a SCAVC Scheme, it is facilitated via a 
‘salary sacrifice’ arrangement. The member’s salary is reduced by a fixed amount and 
this is paid by the Council as a contribution into the member’s AVC fund. The benefits of 

SCAVC is that it reduces the employer and member NI Contributions in addition to 
providing tax savings to the member. (NB. Employer savings are only made when the 

employees’ earnings are above the Primary NIC threshold of £12,570 therefore 
employees earning under this threshold will not make savings). Further information is 
provided in Appendix 1, along with a summary of the Council’s other discretionary 

policies. Appendix 2 outlines the 5 mandatory employer discretions.  

 Further reviews and updates to our discretions will be presented to the Pension Board 

and Pension Sub-Committee for consideration next year.  

4.5  All the Appendices are subject to review in accordance with the scheme regulations.  

5. Implications  

5.1. Financial Implications  

 

5.1.1. The cost of administering the LGPS is chargeable to the Pension Fund. There are 

financial implications arising directly from the report. The costs of exercising the 

discretions detailed in Appendix 1 and 2 can give rise to pension strain costs 

when a member draws their pension benefits before their normal or state pension 

age (for whatever reason). 

 

5.1.2. Factors that influence the strain costs include the members’ age, length of service, 

gender and marital status. The impact on the fund is the loss of future 

contribution streams from the employee and the member, and paying out benefits 

earlier than otherwise anticipated. Generally where a strain costs arises due to an 

employer decision, such as waiving actuarial reductions, the strain costs will be 

met by the employer and not the Pension Fund. 

  

5.2. Legal Implications  

 

5.2.1. There are no specific legal implications in this report. Regulation 60 of the Local 

Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 requires the Council to prepare 

and publish a written statement of its policy in relation to various discretions 

available to it under the scheme and to publish that statement. The statement 

must thereafter be kept under review. 

 

5.2.2. The Regulations require that in preparing or making revisions to its pension policy 

statements, the scheme employer must have regard to the extent to which the 

exercise of any of its policies could lead to a serious loss of confidence in the 

public service (Regulation 60(5)). 
Page 105



5.3. Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero 

carbon Islington by 2030 

5.3.1. None applicable to this report.  Environmental implications will be included in each 

report to the Pension Board/Committee as necessary. The current agreed 

investment strategy statement for pensions outlines the policies and targets set to 

April 2022 to reduce the current and future carbon exposure by 50% and 75% 

respectively compared to when it was measured in 2016 and also invest 15% of 

the fund in green opportunities. The link to the full document is  

https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-

records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910l

ondonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf 

 

5.4. Equalities Impact Assessment 

5.4.1. The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to 

eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of 

opportunity, and foster good relations, between those who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 

2010). The council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or 

minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take 

account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to participate in 

public life. The council must have due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and 

promote understanding. 

   

5.4.2. An Equalities Impact Assessment is not required in relation to this report, because 

there are no adverse impacts in terms of equalities arising from the contents of 

this report. The LGPS is a statutory public service pension scheme open to all 

Council employees.  

 

6. Conclusion and reasons for recommendations 

6.1. There is a legal requirement for the Council to regularly review its discretionary 

pension policy. In formulating and reviewing the policy statement the Council 

must have regard to the extent to which the exercise of its discretionary powers 

could lead to a serious loss of confidence in the public service. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 106

https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf


Appendices: Appendix 1 and 2 

Background papers: none 

 

 

Final report clearance: 

Signed by:  

 

 

   Corporate Director of Resources     

Date:  23 November 2022  

 

Report Author: Patrick Fullerton, Pensions Manager 

Tel: 020 7527 2588 
Email: patrick.fullerton@islington.gov.uk 

Legal comments: Julian Walshaw, (Acting) Assistant Director of Law 
Tel: 020 7527 3076 
Email: julian.walshaw1@islington.gov.uk 

 

Page 107

mailto:patrick.fullerton@islington.gov.uk
mailto:julian.walshaw1@islington.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Appendix 1 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Local Government Pension       Scheme  

Administering Authority Discretions Policy 2022 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 109



 

Policy Change Control 
 

 
 

 
Policy Owner Corporate Director of Resources 

Approved By  

Date  

Next Revision Due September 2023 

Version 1.2 
 
 
 

Page 110



 

 

OVERVIEW 
 

Under the LGPS Regulations, the Fund is required to formally publish its policy on 

“discretions”.  

 

Unless stated otherwise the references to regulations are set out below:  

 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 [prefix R] 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and 

Amendment) Regulations 2014 [prefix TP] 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 [prefix A] 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) 

Regulations 2007 as amended) [prefix B] 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 

[prefix T] 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended) [prefix L] 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1995  

 

 

This policy statement clarifies Islington Council’s position on the discretions. 

 
The policy statement applies to all members of staff who are eligible to be members of the 

LGPS, as defined in the regulations. 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Page 111



 

 
 

 
Summary of Administering Authority Pension Discretion Changes 

 

 
 
1. Funding of Shared Cost AVC. 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 112



 

ISLINGTON COUNCIL - ADMINISTERING AUTHORITY DISCRETIONS – CHANGE:  
 
 
 

No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

1 Funding of 
Shared Cost 
AVC 

R13 17(1)  The LGPS has a provision within its regulations to allow 
an employee to enter into an agreement in which the 
employer can decide to also contribute to their 
employee’s AVC arrangement. This is known as a 
Shared Cost AVC (SCAVC).  

Not to allow an employee 
to enter into an agreement 
in which the employer can 
decide to also contribute 
to their employee's AVC 
arrangement. 

To adopt this measure under 
a Salary Sacrifice 
arrangement. If an employee 
enters into a SCAVC Salary 
Sacrifice arrangement with 
their employer, the employers 
NI contribution returns to 
HMRC are reduced and the 

employee makes a saving on 
both NI contributions and 
income tax. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
ISLINGTON COUNCIL – ADMINISTERING AUTHORITY DISCRETIONS – NO CHANGE :  

P
age 113



 

 
No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

2 Waiving of 
actuarial 
reductions on 
compassionate 
grounds 

R13 31(5) of 
the LGPS 
Regulations 
1997 and 
paragraph 2(1) 
of Schedule 2 
to the LGPS 
(Transitional 
Provisions, 
Savings and 
Amendment) 
Regulations 
2014].  

Whether, on compassionate grounds, to waive any 
actuarial reduction that would normally be applied to 
benefits which are paid before age 65? Employers can 
agree to waive any actuarial reductions on 
compassionate grounds due in the case of employees 
who ceased active membership between 1 April 1998 
and 31 March 2008. 

Not to apply the 
discretion to waive all or 
part of any actuarial 
reduction in respect of 
Regulation 30(5). 

No change 
 
 
 
 

3 Waiving of 
actuarial 
reduction – in 
cases of 
voluntary early 
retirement) 

R13 30(8)  An active member can voluntarily retire on or after age 
55 and draw pension benefits, as can a deferred member 
on or after age 55 [Regulation 30(5)]. The pension 
amount in both cases will normally be actuarially 
adjusted. Employers may agree to waive all or part of the 
actuarial reduction in each case. Waiving the reduction 
would require the Council to make a payment to the 
pension fund for the shortfall (pension strain) created by 
paying the pension early without reduction. 

Not to apply the 
discretion to waive all or 
part of any actuarial 
reduction in respect of 
Regulation 30(5) 

No change 
 

4 Waiving of 
actuarial 
reduction by 
switching on 
the 85 year rule 
for scheme 
members 
wishing to 
voluntarily 
draw benefits 
early 

The LGPS 
(Transitional 
Provisions and 
Savings) 
Regulations 
2014       

An active member is able to retire without the employer’s 
permission between age 55 and before age 60 and their 
pension benefits will normally be subject to an actuarial 
reduction to meet the strain on the pension fund. In 
cases where the employee is protected under the 85 
year rule (a scheme member on 30 September 2006), 
the employer has discretion to waive the actuarial 
reduction by switching on the 85 year rule if an employee 
voluntarily requests to draw their pension benefits and 
the pension strain cost is met by the employer. (i.e. age 
at retirement and length of service add up to 85) 

Not to switch on the 85 
year rule for those who 
retire before the age of 
60.  Currently the 85 
year rule is switched off. 

No change 

 

P
age 114



 

No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

5 Governance 
compliance 
statement 

R13 55  Governance Compliance Statement must state whether 

the administering authority delegates its function or part 

of its function in relation to maintaining a pension fund to 

a committee, a sub-committee or an officer of the 

administering authority. 
 

Islington Council has set up 
the Local Pension Board to 
ensure that the pension 
scheme is properly run. The 
Council has delegated the 
investment arrangements of 
the scheme to the Pensions 
Sub-Committee. 
See our latest Governance 
Compliance Statement on: 
 
islington.gov.uk/pension-
scheme/about-the-fund 
 

No change 

6 Funding 
Strategy 

R13 58  Decide on Funding Strategy for inclusion in Funding  
strategy statement. 

See our latest Funding 
Strategy Statement on: 
 
islington.gov.uk/pension-
scheme/about-the-fund 
 

No change 

7 Communication 
policy 

R13 61 Communication policy must set out the policy on 
provision of information and publicity to, and 
communicating with, members, representatives of 
members, prospective members and Scheme employers; 
the format, frequency and method of communications; 
and the promotion of the Scheme to prospective 
members and their employers. 

See our latest 
Communication Policy on: 
 
islington.gov.uk/pension-
scheme/about-the-fund 
 

No change 

8 Recovery of 
unpaid 
employee 
contributions 
as debt from 
benefits 

A45 Whether to recover any outstanding employee 
contributions as debt or as deduction from benefits 

The Council will deduct any 
unpaid employee 
contributions from the 
benefits relating to the 
membership to which the 
unpaid contributions relate. 

No change. 

 
 

P
age 115

https://www.islington.gov.uk/jobs-and-careers/council-pension-scheme/about-the-fund
https://www.islington.gov.uk/jobs-and-careers/council-pension-scheme/about-the-fund
https://www.islington.gov.uk/jobs-and-careers/council-pension-scheme/about-the-fund
https://www.islington.gov.uk/jobs-and-careers/council-pension-scheme/about-the-fund
https://www.islington.gov.uk/jobs-and-careers/council-pension-scheme/about-the-fund
https://www.islington.gov.uk/jobs-and-careers/council-pension-scheme/about-the-fund


 

No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

9 Employer strain 
payments 

R13 68(2) 
TP Sch 2, 
Para 2(3) 
L 80(5) 

Whether to require any strain on Fund costs to be paid 

“up front” by an employer following redundancy / 

business efficiency, flexible retirement, or the waiver (in 

whole or in part) of any actuarial reduction on voluntary 

or flexible retirement, or the waiver of an actuarial 

reduction on compassionate grounds under TP Sch 2, 

para 2(1). 

The Council will recharge all 
strain on the fund costs in 
accordance with the Rates 
and Adjustment Certificate 
and guidance produced by 
the Fund Actuary. Payment 
should normally be made at 
the end of the financial year 
in the form of lump sum. 

No change 
 

10 Employer 
Payments 

R13 69(4)  Decide form and frequency of information from 
employers to accompany payments to the Fund 

Information should be 

provided on a monthly basis 
unless a less frequent basis 
is agreed with the Head of 
Pensions & Treasury. 

No change 
 

11 Appeal to the 
Secretary of 
State 

R13 79 
& A63 

Whether to appeal to the Secretary of State against an 
employer decision or lack of an employer decision 

The Council will appeal to 
the Secretary of State if it 
believes an employer has 
made (or failed to make) a 
decision that is both wrong 
in law and material 

No change 
 

12 Admission 
Agreement 

R3(1A), 
R3(5) & 
RSch 2, Part 
3, para 1 A 

Whether to agree to an admission agreement with a 
body applying to be an admission body. 

The Council will enter into 
an admission agreement 
with an admission body that 
is regarded as having a 
community of interest, 
provided it is satisfied about 
the long-term financial 
security of the body and it 
has a public sector 
guarantee. 

No change 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 116



 

 
No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

13 Waiving of 
actuarial 
reduction – 
in cases of 
flexible 
retirement 

R13 30(8) Whether to permit flexible retirement for staff aged 55 or 
over who, with the agreement of the Councils, reduce 
their working hours or grade and, if so, as part of the 
agreement whether to: •     in addition to the benefits the 
member has accrued prior to 1 April 2008 (which the 
member must draw if flexible retirement is agreed), 
permit the member to choose to draw o  all, part or none 
of the pension benefits they accrued after 31 March 2008 
and before 1 April 2014, and/or o  all, part or none of the 
pension benefits they accrued after 31 March 2014, and •   
waive, in whole or in part, any actuarial reduction which 
would otherwise be applied to the benefits taken on 
flexible retirement before Normal Pension Age (NPA). 
[Regulation 30(6) of the  LGPS Regulations 2013] 

The Council will permit 
flexible retirement where the 
Service Director in 
consultation with the 
Director of Finance agree 
that this is proven to be in 
the best financial and/or 
operational interests of the 
Council. The Councils’ 
approval will normally be for 
the release of all accrued 
pension benefits but, if 
requested by the member, 
the Councils may decide on 
whether, in addition to any 
pre 1 April 2008 benefits, 
the member will be 
permitted to take all, some 
or none of their post 31 
March 2008 benefits subject 
to any state scheme 
guarantees being invoked 
that could cost the pension 
funds extra pension. Any 
actuarial reduction 
applicable to benefits will 
normally be applied unless 
the financial interests and/or 
operational interests of the 
Councils indicate that 
waiving part or all of that 
reduction is justified. 

No change 

 
 
  

P
age 117



 

 
 
No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

14 Waiving of 
actuarial 
reduction – 
in cases of 
flexible 
retirement 

R13 30(8) Whether to permit flexible retirement for staff aged 55 or 
over who, with the agreement of the Councils, reduce 
their working hours or grade and, if so, as part of the 
agreement whether to: •     in addition to the benefits the 
member has accrued prior to 1 April 2008 (which the 
member must draw if flexible retirement is agreed), 
permit the member to choose to draw o  all, part or none 
of the pension benefits they accrued after 31 March 2008 
and before 1 April 2014, and/or o  all, part or none of the 
pension benefits they accrued after 31 March 2014, and •   
waive, in whole or in part, any actuarial reduction which 
would otherwise be applied to the benefits taken on 
flexible retirement before Normal Pension Age (NPA). 
[Regulation 30(6) of the  LGPS Regulations 2013] 

The Council will permit 
flexible retirement where the 
Service Director in 
consultation with the 
Director of Finance agree 
that this is proven to be in 
the best financial and/or 
operational interests of the 
Council. The Councils’ 
approval will normally be for 
the release of all accrued 
pension benefits but, if 
requested by the member, 
the Councils may decide on 
whether, in addition to any 
pre 1 April 2008 benefits, 
the member will be 
permitted to take all, some 
or none of their post 31 
March 2008 benefits subject 
to any state scheme 
guarantees being invoked 
that could cost the pension 
funds extra pension. Any 
actuarial reduction 
applicable to benefits will 
normally be applied unless 
the financial interests and/or 
operational interests of the 
Councils indicate that 
waiving part or all of that 
reduction is justified. 

No change 

 
 
  

P
age 118



 

 
No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

15 Award of 
additional 
pension 

R13 31   
[replacing 
Reg12 LGPS 
Benefits Reg. 
2008 which 
allowed an 
additional 
£5,000 per 
annum] 

An employer may award an active member, or a member 
who was an active member who was dismissed by 
reason of redundancy, or business efficiency, or whose 
employment was terminated by mutual consent on 
grounds of business efficiency, additional annual pension 
of up to £7,316 from 1st April 2021. (NB. This figure is 
increased each year, in line with the Regulations. 

Not to fund additional 
pension via added 
contributions of up to £7,316 
(as at 1st April 2021).       

No change 

16 Waiving of 
actuarial 
reduction 
by 
switching 
on the 85 
year rule for 
deferred 
members 
wishing to 
voluntarily 
draw 
benefits 
early 

Section 
1(1)(c) & 1(2) 
of Schedule 2 
to the LGPS 
(Transitional 
Provisions, 
Savings and 
Amendment) 
Regulations 
2014 

A member with a deferred benefit who left the scheme 
voluntarily between 1 April 2008 – 31 March 2014  and 
who has subsequently become a deferred pensioner 
may now claim their benefits from age 55 without their 
employers consent. However, these benefits will be 
reduced for early payment. Where a member has 
reached the 85 year rule at the point of retirement, an 
employer can consent to switching on the 85 year rule. 
Any ‘strain’ to the Fund will be payable immediately by 
the Scheme employer.   
    

Not to switch on the 85 year 
rule for those members with 
deferred benefits who 
voluntarily draw benefits on 
or after age 55 and before 
age 60 or upon the voluntary 
early payment of a 
suspended tier 3 ill health 
pension. 

No change 

17 Waiving of 
actuarial 
reduction 
by 
switching 
on the 85 
year rule for 
deferred 
members 
wishing to 
voluntarily 
draw 
benefits 
early 

R13 Section 1 
(1) (f) & 1 (2) 
of Schedule 2 
to the LGPS 
(Transitional 
Provisions, 
Savings and 
Amendment) 
regulations 
2014 

Deferred members who left the scheme after 1 April 1998 
are now able to voluntarily retire between ages 55 and 
60. If they were a member of the LGPS on 30 September 
2006 then some of their benefits could be protected from 
reductions applied to early payment under the 85 year 
rule. This rule only applies automatically to members 
voluntarily retiring from age 60 but the ceding employer 
has the discretion to “switch it on” for voluntary 
retirements between age 55 and 60. Where the employer 
does not choose to “switch on” the rule, then benefits 
built up would be subject to reduction.   

Not to switch on the 85 year 
rule for those members with 
deferred benefits who 
voluntarily draw benefits on 
or after age 55 and before 
age 60 

No change 

P
age 119



 

No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

18 Right to 
terminate 
admission 
agreement 

R13 Sch2 The Council has the right to terminate an admission 
agreement in prescribed circumstances.  

The Council shall retain the 
right to terminate an 
admission agreement in the 
event of:    (a) The 
insolvency, winding up or 
liquidation of the admission 
body, ( b)  A material breach 
by the admission body of any 
of its obligations under the 
admission agreement or 
these Regulations which has 
not been remedied within a 
reasonable time, or (.c) A 
failure by the Employer to 
pay any sums due to the 
fund within a reasonable 
period after receipt of a 
notice from Islington Council. 
 

No change 

19 Medical 
examination 
required for 
purchase of 
APC 

R13 16(10)  The Council has the right to require a member to 
undergo a medical examination at their own expense to 
prove that the member is in reasonably good health. 

No medical report required to 
take out APC. 

No change 
 

 
  

P
age 120



 

No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

20 Pension 
Abatement 

[Regulation 
3(13) LGPS 
(Transitional 
Provisions, 
Savings & 
Amendment) 
Regulations 
2014 & 
regulations 
70(1)  71(4)(c) 
of the LGPS 
(Administration) 
Regulations 
2008] 

Whether to abate pensions upon re-employment. The Council will not abate 
pensions upon re-
employment as agreed at 
September 2016 Audit 
Committee. Any pensions 
that have previously been 
abated following re-
employment will cease to 
be abated with effect from 
the Audit Committee 
decision. 

No change 

21 Child's 
Pension - 
break in full-
time 
education 

[Reg. 17(9) of 
the LGPS 
(Transitional 
Provisions, 
Savings & 
Amendment) 
Reg. 2014 & 
definition in 
Sch 1 of the 
LGPS R13] 

Whether to treat a child as being in continuous full-time 
education or vocational training despite a break. 

Islington Council will not 
treat a break of a single 
period not exceeding one 
academic year in a child's 
education as a disqualifying 
condition for the restart of a 
suspended pension. The 
Council will restart a 
suspended child’s pension 
at the end of such a break 
or gap, providing 
confirmation from the 
relevant educational body is 
received that 
education/training has 
resumed. 

No change 

22 Joining 
LGPS 
membership 

R13 22(8)(b) Whether to extend the 12 month option period for a 
member to elect that post 31 March 2014 deferred 
benefits should not be aggregated with a new 
employment 

The Council do not extend 
the normal time limits, 
except in exceptional 
circumstances where it may 
be reasonable, e.g. where 
an election was made in 
time, but not received by 
the Pension Fund 

No change 

P
age 121



 

No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

23 Joining 
LGPS 
membership 

R13 22(7)(b) Whether to extend the 12 month option period for a 
member to elect that post 31 March 2014 deferred 
benefits should not be aggregated with an going 
concurrent employment 

The Council do not extend 
the normal time limits, 
except in exceptional 
circumstances where it may 
be reasonable, e.g. where 
an election was made in 
time, but not received by the 
Pension Fund 

No change 

24 Pensionable 
Pay 

R13 21(5A) 
(5b) 

Whether to decide to substitute a higher level of 
assumed pensionable pay when the preceding 3 
months/12 weeks is materially lower than the level of 
pensionable pay the member would have normally 
received. 

Where pensionable pay in 
the 3 month period prior to 
commencement of APP is 
materially lower than the 
level of pay that would 
normally have been 
received, the Council will 
not normally substitute this 
with a higher level of 
pensionable pay, except 
when determining 
calculations for ill health 
retirement or death in 
service. 

No change 

25 Injury 
allowances 

LG 
(Discretionary 
Payments) 
(Injury 
Allowance) 
R11 3(1) 

Whether to grant an injury allowance following reduction 
in remuneration as a result of sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease in the course of carrying out duties 
of the job. 

The Council does not grant 
any injury allowance. 

No change 

26 Transfers 
into the 
fund and 
extension of 
12-month 
time limit 

R13 100 Whether to accept a transfer value of pension’s rights 
into the Fund and extend the time limit of 12 months from 
the date the member first became an active member in 
their current employment. 

The Council do not extend 
the normal time limits, 
except in exceptional 
circumstances where it may 
be reasonable, e.g. where 
an election was made in 
time, but not received by the 
Pension Fund 

No change 

 

P
age 122



 

 
No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

27 Employer 
Payments - 
Interest on 
overdue 
payments 

R13 71 Whether to charge interest on payments by employers 
which are overdue. 

The Council reserves the 
regulatory prescribed right 
to require interest to be paid 
when payments are 
overdue by more than one 
month. Interest must be 
calculated at one per cent 
above base rate on a day to 
day basis from the due date 
to the date of payment and 
compounded with three 
monthly rests. 

No change 

28 Notice to 
recover 
costs due to 
employer's 
performance 

R13 70 Whether to issue the employer with a notice to recover 
additional costs incurred as a result of the employer's 
level of performance. 

The Council reviews from 
time to time whether to 
issue an employer with 
notice to recover additional 
costs incurred as a result of 
the employer’s level of 
performance. 

No change 

29 Employer 
consent 
retirement 

R95 D11(2) c Whether to grant an application for early payment of 
deferred benefits on or after age 50 and before age 55 
on compassionate grounds. Benefits paid before age 55 
are subject to an unauthorised payment charge payable 
to HMRC. (Finance Act 2004 Chapter 5 (208) 

The Council will only 
consider such applications 
in exceptional 
circumstances. Please refer 
to appendix 4.  

No change 

30 Employer 
consent 
retirement 

R97 31(5) Whether to grant an application for early payment of 
deferred benefits on or after age 50 and before age 55 
on compassionate grounds. Benefits paid before age 55 
are subject to an unauthorised payment charge payable 
to HMRC. (Finance Act 2004 Chapter 5 (208) 

The Council will only 
consider such applications 
in exceptional 
circumstances. Please refer 
to appendix 4.  

No change 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

P
age 123



 

 
No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

31 Information 
to be 
supplied 
by 
Employers 

TP23, TP22(1) 
& R80(1)(b) 

Specify information to be supplied by employers to 
enable administering authority to discharge its 
functions.  

Information to be supplied by 
employers is specified on the 
Council’s pension webpages: 
 
islington.gov.uk/jobs-and-
careers/council-pension-
scheme/employer 
 

 
No change 

32 Death 
Grant 
Payments 

R13 95 Whether to pay the whole or part of the amount that is 
due to the personnel representatives (including 
anything due to the deceased member at the date of 
death) to: 

 personal representatives, or 

 anyone appearing to be beneficially entitled to the 
estate 

without need for grant of probate / letters of 
administration where payment is less than amount 
specified in s6 of the Administration of Estates (Small 
Payments) Act 1965. 
 

The Council has absolute 
discretion as to whom any sum 
will be paid but in general 
would do its best to act in 
accordance with any wishes 
that the deceased member 
expressed. To assist the 
Council, members are 
encouraged to complete an 
Expression of Wish form to 
nominate one or more 
individuals and also any 
organisation, to receive all or a 
share of your death grant. 

No change 

33 Approving 
medical 
advisors 

R95 D11(2) c The Administering Authority is required to approve 
medical advisors used by employers 

The Council accepts the 
choice of all the fund 
employers to appoint their own 
Occupational Health Doctors. 
Any Doctor signing an ill-health 
certificate must be qualified in 
Occupational Health Medicine 
as stipulated in the pension 
scheme regulations.  

No change 

34 Double 
entitlement 

R 49(1)(c) 
B 42(1)(c) 

Decide, in the absence of an election from the 
member, which benefit is to be paid where the member 
would be entitled to a benefit under 2 or more 
regulations in respect of the same period of Scheme 
membership. 

The authority to determine and 
notify the member of the 
provision under which benefits 
are to be awarded will be 
delegated to the Pensions 
Manager. 

No change 

P
age 124

https://www.islington.gov.uk/jobs-and-careers/council-pension-scheme/employer
https://www.islington.gov.uk/jobs-and-careers/council-pension-scheme/employer
https://www.islington.gov.uk/jobs-and-careers/council-pension-scheme/employer


 

 
No Subject Regulations  Description of Discretion Policy Recommendation 

35 Concurrent 
aggregation 

TP 10(9) Where there are multiple ongoing employments, in the 
absence of an election from the member within 12 
months of ceasing a concurrent employment, decide to 
which record the benefits from the ceased concurrent 
employment should be aggregated. 

The authority to determine 
this is delegated to the 
Pensions Manager.  
(The assessment will be 
based on which of the 
concurrent employments 
continuing immediately 
after leaving the 
employment in question is 
considered the main 
ongoing employment. This 
assessment being made 
based on which 
employment has the 
greatest annual rate of 
pensionable pay based on 
pay that would be 
pensionable under 
Regulation 20 of the LGPS 
Regulations 2013). 

No change 

36 Final Pay TP 3(6), 
4(6)(c), 8(4), 
10(2)(a) & 
17(2)(b) 
B 10(2) 

Where member to whom B10 applies (use of average of 
3 years pay within the period of 13 years ending with the 
last day of active membership for final pay purposes) 
dies before making an election, whether to make that 
election on behalf of the deceased member. 

The pay figure that will 
provide the greatest benefit 
will be applied in all cases. 

No change 

37 Determination 
over value of 
exit payment 

R 64(2ZB)  Determine the amount of an exit credit, which may be 
zero, when an employer becomes an exiting employer in 
the Fund with a funding surplus. 

Delegated to the Head of 
Pensions & Treasury and 
to be agreed in 
consultation with the Fund 
Actuary.  

No change 

38 Revised 
Rates & 
Adjustment 
Certificates 

R64(4) Whether to obtain revision of employer’s contribution rate 
if there are circumstances which make it likely a Scheme 
employer will become an exiting employer. 

Delegated to the Head of 
Pensions & Treasury and 
to be agreed in 
consultation with the Fund 
Actuary. 

No change 

P
age 125



 

 

P
age 126



 

 

 

 

 

 

 Appendix 2 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local Government Pension       Scheme  

Employer Discretions Policy 2022 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 127



 

Policy Change Control 
 

 
 

 
Policy Owner Corporate Director of Resources 

Approved By  

Date  

Next Revision Due September 2023 

Version 1.2 
 
 
 

Page 128



1 

 

 

 

OVERVIEW 

 
Under the LGPS Regulations, the Fund is required to formally publish its policy on “discretions”.  

 

Unless stated otherwise the references to regulations are set out below:  

 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 [prefix R] 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and 

Amendment) Regulations 2014 [prefix TP] 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 [prefix A] 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) 

Regulations 2007 as amended) [prefix B] 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 

[prefix T] 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended) [prefix L] 

 The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1995  

 

 

This policy statement clarifies Islington Council’s position on the discretions. 

 
The policy statement applies to all members of staff who are eligible to be members of the 

LGPS, as defined in the regulations. 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Page 129



2 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

1. Introduction  

2. Regulation 30(6) – Flexible Retirement  

3. Regulation 31 – award of additional pension                               

4. Regulation 16(2)(e) and 16(4)(d) – (Funding of additional pension) 

5. Regulation 30(8) – Waiving actuarial reductions on compassionate grounds  

6. Regulation 1(1)(C) – Switching back on the “Rule of 85” for employees retiring between 55   

and 60 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



3 

 

 

1. Introduction 
 

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a statutory scheme; the rules and 

regulations governing the scheme are laid down under Act of Parliament however there are 

some provisions of the Scheme that are discretionary. 

 
Discretionary powers allow employers to choose how, or if, they apply certain provisions. 

Exercising these discretions can have immediate costs for employers, however failing to 

set a policy in relation to discretions is a breach of the scheme regulations. 

Within the list of discretions that an employer must have a policy on, only five have to be 

published.-  

For further guidance on the discretions which exist within the LGPS regulatory framework 

and the parties responsible for exercising those discretions, please refer to the LGPS 
Employer’s website: 

 

lgpsregs.org/employer-resources/guides 
 

 
Islington Council Pension Fund require a copy of the discretionary policies held by each 
employer to ensure that the potential employer costs are correctly reflected in future valuation 
result; in the absence of a policy being held the actuary will assume the higher cost option is 

taken by the employer which would increase the employer’s liabilities. 
 

An employer’s discretionary document confers no contractual rights and an employer 

retains the right to change the policies at any time without prior notice or consultation. 
Only the policy which is current at the time a relevant event occurs to an 
employee/scheme member will be applied to that employee/member. If you do revise 

your policy, the revised policy must be published for all staff to see for 30 days. Again, only 
after this period, and only after any queries have been dealt with, can the policy become 
effective; at this time, an employer should forward a copy to Islington Council’s Pension 

Fund. 
 

Please note the guidance provided in this document is not exhaustive and in formulating and 

reviewing its policy, an employer must have regard to any serious loss of confidence in the 
public service which may occur as a result of exercising its discretionary powers. 

Page 131

http://www.lgpsregs.org/index.php/guides/administration-guides-to-the-2014-scheme


4 

 

 

2. Regulation 30(6) – Flexible Retirement 
 

An employer can allow any of their actively contributing LGPS members who are age 55 or over to access 

their benefits and continue to work for them. This option is not available for anybody who has opted out of 
the LGPS (i.e. they are not currently paying into the pension scheme). 
 

An employer will need to develop a procedure whereby members can request to reduce either their 
hours or their grade (or both) and, with the employer’s approval, access their LGPS benefits and 
continue to work; they can also continue to pay into the LGPS and build up further benefits that will 
be payable when they fully retire. 

 
The policy wording should be used to explain to a member how they can go about requesting flexible 
retirement and whether the employer has any specific restrictions that must be adhered to. 
 

In flexible retirement cases, pension benefits will be reduced in accordance with actuarial tables unless the 
employer waives the reduction (either fully or in part) or if a member has protected rights. 

 

Where there will be a strain cost for approving flexible retirement, any costs associated with this will be 
payable immediately in one instalment. Where the member is aged between 55 and 60, there most likely 

will be a strain cost. Where the member is aged 60 or over, there is no strain cost. 
 
Where flexible retirement is agreed for an employee aged 55 or over but under Normal Pension Age the 

cost of waiving any actuarial reduction, in whole or in part, would have to be met by, and paid to the 
Pension Fund by the employer. 

 
An employer must take in to consideration that strain costs will be higher if they chose to waive 

reductions.  
 
An employer can request strain costs from Islington Council Pension Fund for flexible retirement. The 

employer will receive the strain cost information only and will not receive a copy of the member benefits 
(this information is sent directly to the member) – if the employer wishes to see a copy of the information 
before making a decision, it is the responsibility of the member to supply the employer with this 

information. 

Page 132



5 

 

 

3. Regulation 31 –Granting additional pension  
 
An employer can grant extra annual pension of up to £7352* (at full cost to the employer) to an active 
scheme member or, within 6 months of leaving to a member who is dismissed by reason of 

redundancy or business efficiency or whose employment is terminated by mutual consent on the 
grounds of business efficiency. The maximum amount of £7352* includes any amount of additional 
pension already granted by the employer under regulation 13 of the LGPS (Benefits, Membership and 

Contributions) Regulations 2007. The cost of any extra annual pension awarded would have to be 
paid to the Pension Fund by the employer as a lump sum payment. 

 
Any extra annual pension granted by the employer would be subject to an actuarial reduction 

where, other than in a case of ill health retirement or retirement on redundancy or business 

efficiency grounds, that extra annual pension is drawn before the member’s Normal Pension Age. 

The extra annual pension provides a benefit for the scheme member only and is not included in 

any survivors benefits upon the death if the scheme member. 

 

The amount of extra annual pension purchased (or being purchased) by the employer under a 
Shared Cost Additional Pension Contributions (SCAPC) arrangement (including a SCAPC 

arrangement where an employer is contributing 2/3rds of the cost of purchasing pension ‘lost’ 

during a period of absence) counts towards the £7352* limit of extra annual pension that the 

employer can award. 

 
Employers cannot grant extra annual pension if the employer makes an award of lump sum 

compensation (of up to 104 weeks’ pay) under regulation 6 of the Local Government (Early 

Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 

2006. Employers can, however, grant extra annual pension if the employer makes an award 

under regulation 5 of the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 

Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 i.e. bases a redundancy payment on an 

employee’s actual weeks’ pay where this exceeds the statutory weeks’ pay limit.  

 
An issue that potentially arises in granting extra annual pension is that, in some cases, it can result in the 
value of the scheme member’s benefits being increased by more than the permitted standard Annual 
Allowance of currently, £40000 (2022/23). Any increase in value above that figure could result in a tax 

charge for the individual. 
 
Any additional pension granted will also count towards the capitalised value of a person’s pension 

benefits which have to be assessed against the member’s Lifetime Allowance (LTA) under the tax 
regime governing pension schemes. If, on retirement under the LGPS, the capitalised value of their 
total LGPS benefits is more than the person’s remaining LTA, they will have to pay tax on the excess 
(at the rate of 25% if the excess is paid in the form of pension and 55% if paid in the form of a lump 

sum).  

Page 133



6 

 

 

4. Regulation 16(2)(e) and 16(4)(d) - Voluntarily 
contributing to an active member’s APC 

 
 

This discretion is where an active scheme member wishes to purchase extra annual pension of 

up to £7352 (figure at 1 April 2022) by making Additional Pension Contributions (APCs) and 

the employer will voluntarily contribute towards the cost of purchasing that extra pension via a 

Shared Cost Additional Pension Contribution (SCAPC). 

 
This discretion does not relate to cases where a member has a period of authorised unpaid 

leave of absence and elects within 30 days of return to work to pay a SCAPC to cover the 

amount of pension ‘lost’ during that period of absence. That is because, in those cases, the 

employer must contribute 2/3rds of the cost to a SCAPC. There may be some cases, even if it is 

not the employer’s general policy to voluntarily contribute to a SCAPC, where an employer might 

wish to do so.  

 
It should be noted that the amount of extra annual pension purchased (or being purchased) 

by the employer under a SCAPC arrangement (including a SCAPC arrangement where an 

employer is contributing 2/3rds of the cost of purchasing pension ‘lost’ during a period of 

absence) reduces the amount of extra annual pension the employer could award under 

Regulation 31 above. 

 

Any extra annual pension granted by the employer under a SCAPC arrangement would be subject 
to an actuarial reduction where, other than in a case of ill health retirement, that extra pension is 

drawn before the member’s Normal Pension Age. 

 
The maximum amount of £7352 (figure at 1 April 2022) includes any amount of additional 

pension purchased, or being purchased, by the member under regulation 14 of the LGPS 

(Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007. 

 

Page 134



7 

 

 

5. Regulation 30(8) – Waiving actuarial reductions on 
compassionate grounds 

 

This discretion is for: 

 
 active members voluntarily retiring on or after age 55  and before Normal 

Pension Age who elect under regulation 30(5) of the LGPS Regulations 2013 to 

immediately draw benefits, and , 

 
 deferred members and suspended Tier 3 ill health pensioners who elect under 

regulation 30(5) of the LGPS Regulations 2013 to draw benefits (other than on ill 

health grounds) on or after age 55  and before Normal Pension Age 

 
It allows the employer to waive (on compassionate grounds) any actuarial reduction that 

would otherwise be applied to benefits accrued before a certain point and/or waive, in whole 

or in part (on any grounds), any actuarial reduction that would otherwise be applied to 

benefits accrued after a certain point. 

 
If the employer does agree to waive any actuarial reduction, the employer will have to meet the 
cost of the strain on the fund resulting from that waiver. 

 
 

 
 

Page 135



8 

 

 

6. Regulation 1(1)(C) – Switching back on the “Rule of 85” for 
employees retiring between 55 and 60 

 
 

This discretion allows the employer to “switch on” (i.e. apply) the 85 year rule for a member 

voluntarily drawing benefits on or after age 55 and before age 60. 

 

The 85 year rule is satisfied if the person was a member of the LGPS on 30 September 2006 

and the member’s age at the date they draw their benefits and their scheme membership 

(each in whole years) add up to 85 or more. If they are part-time, their membership counts 

towards the 85 year rule at its full calendar length. If the employer does agree to apply the 

85 year rule, the employer will have to meet the cost of any strain on fund resulting from the 

payment of benefits before age 60 i.e. where the member has already met the 85 year rule, 

or would meet it before age 60. If the member has met the 85 year rule or would have met it 

before age 60, there would be no strain cost charged to the employer unless the employer 

has agreed to apply the 85 year rule in the case in question. Instead, the cost would be met 

by an actuarial reduction to the scheme member’s benefits. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 136



Page 1 of 5 

 
   
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Resources 

  7 Newington Barrow Way 
  London N7 7EP 
 

 

Report of: Corporate Director of Resources 

Meeting of: Pensions Sub-Committee 

Date:  5th  December 2022  

Ward(s): n/a 

 

Appendix 1 attached is exempt and not for publication as it contains the following category of 
exempt information as specified in Paragraph 3, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, 
namely: Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information). 

 

Subject: The London CIV Update 

 
 

1. Synopsis 
 

1.1 This is a  report informing the committee of  the progress made at the London CIV in 
launching funds, running of portfolios, reviewing governance and investment structure,  over 

the period August  to October 2022. 
 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 To note the progress and activities presented at  the October business update session 
(exempt Appendix1)  
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 Setting up of the London CIV Fund 

Islington is one of 33 London local authorities who have become active participants in the 
London CIV programme.  The  London CIV has been constructed as a FCA regulated UK 

Page 137

Agenda Item B5



Page 2 of 5 

Authorised Contractual Scheme (ACS).  The ACS is composed of two parts: the Operator and 
the Fund. 
    

3.2 A limited liability company (London LGPS CIV Ltd) has been established, with each 
participating borough holding a nominal £1 share. The company registered address is 4th 
Floor, 22 Lavington Street, London, SE1 0NZ. A branding exercise has taken place and the 

decision was taken to brand the company as ‘London CIV.’ The  London CIV received its ACS 
authorisation in November 2015. 
 

3.3 Launching of the CIV 
It was noted that a pragmatic starting point was to analyse which Investment Managers (IM) 
boroughs were currently invested through, to look for commonality (i.e. more than one 
borough invested with the same IM in a largely similar mandate), and to discuss with 

boroughs and IMs which of these ‘common’ mandates would be most appropriate to 
transition to the ACS fund for launch. Each mandate would become a separate, ring-fenced, 
sub-fund within the overall ACS fund. Boroughs would be able to move from one sub-fund to 

another relatively easily, but ring-fencing would prevent cross contamination between sub-
funds.   
 

3.3.1 Further discussions were held with managers, focussing specifically on what would be 
achievable for launch, taking into account timing and transition complexities. Four managers 
were identified as offering potential opportunities for the launch of the London CIV. These 

managers would provide the London CIV with 9 sub-funds, covering just over £6bn of 
Borough assets and providing early opportunity to 20 boroughs. The sub-funds consisted of 6 
‘passive’ equity sub-funds covering £4.2bn of assets, 2 Active Global Equity mandates 

covering £1.6bn and 1 Diversified Growth (or multi-asset) Fund covering just over £300m. 
Those boroughs that did not have an exact match across for launch were able to invest in 
these sub-funds from the outset at the reduced AMC rate that the London  CIV has 
negotiated with managers. 

 
3.4 The Phase 1 launch was with Allianz our then global equity manager and Ealing and 

Wandsworth are the 2 other boroughs who held a similar mandate. The benefits of transfer 

included a reduction in basic fees and possible tax benefits because of the vehicle used. 
Members agreed to transfer our Allianz portfolio in Phase 1 launch that went ahead on 2 
December. This manager was terminated in July 2019. 

 
3.5 Update  to  October 2022 
 3 

3.5.1 
 
 

3.5.2 
 
 

A new CEO, Dean Bowden, is due to start 17 November and there is an in-person get to 
know your pool briefing for officers and Councillors scheduled for 29 November. 
 

The Business Update  
As part of improved communication strategy, the LCIV have been holding regular monthly 
business update meetings for shareholders and investment advisors and consultants. The 
presentation pack is attached as exempt Appendix 1. It covers in more detail investment 

updates, people, governance and responsible investment actions to date.  The sessions 
include opportunities to ask questions. Some of the topics discussed are summarised below.  

  

 
 

  

Page 138



Page 3 of 5 

3.5.3 Fund Launches and Pipeline 
London CIV has continued to make progress in several key areas. This progress has been 
supported by a multitude of meetings and engagement opportunities, and Seed Investor 

Groups (SIG) focusing on mandates. The UK housing fund terms has been shared and 
manager selection is in progress for a fund launch around December. The Uk Sterling Credit 
fund is at its initial stage and projected launch is in 2023. The LCIV Renewable infrastructure 

fund is looking to add a new manager to the platform. 
 

 

3.5.4 Operational activities 

The following activities are underway in the medium term; 2023 project planning strategy 
road map, cross team initiative working group on impact investing and corporate Net Zero 
will be considered, to update the Investment governance document, and a consultation on 
LCIV participating assets in securities lending.    

  
  
3.6 CIV Financial Implications- Implementation and running cost 

A total of £75,000 was contributed by each London Borough, including Islington, towards the 
setting up and receiving FCA authorisation to operate between 2013 to 2015. All participating 
boroughs also agreed to pay £150,000 to London CIV to subscribe for 150,000 non-voting 

redeemable shares of £1 each as the capital of the Company. After the legal formation of the 
London CIV in October 2015 , there is an agreed annual £25,000 running cost charge for 
each financial year 

 
The transfer of our Allianz managed equities to the CIV in December 2015 was achieved at a 
transfer cost of £7,241.  

All sub-funds investors pay a management fee of 0.050% of AUM to the London CIV in 
addition to a managers’ fees.  
In April 2017 a service charge of £50k (+VAT) development funding was invoiced and a   
balance of £25k will be raised in December once the Joint Committee has reviewed the in-

year budget.   
Members agreed to the 0.005% of AUM option for charging fees on the LGIM passive funds 
that are held outside of the CIV and agreed that (depending on the outcome of discussions) 

the same will be applied to BlackRock passive funds.  
 
The Newton transition cost the council £32k. 

 
In April 2018 an annual service charge of £25k (+VAT) and £65k (split £43.3k and £21.6k) 
development fund was invoiced to all members. 

In April 2019 an annual service charge of £25k (+VAT) and £65k (split £43.3k and £21.6k) 
was invoiced.  
In April 2020 an annual service charge of £25k (+ VAT) and £8.6k for LGIM recharge was 

invoiced and a final installment development charge of £84k (+VAT) was received in January 
2021.  
The April 2021 invoices received totalled annual service charge of £25k (+ VAT) and DFC 
charge of £57k(+VAT). 

The April 2022 invoices received totalled  annual service charge of of £25k (+ VAT) and DFC 
charge of £57k(+VAT). 
 

 

Page 139



Page 4 of 5 

4. Implications 
 

4.1 Financial implications:  
4.1.1 Fund management and administration fees are charged directly to the pension fund.  This 

paper discusses specific financial implications which are relevant. 

  
4.2 Legal Implications: 
4.2.1 The Council, as the administering authority for the pension fund may appoint investment 

managers to manage and invest an equity portfolio on its behalf (Regulation 8(1) of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 (as 
amended). 

 
4.2.2 
 

 
 
 
 

The Council is  able to invest fund money in a London CIV fund asset without undertaking a 
competitive procurement exercise because of the exemption for public contracts between 

entities in the public sector (regulation 12 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015).  The 
conditions for the application of this exemption are satisfied as the London authorities 
exercise control over the CIV similar to that exercised over their own departments and CIV 
carries out the essential part of its activities (over 80%) with the controlling London 

boroughs.  
 

4.3 Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon 

 Islington by 2030: 
4.3.1 None applicable to this report.  Environmental implications will be included in each report to 

 the Pension Board Committee as necessary. The current agreed investment strategy  

statement for pensions outlines the policies and targets set to April 2022 to reduce the 
 current and future carbon exposure by 50% and 75% respectively compared to when it was 
measured in 2016 and also invest 15% of the fund in green opportunities. The link to the  

full document is: 
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-
records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonborou

ghofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf 
 

4.4 Equality  Impact Assessment: 
4.4.1 The Council must, in carrying out its functions, have due regard to the need to eliminate 

unlawful discrimination and harassment and to promote equality of opportunity in relation to 
disability, race and gender and the need to take steps to take account of disabilities, even 
where that involves treating the disabled more favourably than others (section 49A Disability 

Discrimination Act 1995; section 71 Race Relations Act 1976; section 76A Sex Discrimination 
Act 1975."  
An equalities impact assessment has not been conducted because this report is updating 

members on the implementation of a fund structure by external managers. There are 
therefore no specific equality implications arising from this report. 

 

5. Conclusion and reasons for recommendation 
5.1 The Council is a shareholder of the London CIV and has agreed in principle  to pool assets 

when it is in line with its Fund strategy and will be beneficial to fund  members and council 

tax payers. This is a report to allow Members to review progress at the London CIV and note 
the progress to date. Exempt Appendix 1 is attached for information. 

 
 

Page 140

https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf


Page 5 of 5 

 
Appendix: Exempt Appendix 1- Business Update 
 

Background papers: none 
 
Final report clearance: 

 
Signed by:  

 

 

 
 

 Corporate Director of Resources Date 23 November 2022 
   
   

 
Report Author: Joana Marfoh 
Tel: 0207-527-2382 

  
Email: joana.marfoh@islington.gov.uk 

 

Financial implications Author: Joana Marfoh 
Legal implications- n/a  

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   
 

 
 

 

 
Resources 

  7 Newington Barrow Way  

London N7 7EP 
 

Report of: Corporate Director of Resources 

Meeting of: Pensions sub-Committee 

Date 5th December 2022 

Ward(s): n/a 

 

 

SUBJECT: PENSIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 2022/23 FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 

 

1. Synopsis 
 

1.1 The Appendix to this report provides information for Members of the Sub-Committee on 

agenda items for forthcoming meetings and training topics. 
 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 To consider and agree Appendix A attached 
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 The Forward Plan will be updated as necessary at each meeting, to reflect any changes in 
investment policy, new regulation and pension fund priorities after discussions with Members. 

 
3.2 Details of agenda items for forthcoming meetings will be reported to each meeting of the 

Sub-Committee for members’ consideration in the form of a Forward Plan.  There will be a 

standing item to each meeting on performance and the LCIV. 
 

  

4. Implications 
 

4.1 Financial implications 
4.1.1 None in the context of this report.  The cost of providing independent investment advice is 

part of fund management and administration fees charged to the pension fund. 

  
 

Page 143

Agenda Item B6



4.2 Legal Implications 
 None applicable to this report 
  

4.3 Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon 
Islington by 2030: 

 None applicable to this report.  Environmental implications will be included in each report to 

the Pension Board Committee as necessary. The current agreed investment strategy 
statement for pensions outlines the policies and targets set to April 2022 to reduce the 
current and future carbon exposure by 50% and 75% respectively compared to when it was 

measured in 2016 and also invest 15% of the fund in green opportunities. The link to the full 
document is  https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-
records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonborou
ghofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf 

 
  
4.4 Equalities Impact Assessment 

 None applicable to this report. The council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 
regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance 
equality of opportunity, and foster good relations, between those who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 Equality Act 2010). The 
council has a duty to have due regard to the need to remove or minimise disadvantages, take 
steps to meet needs, in particular steps to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and 

encourage people to participate in public life.  The council must have due regard to the need 
to tackle prejudice and promote understanding 
An equalities impact assessment has not been conducted because this report is seeking 

opinions on updating an existing document and therefore no specific equality implications 
arising from this report 

 

5. Conclusion and reasons for recommendation 
 

5.1 To advise Members of forthcoming items of business to the Sub-Committee and training topics. 
 
 

Appendix A- Proposed work program for annual committee cycle 
 
Background papers:  

None 
 
Final report clearance: 
 

Signed by:  
 
 

 
 

 Corporate Director of Resources Date 23 November 2022 
 
 Report Author: joana marfoh  

Tel:0207 527 2382  
Email:joana.marfoh@islington.gov.uk  
 

Financial implications Author: joana marfoh 
Legal implications – n/a 

 

Page 144

https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
Tel:0207


 
 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A 
Pensions Sub-Committee Forward Plan November 2022 to June 2023 

 
 

Date of meeting  Reports 
Please note: there will be a standing item to each meeting on: 

 
 Performance report- quarterly performance and managers’ update 
 CIV update report 

 
 

  

5 December 2022 
 

 

 Draft FSS review for consultation 
 Objectives set for providers of investment consultancy –Annual 

review 

 Investment strategy overview- Initial Considerations 

 Pension Policy Discretions Review 
 

8 December Annual Pension Meeting 

6 March 2023  FSS consultation results  
 ISS update  

 Actuarial Valuation report 
 Investment Strategy Review 

June 2023  
 

 
 
 
 

Past training for Members before committee meetings-  
Date Training 

November 2018 
 

Actuarial update 
 

June 2019-4pm Actuarial review  

February 2021 Net zero carbon transition training 

  

  

  

  

  

 
 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 

   
 

Resources 
  7 Newington Barrow Way  

London N7 7EP 

 

Report of: Corporate Director of Resources 

Meeting of: Pensions Sub-Committee 

Date:  5 December 2022  

Ward(s): n/a 

 
Appendix 1 attached is exempt and not for publication as it contains the following category of 

exempt information as specified in Paragraph 3, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, 
namely: Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information). 

 

 
SUBJECT: REVIEW OF OBJECTIVES  SET FOR PROVIDERS OF 

INVESTMENT CONSULTANCY SERVICES 
 

1. Synopsis 
 

1.1 This report updates Members on the performance of the Fund’s Investment Consultant, 

Mercer against the strategic objectives set and agreed at their meeting of 3rd December 
2019 and reviewed in November 2021, for our Investment Consultancy providers in 
accordance with the requirements of the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) 

Investment Consultancy and Fiduciary Management Market Investigation Order 2019 
(the ’Order’).  
 

1.2 As of the 1st October 2022 the CMA Order is no longer in force and has been replaced 
by the Occupational Pensions Schemes (Governance and Registration) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2022. The new Pensions Regulations have integrated the Order into 
pensions legislation and transferred the responsibility for regulatory oversight and 

compliance from the CMA to the Pensions Regulator (TPR). 
 

2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 To note that the legal requirement for trustees of occupational pensions (including 

LGPS) to set strategic objectives for investment consultancy providers, came into effect 

from 10 December 2019.  
 

Page 147

Agenda Item B7



2.2 To note the objectives agreed in November 2021, and agree the performance rating of 
our investment consultancy provider as set out   in Exempt Appendix 1.  
 

2.3 To agree to review these objectives at least annually and / or where there is a change 
in the fund’s requirements. 
 

2.4 To delegate to the Corporate Director of Resources, in consultation with the Director of 
Law and Governance, authority to report on compliance via the TPR’s annual scheme 
return. 

 
3. Background 

 
3.1 The Pensions Regulator (TPR) is the UK regulator of occupational pension schemes. 

They are a non-departmental public body established under the Pensions Act 2004. 
Their sponsoring body is the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) and Parliament 
sets the legislative and regulatory framework within which they work. 

 
3.2 
 

 
 
 

3.3 
 
 

 
 
 
 

  

Following an investigation into the investment consultancy and fiduciary management 
market, the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) introduced new duties for 

trustees and managers of occupational pension schemes, that took effect from 10 
December 2019.  
 

It appears that the only Remedy applicable to the LGPS is the requirement for 
Administering Authorities to set strategic objectives for their IC provider.  Whilst we 
await the MHCLG guidance and legislation, the TPR ‘s consultation on guidance 

contained roles of an investment consultant and a case study of a pension fund setting 
objectives and agreeing a performance monitoring scorecard. The link to the full 
consultation is https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-
library/consultations/draft-guidance-consultation-in-response-to-cma-recommendation  

 

3.4 
 
 

 
 

Members considered and agreed a set of strategic objectives for their IC Provider at 
their 3 December 2019 meeting. These objectives and performance were reviewed at 
the 23 November 2021. Members also agreed to review the objectives at least annually 

and or where there is a change in the Funds requirements.  

On 1 October 2022, the Occupational Pension Schemes (Governance and Registration) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2022 (the “Sun-setting Regulations”) came into force. 
These Regulations brought an end to the Order which the Competition & Markets 

Authority (“CMA”) made on 10 June 2019 following its investigation into the operation 
of the fiduciary management and investment consultancy markets insofar as it applies 
to trustees of private sector occupational pension schemes. 

Trustees must now have regard to pensions legislation as amended by the Sun-setting 
Regulations, instead of the CMA Order. The Order (including obligations to report 

compliance to the CMA) continues in force for investment consultancy firms, fiduciary 
managers and joint consultancy-FM firms.  

Performance 
Exempt Appendix 1 attached, details the Fund requirements and objectives set for the 

investment consultant provider Mercer, against which the consultant’s performance has 

3.5 

 
 
 

 
 
 
3.5.1 

 
 
 

 
3.6 
 

 

Page 148

https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/consultations/draft-guidance-consultation-in-response-to-cma-recommendation
https://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/en/document-library/consultations/draft-guidance-consultation-in-response-to-cma-recommendation
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2022/825/contents/made
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5cfdfa86e5274a090f9eef8e/Order_investment_consultants.pdf


 been assessed and reviewed. A commentary has been assigned to each strategic 
objective and then rated from excellent to poor. Mercers’ ratings are from excellent to 
good reflecting the high standard of service received over the year. 

 
3.6.1 Members are asked to consider whether the objectives still meet the fund requirements 

or should be amended and to review and agree the performance ratings. 

 
3.7        The CMA Order included a requirement for LGPS funds to submit an annual compliance 

statement confirming compliance with Part 7. The categories of “registerable 

information” in the Scheme Return Regulations have been extended to include details 
in relation to trustees’ use of ICs and FMs. Trustees now need to report on these 
matters to the Pensions Regulator via their annual scheme return, rather than to the 
CMA in an annual compliance statement and certificate. 

 
4. Implications 

 

4.1 Financial implications 
 None applicable to this report.  Financial implications will be included in each report to 

the Pensions Sub-Committee as necessary. 

  
4.2 Legal Implications 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

4.3 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

On 10th June 2019, the Competition and Market’s Authority (CMA) made the 

Investment Consultancy and Fiduciary Management Market Investigation Order 2019 
placing new obligations on service providers and pension scheme trustees with regard 
to Fiduciary Management (FM) and Investment Consultancy (IC) Services. The Order 

implements the CMA’s recommended remedy 1 (tendering for FM services) in Part 3 
and remedy 7 (Setting objectives for IC) in Part 7 which came into force on 10 
December 2019.  
 

 As of the 1st of October 2022 the CMA Order is no longer in force and has been 
replaced by the Occupational Pensions Schemes ( Governance and Registration ) 
(Amendment ) Regulations 2022. The new Pensions Regulations have integrated the 

Order into pensions legislation and transferred the responsibility for regulatory 
oversight and compliance from the CMA to the Pensions Regulator (TPR). Going 
forward these Regulations will need to be applied and adhered to by LGPS ; the 

strategic objectives are now defined as objectives under the new Pensions Regulations 
however the obligation to review these objectives at least annually and/or where there 
is a change in the fund’s requirements remains the same. As previously under the 

Order, under the new Pensions Regulations, the council is still required to submit an 
annual Compliance statement, now to the TPR not the CMA. Appropriate guidance is 
being issued by the TPR and we will update the members as appropriate.  

  

4.4 Environmental Implications and contribution to achieving a net zero carbon 
 Islington by 2030: 
None applicable to this report.  Environmental implications will be included in each 

report to the Pension Board Committee as necessary. The current agreed investment 
strategy statement for pensions outlines the policies and targets set to April 2022 to 
reduce the current and future carbon exposure by 50% and 75% respectively 

compared to when it was measured in 2016 and also invest 15% of the fund in green 
opportunities. The link to the full document is  
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-

Page 149

https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf


records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910lond
onboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf 
 

 

  
4.5 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

4.6 

Equality Impact Assessment: 
The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need 

to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation, and to advance 
equality of opportunity, and foster good relations, between those who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and those who do not share it (section 149 

Equality Act 2010). The Council has a duty to have due regard to the need to 
remove or minimise disadvantages, take steps to meet needs, in particular steps 
to take account of disabled persons' disabilities, and encourage people to 
participate in public life.  The Council must have due regard to the need to 

tackle prejudice and promote understanding”. 
 
An equalities impact assessment has not been conducted because this report 

is seeking opinions on a government policy document and therefore no 
specific equality implications arising from this report. 

 

  

5. Conclusion and reasons for recommendation 
 

5.1 Members are asked to review fund requirements and objectives and agree performance 

ratings attached as Exempt Appendix 1, and agree to delegate authority to the Corporate 
Director of Resources, in consultation with the  Director of Law and Governance to report  

  

 

Appendices: Exempt Appendix 1 
 

Background papers:  
None 
 

 
Final report clearance: 
 
Signed by:   

 
 Corporate Director of Resources Date: 23 November 2022 

  
 
 

 

Report Author: Joana Marfoh 

Tel: 0207-527-2382 
Fax: 0207-527 -2056 
Email: joana.marfoh@islington.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Legal Implications: David Daniels- ( 2021) 
 
 
 

Page 150

https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
https://www.islington.gov.uk/~/media/sharepoint-lists/public-records/finance/financialmanagement/adviceandinformation/20192020/20190910londonboroughofislingtonpensionfundinvestmentstrategystatement.pdf
mailto:joana.marfoh@islington.gov.uk


 
 
 
 

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 153

Agenda Item E1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 155

Agenda Item E2
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 187

Agenda Item E3
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 213

Agenda Item E4
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	B1 Pension Fund performance
	Appendix 1-MJ Hudson - Islington Q3 2022 Final

	B2 Draft Funding Strategy Statement for consultation
	Appendix1- Draft 2022 FSS( Nov 22)

	B3 Investment Strategy Review - initial considerations
	B4 Pension Discretion Policies Review
	Appendix 1 - LGPS Discretion Policy 2022 - Islington Councilv3
	Appendix 2 - Employer Discretions Policy 2022

	B5 London CIV update
	B6 Pension Fund - forward work programme
	B7 Objectives set for providers of investment consultancy - annual review
	E1 Pension Fund performance - exempt appendix
	E2 London CIV update - exempt appendix
	E3 Investment Strategy Review - initial considerations - exempt appendix
	E4 Objectives set for providers of investment consultancy - annual review - exempt appendix

